Licensing Sub Committee
Agenda
Tuesday, 26 July 2022 at 6.30 p.m.
The Council Chamber, Town Hall, Mulberry
Place, 5 Clove Crescent, London, E14 2BG

Contact for further enquiries:
Farhana Zia, Senior Democratic Services Officer, simmi.yesmin@towerhamlets.gov.uk
020 7364 4120 1st Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, E14 2BG
http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee

[The quorum for this body is 3 voting Members]

Contact for further enquiries:
Farhana Zia, Senior Democratic Services Officer,
farhana.zia@towerhamlets.gov.uk
020 7364 0842
1st Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, E14 2BG
http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee

Public Information
Viewing or Participating in Committee Meetings
The meeting will be broadcast live on the Council’s website. A link to the website is
detailed below. The press and public are encouraged to watch this meeting on line.
Please note: Whilst the meeting is open to the public, the public seating in the meeting
room for observers may be limited due to health and safety measures. You are advised
to contact the Democratic Services Officer to reserve a place.

Meeting Webcast
The meeting is being webcast for viewing through the Council’s webcast system.
http://towerhamlets.public-i.tv/core/portal/home

Electronic agendas reports and minutes.
Copies of agendas, reports and minutes for council meetings can also be found on our
website from day of publication.
To access this, click www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee and search for the relevant
committee and meeting date.
Agendas are available on the Modern.Gov, Windows, iPad and Android apps

Scan this QR code to view the electronic agenda

A Guide to Licensing Sub Committee
The Licensing Sub Committee is made up of 3 Members of the Licensing
Committee. In summary, the Sub Committee will determine applications to grant, vary
or review a license submitted under the Licensing Act 2003 where representations have
been made.

Public Engagement
Meetings of the committee are open to the public to attend, and a timetable for meeting
dates and deadlines can be found on the council’s website.

London Borough of Tower Hamlets
Licensing Sub Committee
Tuesday, 26 July 2022
6.30 p.m.
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
To receive any apologies for absence.
1.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (Pages 7 - 8)
Members are reminded to consider the categories of interest, identified in the Code of
Conduct for Members to determine: whether they have an interest in any agenda item
and any action they should take. For further details, see the attached note from the
Monitoring Officer.
Members are also reminded to declare the nature of the interest at the earliest
opportunity and the agenda item it relates to. Please note that ultimately it is the
Members’ responsibility to identify any interests and also update their register of interest
form as required by the Code.
If in doubt as to the nature of an interest, you are advised to seek advice prior the
meeting by contacting the Monitoring Officer or Democratic Services.

2.

RULES OF PROCEDURE (Pages 9 - 18)
To note the rules of procedure which are attached for information.

3

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION

3 .1

Licensing Act 2003 Application for a Premises Licence for (The Hungry Tummy)
24a Wentworth Street, London E1 7TF (Pages 19 - 130)

3.2

Licensing Act 2003 Application for a Premises Licence for (Studio Spaces Ltd / E1),
110 Pennington Street, London E1W 2BB (Pages 131 - 416)

4

EXTENSION OF DECISION DEADLINE: LICENSING ACT 2003

The Sub Committee may be requested to extend the decision deadline for applications to be
considered at forthcoming meetings due to the volume of applications requiring a hearing. Where
necessary, details will be provided at the meeting.

Next Meeting of the Licensing Sub Committee
Wednesday, 10 August 2022 at 2.00 p.m. to be held in The Council Chamber, Town
Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, London, E14 2BG

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1
DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS AT MEETINGS– NOTE FROM THE
MONITORING OFFICER
This note is for guidance only. For further details please consult the Code of Conduct for
Members at Part C, Section 31 of the Council’s Constitution

(i) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI)
You have a DPI in any item of business on the agenda where it relates to the categories listed in
Appendix A to this guidance. Please note that a DPI includes: (i) Your own relevant interests;
(ii)Those of your spouse or civil partner; (iii) A person with whom the Member is living as
husband/wife/civil partners. Other individuals, e.g. Children, siblings and flatmates do not need to
be considered. Failure to disclose or register a DPI (within 28 days) is a criminal offence.
Members with a DPI, (unless granted a dispensation) must not seek to improperly influence the
decision, must declare the nature of the interest and leave the meeting room (including the public
gallery) during the consideration and decision on the item – unless exercising their right to address
the Committee.
DPI Dispensations and Sensitive Interests. In certain circumstances, Members may make a
request to the Monitoring Officer for a dispensation or for an interest to be treated as sensitive.

(ii) Non - DPI Interests that the Council has decided should be registered –
(Non - DPIs)
You will have ‘Non DPI Interest’ in any item on the agenda, where it relates to (i) the offer of gifts
or hospitality, (with an estimated value of at least £25) (ii) Council Appointments or nominations to
bodies (iii) Membership of any body exercising a function of a public nature, a charitable purpose
or aimed at influencing public opinion.
Members must declare the nature of the interest, but may stay in the meeting room and participate
in the consideration of the matter and vote on it unless:
 A reasonable person would think that your interest is so significant that it would be likely to
impair your judgement of the public interest. If so, you must withdraw and take no part
in the consideration or discussion of the matter.

(iii) Declarations of Interests not included in the Register of Members’ Interest.
Occasions may arise where a matter under consideration would, or would be likely to, affect the
wellbeing of you, your family, or close associate(s) more than it would anyone else living in
the local area but which is not required to be included in the Register of Members’ Interests. In
such matters, Members must consider the information set out in paragraph (ii) above regarding
Non DPI - interests and apply the test, set out in this paragraph.
Guidance on Predetermination and Bias
Member’s attention is drawn to the guidance on predetermination and bias, particularly the need to
consider the merits of the case with an open mind, as set out in the Planning and Licensing Codes
of Conduct, (Part C, Section 34 and 35 of the Constitution). For further advice on the possibility of
bias or predetermination, you are advised to seek advice prior to the meeting.
Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act, 1992 - Declarations which restrict
Members in Council Tax arrears, for at least a two months from voting
In such circumstances the member may not vote on any reports and motions with respect to the
matter.

Page 7

Further Advice contact: Janet Fasan, Monitoring Officer, Tel: 0207 364 4800.
APPENDIX A: Definition of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest
(Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012, Reg 2 and Schedule)
Subject
Employment, office, trade,
profession or vacation

Prescribed description
Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation
carried on for profit or gain.

Sponsorship

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit
(other than from the relevant authority) made or provided
within the relevant period in respect of any expenses
incurred by the Member in carrying out duties as a member,
or towards the election expenses of the Member.
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.

Contracts

Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or
a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest)
and the relevant authority—
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or
works are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land

Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the
relevant authority.

Licences

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in
the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer.

Corporate tenancies

Any tenancy where (to the Member’s knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a
beneficial interest.

Securities

Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where—
(a) that body (to the Member’s knowledge) has a place of
business or land in the area of the relevant authority; and
(b) either—
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000
or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that
body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class,
the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in
which the relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class.

Page 8

Agenda Item 2

LICENSING COMMITTEE

RULES OF PROCEDURE
GOVERNING APPLICATIONS FOR
PREMISES LICENCES
AND OTHER PERMISSIONS
UNDER THE LICENSING ACT 2003

Date Last Reviewed:
Reviewed By:
Approved By:
Date Approved:
Version No.
Document Owner:
Post Holder:
Date of Next Scheduled Review:

14th June 2016
Senior Corporate and Governance Legal
Officer
Licensing Committee
14th June 2016
1
Paul Greeno
Senior Corporate and Governance Legal
Officer
31st March 2018

Part 5 – Codes and Protocols - Page | 1
Version 1 – Date 03/04/2017

Page 9

1.

Interpretation

1.1

These Procedures describe the way in which hearings will be conducted under
the Licensing Act 2003, as set out in the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings)
Regulations 2005 (as amended) (‘the Hearings Regulations’). The Procedures
take into account the Licensing Act (Premises Licences and Club Premises
Certificates) Regulations 2005.

1.2

Except where otherwise stated, references in this Code are to the Licensing
Committee and its Sub-committees and the expression ‘Licensing Committee’
should be interpreted accordingly.

1.3

The Hearings Regulations provide (Regulation 21) that a Licensing Authority
shall, subject to the provisions of those Regulations, determine for itself the
procedure to be followed at a hearing.

1.4

These Procedures, therefore, set out the way in which Licensing Committee
Meetings will be conducted under the Licensing Act 2003, following the
requirements of the Hearings Regulations.

1.5

Proceedings will not be rendered void only as the result of failure to comply
with any provision of the Hearings Regulations (Regulation 31) save that in any
case of such an irregularity, the Licensing Committee shall, if it considers that
any person may have been prejudiced as a result of the irregularity, take such
steps as it thinks fit to cure the irregularity before reaching its determination
(Regulation 32).

2.

Composition of Sub-Committee

2.1

The Sub-Committee will consist of three (3) members and no business shall be
transacted unless three (3) members of the Licensing Committee are present
and able to form a properly constituted Licensing Sub-Committee. In such
cases the Chair shall have a second or casting vote.

3.

Procedure

3.1

The hearing shall take place in public save that the Licensing Committee may
exclude the public from all or part of a hearing where it considers that, on
balance, it is in the public interest to do so. The parties and any person
representing them may be excluded in the same way as another member of
the public. Any person so excluded may, before the end of the hearing, submit
to the Licensing Committee in writing, any information which, they would have
been entitled to give orally had they not been required to leave. Where there
are a number of items on the agenda, the adjournment of that item for a short
period, whilst another item is heard, may allow this process to be carried out
effectively.

Part 5 – Codes and Protocols - Page | 2
Version 1 – Date 03/04/2017

Page 10

3.2

The Chair will begin by asking the parties to identify themselves and confirm
whether or not they are represented.

3.3

The Licensing Committee should always satisfy itself that sufficient notice of
the hearing has been given to all parties and if not satisfied, then the Licensing
Committee should take such steps as it thinks fit to deal with that issue before
reaching its determination and this could include adjourning that application to
a later date.

3.4

The Licensing Committee will then consider any requests by a party for any
other person to be heard at the hearing in accordance with the Regulations.
Permission will not be unreasonably withheld provided proper notice has been
given.

3.5

The Chair will then explain how the proceedings will be conducted, and
indicate any time limits that may apply to the parties to the application. In
setting time limits, the Licensing Committee will take into account the
importance of ensuring that all parties receive a fair hearing, and the
importance of ensuring that all applications are determined expeditiously and
without undue delay. Further the Licensing Committee must have regard to
the requirement to allow each party an equal amount of time.

3.6

If a party considers that any time limit is not sufficient then they should
address the Licensing Committee and which will determine accordingly.

3.7

If any party has informed the Authority that they will not be attending or be
represented at the hearing or any party does not give notice that they will not
be attending but fails to attend and is not represented, the Licensing
Committee may proceed in their absence or adjourn the hearing if it considers
it to be necessary in the public interest. An adjournment will not be
considered where due to the operation of the Hearing Regulations it would not
be possible to adjourn.

3.8

If the Licensing Committee adjourns the hearing to a specified date it must
specify the date, time and place to which the hearing has been adjourned and
why it is considered necessary in the public interest.

3.9

If the Licensing Committee holds the hearing in the absence of a party, it will
consider at the hearing the application, representation or notice given by that
party.

3.10 The Chair will invite an Officer of the Licensing Section to present the report by
briefly summarising the application and the number and type of the
representations as set out in the papers circulated. The Officer will also advise
of any discussions held with the parties; any amendments made to the
application; any representations withdrawn; and any agreed conditions that
the Licensing Committee is being asked to consider. The Officer shall not give
Part 5 – Codes and Protocols - Page | 3
Version 1 – Date 03/04/2017

Page 11

any opinion on the application or ask the Committee to make an inference
based on such an opinion.
3.11 Members of the Licensing Committee can then ask questions of clarification of
the Licensing Officer or seek legal advice from the Legal Adviser to the
Licensing Committee if they require in respect of matters raised during the
presentation by the Licensing Officer.
3.12 The Legal Adviser to the Licensing Committee will then give any relevant legal
advice that the Licensing Committee need to take into consideration.
3.13 The Chair will then ask the applicant or their representative, if present, to
present a summary of the nature and extent of the application. This should be
brief, avoid repetition of material already available to the Licensing Committee
in the Officer’s report or otherwise, and include any reasons why an exception
should be made to the Council’s Licensing Policy, where appropriate, and
respond to the written representations received. The submission may be
followed by the evidence of any person who has been given permission by the
Committee to give supporting evidence on behalf of the applicant or who has
made a representation in favour of the application.
3.14 The application is to be presented within the time limit that has been set.
3.15 Where an applicant is unrepresented and having difficulty in presenting their
application then the Legal Adviser to the Licensing Committee may ask
questions of the applicant so that the relevant points are addressed and
clarified for the Licensing Committee.
3.16 Members of the Licensing Committee may ask questions of the person
presenting the case after their address as well as any other person who has
spoken in support of the application. Members can also ask questions of the
applicant as well as any other person present for the applicant who they
consider can assist.
3.17 The Legal Adviser to the Licensing Committee may ask questions for the
purpose of clarifying points for the Licensing Committee.
3.18 The Chair will then ask the persons who have made representations against
the application to address the Licensing Committee within the time limit that
has been set. They should not repeat what is already set out in their
representations or notice or raise new matters. In their address they should
provide clarification on any points previously requested by the Council. The
submission may be followed by the evidence of any person who has been
given permission by the Committee to give supporting evidence.
3.19 Members of the Licensing Committee may then ask questions of the persons
making representations against the application and any other person who has
Part 5 – Codes and Protocols - Page | 4
Version 1 – Date 03/04/2017

Page 12

spoken in support of such representation. Members can also ask questions of
any other person present who they consider can assist.
3.20 The Legal Adviser to the Licensing Committee may ask questions for the
purpose of clarifying points for the Licensing Committee.
3.21 Petitions will be treated as representations provided they meet the
requirements for relevant representations set out in the Licensing Act 2003.
Members should proceed with caution when relying upon petitions used as
evidence due to the structure and wording used.
3.22 The Licensing Committee will disregard any information given by a party, or
any other person appearing at the hearing, which is not relevant to:
a)

their application, representation or notice; and

b)

the promotion of the licensing objectives or the crime prevention
objective where notice has been given by the police.

3.23 The Chair will intervene at any stage of the hearing to prevent repetitious or
irrelevant points being raised.
3.24 Cross examination of any party or any other person allowed to appear will not
be allowed unless specifically permitted by the Chair.
3.25 There is no right for any party to sum up but they may be permitted to do at
the discretion of the Chair and within time limits prescribed by the Chair.
3.26 The Licensing Committee will consider its decision in private save that the Legal
Adviser and Democratic Services Officer will remain with them.
3.27 The Licensing Committee will normally return to open session to announce its
decision but in cases where the prescribed time limit allows for a later
determination and it is appropriate to determine the matter within that time
then the Chair will advise the parties present that the decision will not be
announced then but that the determination will take place within the
prescribed time limit and that written notification will be dispatched to all
parties advising then of the determination.
4.

Exclusions

4.1

In addition to any exclusion under paragraph 3.1 above, The Licensing
Committee may require any person attending the hearing who in their opinion
is behaving in a disruptive manner to leave the hearing and may refuse to
permit the person to return; or allow them to return only on such conditions as
Licensing Committee may specify.

Part 5 – Codes and Protocols - Page | 5
Version 1 – Date 03/04/2017

Page 13

4.2

Any person so excluded may, before the end of the hearing, submit to the
Authority in writing, any information which, they would have been entitled to
give orally had they not been required to leave.

Part 5 – Codes and Protocols - Page | 6
Version 1 – Date 03/04/2017

Page 14

Guidance for Licensing Sub-Committee Meetings.
(1)
Attendance at Meetings.
All meetings of the Sub- Committee are open to the public and press to attend. On rare
occasions, the Sub-Committee may retire to consider private business that will be
clearly marked on the agenda as such. The press and public will be excluded for those
confidential items only. We try to keep confidential reports to an absolute minimum.
We request that you show courtesy to all present and please keep mobile phones on
silent. Meetings can reach full capacity and seats are allocated on a first come first
come served basis.
(2)
Licensing Sub-Committee Role and Membership.
In summary, the Sub - Committee will consider and determine applications to grant,
vary or review a license submitted under the Licensing Act 2003 where representations
have been made. The full terms of reference can be found on the Committee webpages
(see below). The Licensing Sub - Committee will consist of 3 Members of the main
Licensing Committee. Meetings are normally held in the Town Hall Council Chamber.

Licensing Sub- Committee Webpages
To view go to the Committee and Member Services web page:
www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee - ‘agenda, reports, decisions and minutes’, then
click on ‘Licensing Sub- Committee’.
The pages include:


Terms of Reference for the Licensing Sub -Committee.



Meeting dates, agendas and minutes.



Agenda timetable including agenda publication dates. (To view click ‘browse
meetings and agendas for this committee’, then ‘show agenda management
timetable’).

(3) Access to Committee Papers.
The agenda for Sub - Committee meetings is published five clear (working) days before
the Sub - Committee meeting on the Committee webpages (except for certain types of
applications where special rules apply). All Committee papers (i.e. agendas, reports,
minutes and decisions) are published on the website and also available on iPad and
Android tablet apps downloadable for free from their respective app stores.
(4) Who can speak at Licensing Sub- Committee meetings?
Only interested parties may address the Sub-Committee (those who have made a valid
representation) and the applicant and their representatives. Although the SubCommittee may allow other persons to present the interested parties evidence or to
give supporting evidence. If you are planning to attend the hearing to address the
Page 15
committee, you are advised to contact the Committee officer - see the Committee

pages and agenda front page for contact details. Speakers are advised to arrive at the
start of the meeting in case the order of business is changed. Speakers will be called to
speak by the Chair at the appropriate time. If speakers are not present by the time their
application is heard, the Committee may consider the item in their absence.
(5) What can be circulated?
Should you wish to submit any material, please contact the Committee/Licensing
Officer as soon as possible. The Sub-Committee may accept information at the hearing,
however this is only with the agreement of all parties present.
(6) How will the applications be considered?
The Sub-Committee will normally consider the items in agenda order subject to the
Chair’s discretion. The hearing procedure is detailed at the end of this guidance.
(7) How can I find out about a decision?
You can contact Democratic Services the day after the meeting to find out the
decisions.
(8) Queries on reports.
For any questions, please contact the Officer named on the front of the report.
Typical Seating Plan for Licensing Sub - Committee Meetings in the Town Hall
Council Chamber.
Public Seating

Objectors
Benches

Public Seating
Public Seating
Public Seating
Public Seating

Applicants
Benches

Page 16

Sub-Committee
Members
Chair
Legal Officer
Committee Officer
Licensing Officer

LICENSING SUB COMMITTEE HEARING PROCEDURE
All interested parties to the hearing must notify Democratic Services within
prescribed timescales that they intend to attend and/or be represented at the hearing
and whether any witnesses will be attending on their behalf. The meeting will be in
the form of a discussion led by the Sub Committee, cross examination of either party
will not be permitted.
The Chair will allocate an equal amount of speaking time to each party. Where there
is more than one representation raising the same or similar grounds, those parties
should consider nominating a single representative to address the Sub-Committee on
their behalf at the hearing.
The hearing will proceed as follows (subject to the discretion of the Chair).
1. Chair will introduce him/herself and ask Members, officers, and all interested
parties present at the meeting to introduce themselves.
2. Licensing Officer to present the report.
3. Committee Members to ask questions of officer (if any).
4. The Applicant to present their case in support of their application (including any
witnesses they may have).
5. Committee Members to ask questions of applicants and their witnesses or ask for
points of clarification.
6. The relevant Responsible Authorities in attendance will present their case and
their reasons for representation (including any witnesses they may have).
7. The Objectors/Interested Parties in attendance will present their case and their
reasons for objecting (including any witnesses they may have).
8. Committee Members to ask questions of Responsible Authorities, objectors and
their witnesses or ask for points of clarification.
9. Applicant (with exception and with permission of the Chair) can ask questions of
the other parties to the hearing and their witnesses.
10. Interested Parties to the hearing (with exception and with the permission of the
Chair) can ask questions of the applicant/other parties to the hearing and their
witnesses.
11. Chair’s closing remarks
12. Sub-Committee retire from the meeting with the Committee Officer and Legal
Officer and consider their decision.
13. The Sub-Committee will return to the meeting and Chair announces the decision
together with the reasons for the decision and any right to appeal.
14. A Decision letter will be sent to all interested parties confirming the decision
made.

Page 17

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3.1
Committee :

Date

Classification

Licensing Sub-Committee

26/7/2022

Report No.

Agenda Item
No.

Unclassified

Report of: David

Tolley
Head of Environmental Health & Trading
Standards

Title: Licensing Act 2003
Application for a Premises Licence for (The Hungry
Tummy) 24a Wentworth Street, London E1 7TF

Originating Officer:

Ward affected:
Spitalfields and Banglatown

Mohshin Ali
Senior Licensing Officer

1.0 Summary
Applicant:

The Hungry Tummy Ltd

Name and

The Hungry Tummy

Address of Premises:

24a Wentworth Street
London
E1 7TF

Licence sought:

Licensing Act 2003 – premises licence
 The sale by retail of alcohol (on and off
sales)
 The provision of regulated entertainment
(recorded music only)

Representations:

Licensing Authority (RA)
Environmental Protection
Residents / Resident’s Association

2.0 Recommendations
2.1 That the Licensing Committee considers the application and
representations then adjudicate accordingly.

LOCAL GOVERNMENT 2000 (Section 97)
LIST OF "BACKGROUND PAPERS" USED IN THE DRAFTING OF THIS REPORT
Brief description of "background paper"





Tick if copy supplied for
register

Guidance Issued under Section
182 of the Licensing Act 2003
Tower Hamlets Licensing Policy
File

Page 19

If not supplied, name and telephone
number of holder

Mohshin Ali
020 7364 5498

3.0 Background
3.1 This is an application for a premises licence for (The Hungry Tummy)
24a Wentworth Street, London E1 7TF.
3.2 The applicant has described the premises as follows:
“small restaurant/ coffee shop with dine-in and takeaway options. the
dine area is placed only on the ground floor. (3x5m) we also have a
sitting area outside, which is approved by tower hamplets, with 2 tables
and chairs. 1,5m*1,8m. alcohol will be sold only at the counter.
customers will not have access to the alcohol's cabinet/chiller.”
3.3 A copy of the premises licence application form is enclosed as
Appendix 1.
3.4 The licensable activities and timings that have been applied for are as
follows:
The sale by retail of alcohol – on and off sales
 Monday to Saturday, from 10:00 hrs to 22:00 hrs
 Sunday, from 10:00 hrs to 18:00 hrs
The provision of regulated entertainment – Indoors
Recorded Music
 Monday to Saturday, from 10:00 hrs to 22:00 hrs
 Sunday, from 10:00 hrs to 18:00 hrs

The opening hours of the premises
 Sunday to Thursday, from 08:00 hrs to 00:00 hrs (midnight)
 Friday and Saturday, from 08:00 hrs to 01:00 hrs the following
3.5 The sale of alcohol is proposed to continue until the premises closes to
the public. It is difficult to see how the applicant will ensure that the
licence conditions are met. The problem of course is that if sales
continue until the last minute the premises cannot be emptied on time.
Members are advised to consider a break between the end of the
licensable activities and the time the premises closes to the public.
4.0 Location and Nature of the premises
4.1 The site plan of the venue is included as Appendix 2.
4.2 Maps and photos showing the vicinity are included as Appendix 3.
4.3 Details of the nearest licensed venues are included as Appendix 4.

Page 20

5.0 Licensing Policy and Government Advice
5.1 The Council has adopted a licensing policy and this is available from the
Licensing Section, and at the hearing. The revised policy came into
effect on the 1st November 2018. It was last revised in November 2021.
5.2 Relevant Sections of the policy are brought to the attention of Members
within the Licensing Officers report.
5.3 The Home Secretary has issued Guidance under Section 182 of the
Licensing Act 2003. This is available on the Government’s website,
www.homeoffice.gov.uk. It was last revised in April 2018.
5.4 Relevant Sections of this advice are brought to Members attention within
the Licensing Officers report. Members should note however, than in
some areas Tower Hamlets, after a proper consideration of local
circumstances, has not followed the Government’s advice, or has
developed it further.

6.0 Representations
6.1 All representations have to meet basic legal and administrative
requirements. If they fail to do so they cannot be accepted. When
rejected the person sending in the representation must be written to, and
an explanation for rejection given in writing
6.2 A responsible authority or other person can make a representation.
There are two tests for other persons and only one for a responsible
authority. The two tests are contained in Section 18 of the Act.
6.3 All representations must be “about the likely effect of the grant of the
premises licence on the promotion of the licensing objectives.” Likely
means something that will probably happen, i.e. on balance more likely
than not.
6.4 Representations by responsible authorities do not have to meet the
second test of not being vexatious and frivolous. Other persons have to
meet this test.
6.5 The Home Office recommends that in borderline cases, the benefit of the
doubt should be given to the interested party making the representation.
6.6 Section 182 Advice by the Home Office concerning relevant, vexatious
and frivolous representations is attached as Appendix 5.
6.7 All the representations in this report have been considered by the
relevant officer (Team Leader Licensing & Safety) and determined to
have met the requirements of the Licensing Act 2003.

Page 21

6.8 This hearing is required by the Licensing Act 2003, because relevant
representations have been made by the following:


Licensing Authority acting as a Responsible Authority (See
Appendix 6).



Environmental Protection Team (See Appendix 7).



Alex Gordon Shute (See Appendix 8).



Susan Kay (See Appendix 9).



Alan Williams (See Appendix 10).



Sandy Critchley (SPIRE) (See Appendix11).

6.9 All of the responsible authorities have been consulted about this
application. They are as follows:
 The Licensing Authority
 The Metropolitan Police
 The LFEPA (the London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority).
 Planning
 Health and Safety
 Environmental Protection (Noise)
 Trading Standards
 Child Protection
 Public Health
 Home Secretary (Home Office Immigration Enforcement)
6.10 In addition the application was required to be advertised in a local
newspaper and by a blue poster. Only representations that relate to the
following licensing objectives are relevant:
 the prevention of crime and disorder
 public safety
 the prevention of public nuisance
 the protection of children from harm
6.11 Essentially, the relevant parties oppose the application because in their
opinion, the applicant has not explained how within the context of the
application they will meet the licensing objective of the prevention of
crime and disorder and the prevention of public nuisance.
6.12 There are strict time limits to any representations. The time limits are
contained in The Licensing Act 2003 (Premises licences and club
premises certificates) Regulations 2005.
6.13 The applicant has offered measures in the operating schedule of the
application that address the promotion of the Licensing Objectives. If
there were no representations, the Licensing Authority would grant the
licence, with conditions consistent with the operating schedule, which

Page 22

are relevant, proportionate and enforceable. Members are asked to
consider the schedule and incorporate any conditions as necessary to
address the licensing objectives.
7.0 Conditions consistent with Operating Schedule
7.1 Please see below the conditions agreed with Met Police.
8.0 Conditions in consultation with the Responsible Authorities
The applicant has agreed the following conditions with Met Police (See
Appendix 12).
8.1 Challenge 25 proof of age scheme shall be operated at the premises
where the only acceptable forms of identification are recognised
photographic identification cards, such as a driving licence, passport or
proof of age card with the PASS Hologram.
8.2 An incident log shall be kept at the premises, and be available on
request to the Police or an authorised officer. It must be completed
within 24 hours of any incident and will record the following:
8.2..1. all crimes reported to the venue;
8.2..2. all ejections of patrons;
8.2..3. any complaints received concerning crime and disorder
8.2..4. any incidents of disorder;
8.2..5. any faults in the CCTV system, searching equipment or
scanning equipment;
8.2..6. any refusal of the sale of alcohol;
8.2..7. any visit by a relevant authority or emergency service.
8.3 The premises shall install and maintain a comprehensive CCTV system
as per the minimum requirements of the Tower Hamlets Police Licensing
Team. All entry and exit points will be covered enabling frontal
identification of every person entering in any light condition. The CCTV
system shall continually record whilst the premises is open for licensable
activities and during all times when customers remain on the premises.
All recordings shall be stored for a minimum period of 31 days with date
and time stamping. Viewing of recordings shall be made available
immediately upon the request of Police or authorised officer throughout
the entire 31 day period.
8.4 A staff member from the premises who is conversant with the operation
of the CCTV system shall be on the premises at all times when the
premises are open. This staff member must be able to provide a Police
or authorised council officer copies of recent CCTV images or data with
the absolute minimum of delay when requested.

Page 23

9.0 Licensing Officer Comments
9.1 The Business & Planning Act 2020 came into force on Wednesday 22nd
July 2020 and provides a temporary permission for businesses that have
a premises licence that permits them to sell alcohol in regards to the
ability to sell alcohol as an off sale, i.e. for consumption off the premises.
The permission will end on 30th September 2022 unless the legislation
is changed by the Secretary of State.
It will only apply to businesses that hold a Premises Licence up to 22nd
July 2020 and that in the last 3 years preceding 22 July 2020 those
licences have NOT:

had a premises licence application where permission for off sales
was refused;

had a variation of a premises licence seeking permission for off
sales refused

had a variation seeking to exclude off sales permission granted

had a premises licence varied or modified by a review hearing to
exclude off sales.
9.2 The new off-sales permission will permit off-sales to be made at a time
when the licensed premises are open for the purposes of selling alcohol
for consumption on the premises, subject to a cut off time of 11pm or the
cut off time of the current licensed hours stated on the licence,
whichever is earlier. Measures also temporarily suspend existing licence
conditions in so far as they are inconsistent with the new off-sales
permission. Further Guidance on this can be found at
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-for-temporaryalcohol-licensing-provisions-in-the-business-and-planning-bill

9.3 The Live Music Act removed licensing requirements for the following:

amplified live music and recorded music between 8am and 11pm
before audiences of no more than 500 people on premises
authorised to sell alcohol for consumption on the premises;


unamplified live music between 8am and 11pm in all venues.



Further exemptions apply see Section 16.5-16.6 of Section 182
Guidance.

9.4 The following is intended simply to advise Members of the relevant
aspects of the Boroughs Licensing Policy, guidance from the Secretary
of State, legislation and good practice. Members may depart from the
Council’s Licensing Policy and/or Government advice, provide they
consider it appropriate to do so, and have clear reasons for their
decision.
9.5 Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003

Page 24

 As stated in the guidance it is “provided to licensing authorities in
relation to the carrying out of their functions under the 2003 Act.” It is
a key medium for promoting best practice, ensuring consistent
application and promoting fairness equal treatment and proportionality
(1.7).
 Also “as long as licensing authorities have properly understood this
Guidance, they may depart from it if they have good reason to do so
and can provide full reasons. Departure from this Guidance could give
rise to an appeal or judicial review, and the reasons given will then be
a key consideration for the courts when considering the lawfulness
and merits of any decision taken.” Therefore licensing authorities will
need to give full reasons for their actions (1.9).
 Also Members should note “A Licensing Authority may depart from its
own policy if the individual circumstances of any case merit such a
decision in the interests of the promotion of the licensing objectives.”
(1.12)
 Also, “The licensing authority may not impose any conditions unless
its discretion has been exercised following receipt of relevant
representations and it is satisfied as a result of a hearing (unless all
parties agree a hearing is not necessary) that it is appropriate to
impose conditions to promote one or more of the four licensing
objectives.” Therefore, conditions may not be imposed for the
purpose other than promoting the licensing objectives and in some
cases no additional conditions will be appropriate. (10.8)
 Necessary conditions should emerge from a risk assessment by the
applicant, which should then be reflected in the operating schedule
(10.4).
 The Guidance states: “Where there are objections to an application to
extend the hours during which licensable activities are to be carried
on and the licensing authority determines that this would undermine
the licensing objectives, it may reject the application or grant it with
appropriate conditions and/or different hours from those requested.”
(10.14)
 Mandatory conditions must be imposed (10.25) and censorship
avoided (10.17).
 The Guidance states: “It is still permitted to sell alcohol using
promotions (as long as they are compatible with any other licensing
condition that may be in force), and the relevant person should ensure
that the price of the alcohol is not less than the permitted price.
Detailed guidance on the use of promotions is given in the guidance
document available on the Gov.uk website.” (10.58) Also, “Licensing
authorities should not attach standardised blanket conditions
promoting fixed prices for alcoholic drinks to premises licences or club
licences or club premises certificates in an area.” (10.21)

Page 25

9.6 The Licensing Act 2003 permits children of any age to be on the
premises which primarily sells alcohol providing they are accompanied
by an adult. It is not necessary to make this a condition.
9.7 In all cases the Members should make their decision on the civil burden
of proof, that is “the balance of probability.”
9.8 In all cases Members should consider whether or not primary legislation
is the appropriate method of regulation and should only consider licence
conditions when the circumstances in their view are not already
adequately covered elsewhere.
9.9 The Government has advised that conditions must be tailored to the
individual type, location and characteristics of the premises and events
concerned. Conditions cannot seek to manage the behaviour of
customers once they are beyond the direct management of the licence
holder and their staff and standardised conditions should be avoided
where they cannot be shown to be appropriate. (1.16/1.17)
9.10 The Council’s Licensing Policy generally expects applicants to address
the licensing objectives and discuss how to do this with the relevant
responsible authorities.
9.11 In Appendices 13 - 21 Members are given general advice, and also
have explanations of the Council’s Licensing Policy, Government advice
and other legislation relating to the matters previously identified.

10.0 Legal Comments
10.1 The Council’s legal officer will give advice at the hearing.
11.0 Finance Comments
11.1 There are no financial implications in this report.

Page 26

12.0 Appendices
Appendix 1

A copy of the application

Appendix 2

Site Plan

Appendix 3

Maps/phtos of the surrounding area

Appendix 4

Other licensed venues in the area

Appendix 5

Relevant, vexatious and frivolous representations

Appendix 6

Representation of Licensing Authority (RA)

Appendix 7

Representation of Environmental Protection

Appendix 8

Representation of Alex Gordon Shute

Appendix 9

Representation Susan Kay

Appendix 10

Representation of Alan Williams

Appendix 11

Representation of Sandy Critchley (SPIRE)

Appendix 12

Applicant’s conditions agreed with Police

Appendix 13

Licensing Officer comments on noise while the
premise is in use
Licensing Officer comments on access/egress
Problems
Licensing Officer comments on crime and
disorder on the premises
Licensing Officer comments on crime and disorder
from patrons leaving the premises

Appendix 14
Appendix 15
Appendix 16
Appendix 17

Licensing Officer comments on public safety

Appendix 18

Licensing Officer comments on the protection of
children from harm

Appendix 19

Planning

Appendix 20

Licensing Policy relating to hours of trading

Appendix 21

Tower Hamlets Cumulative Impact Zone

Page 27

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1

Page 29

This form should be completed and forwarded to: London Borough of Tower
Hamlets, Licensing Section, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, London E14 2BG or
by email to licensing@towerhamlets.gov.uk with the correct fee. Payments can be
by phoning 020 7364 5008 or on-line: www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/payit
1.

APPLICATION FOR A PREMISES LICENCE TO BE GRANTED UNDER THE LICENSING
ACT 2003
PLEASE READ THE FOLLOWING INSTRUCTIONS FIRST

Before completing this form please read the guidance notes at the end of the form. If you are completing this
form by hand please write legibly in block capitals. In all cases ensure that your answers are inside the
boxes and written in black ink. Use additional sheets if necessary.
You may wish to keep a copy of the completed form for your records.
I/We THE HUNGRY TUMMY LTD
(Insert name(s) of applicant)
apply for a premises licence under section 17 of the Licensing Act 2003 for the premises described in
Part 1 below (the premises) and I/we are making this application to you as the relevant licensing
authority in accordance with section 12 of the Licensing Act 2003
Part 1 – Premises details
Postal address of premises or, if none, ordnance survey map reference or description
24A WENTWORTH STREET

Post town

Postcode

LONDON

E1 7TF

Telephone number at premises (if any)
Non-domestic rateable value of premises

£9700

C:\HungryTummy\alcohollicence\kuldeni\NewPremisesFormEMAIL_MAY4.odt
Page 1 of 37 (Amended: 29_04_2021)

Page 30

Part 2 - Applicant details
Please state whether you are applying for a premises licence as
a)

an individual or individuals *

b)

a person other than an individual *
i

Please tick as appropriate
please complete section (A)

ii

as a limited company/limited liability
partnership
as a partnership (other than limited liability)

x

please complete section (B)

iii

as an unincorporated association or

please complete section (B)

iv

other (for example a statutory corporation)

please complete section (B)

please complete section (B)

c)

a recognised club

please complete section (B)

d)

a charity

please complete section (B)

e)

the proprietor of an educational establishment

please complete section (B)

f)

a health service body

please complete section (B)

g)

a person who is registered under Part 2 of the
Care Standards Act 2000 (c14) in respect of an
independent hospital in Wales

please complete section (B)

ga)

a person who is registered under Chapter 2 of Part
1 of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 (within
the meaning of that Part) in an independent
hospital in England

please complete section (B)

h)

the chief officer of police of a police force in
England and Wales

please complete section (B)

* If you are applying as a person described in (a) or (b) please confirm (by ticking yes to one box
below):
I am carrying on or proposing to carry on a business which involves the use of the premises
for licensable activities; or
I am making the application pursuant to a
statutory function or
a function discharged by virtue of Her Majesty’s prerogative

2

Page 31

x

(A) INDIVIDUAL APPLICANTS (fill in as applicable)
Mr

Mrs

Miss

Ms

Surname

Other Title (for
example, Rev)

First names
I am 18 years old or over

Date of birth

Please tick yes

Nationality

Current residential
address if different from
premises address

Post town

Postcode

Daytime contact telephone number
E-mail address
(optional)
Where applicable (if demonstrating a right to work via the Home Office online right to work checking
service), the 9-digit ‘share code’ provided to the applicant by that service (please see note 15 for
information)

SECOND INDIVIDUAL APPLICANT (if applicable)
Mr

Mrs

Miss

Surname
Date of birth

Ms

Other Title (for
example, Rev)

First names
I am 18 years old or over

Please tick yes

Nationality
Where applicable (if demonstrating a right to work via the Home Office online right to work checking
service), the 9-digit ‘share code’ provided to the applicant by that service: (please see note 15 for
information)

Current residential
address if different from
premises address

Post town

Postcode

Daytime contact telephone number
E-mail address
(optional)

C:\HungryTummy\alcohollicence\kuldeni\NewPremisesFormEMAIL_MAY4.odt
Page 3 of 37 (Amended: 29_04_2021)

Page 32

(B) OTHER APPLICANTS
Please provide name and registered address of applicant in full. Where appropriate please give any
registered number. In the case of a partnership or other joint venture (other than a body corporate),
please give the name and address of each party concerned.
Name
THE HUNGRY TUMMY LTD
Address
24A WENTWORTH STREET. LONDON E1 7TF

Registered number (where applicable)
13555395
Description of applicant (for example, partnership, company, unincorporated association etc.)
LIMITED COMPANY

Telephone number (if any)
E-mail address (optional)

Part 3 Operating Schedule
DD MM
YYYY
0 4 0 5 2 0 2 2

When do you want the premises licence to start?
If you wish the licence to be valid only for a limited period, when do
you want it to end?

DD

MM

YYYY

Please give a general description of the premises (please read guidance note 1)
SMALL RESTAURANT/ COFFEE SHOP WITH DINE-IN AND TAKEAWAY OPTIONS.THE DINE
AREA IS PLACED ONLY ON THE GROUND FLOOR. (3X5M) WE ALSO HAVE A SITTING AREA
OUTSIDE, WHICH IS APPROVED BY TOWER HAMPLETS, WITH 2 TABLES AND CHAIRS.
1,5M*1,8M. ALCOHOL WILL BE SOLD ONLY AT THE COUNTER. CUSTOMERS WILL NOT
HAVE ACCESS TO THE ALCOHOL'S CABINET/CHILLER.

If 5,000 or more people are expected to attend the premises at any one
time, please state the number expected to attend.

4

Page 33

C:\HungryTummy\alcohollicence\kuldeni\NewPremisesFormEMAIL_MAY4.odt
Page 5 of 37 (Amended: 29_04_2021)

Page 34

What licensable activities do you intend to carry on from the premises?
(please see sections 1 and 14 and Schedules 1 and 2 to the Licensing Act 2003)
Provision of regulated entertainment (please read guidance note 2)
a)

plays (if ticking yes, fill in box A)

b)

films (if ticking yes, fill in box B)

c)

indoor sporting events (if ticking yes, fill in box C)

d)

boxing or wrestling entertainment (if ticking yes, fill in box D)

e)

live music (if ticking yes, fill in box E)

f)

recorded music (if ticking yes, fill in box F)

g)

performances of dance (if ticking yes, fill in box G)

h)

anything of a similar description to that falling within (e), (f) or (g)
(if ticking yes, fill in box H)

Please tick all that
apply

x

Provision of late night refreshment (if ticking yes, fill in box I)
Supply of alcohol (if ticking yes, fill in box J)

x

6

Page 35

In all cases complete boxes K, L and MA
Plays
Standard days and
timings (please read
guidance note 7)
Day
Mon

Start

Will the performance of a play take place
indoors or outdoors or both – please tick
(please read guidance note 3)

Indoors
Outdoors

Finish

Both
Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4)

Tue
Wed

State any seasonal variations for performing plays (please read
guidance note 5)

Thur
Fri
Sat

Non standard timings. Where you intend to use the premises for
the performance of plays at different times to those listed in the
column on the left, please list (please read guidance note 6)

Sun

C:\HungryTummy\alcohollicence\kuldeni\NewPremisesFormEMAIL_MAY4.odt
Page 7 of 37 (Amended: 29_04_2021)

Page 36

B
Films
Standard days and
timings (please read
guidance note 7)
Day
Mon

Start

Will the exhibition of films take place indoors
or outdoors or both – please tick (please read
guidance note 3)

Indoors
Outdoors

Finish

Both
Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4)

Tue
Wed

State any seasonal variations for the exhibition of films (please
read guidance note 5)

Thur
Fri
Sat

Non standard timings. Where you intend to use the premises for
the exhibition of films at different times to those listed in the
column on the left, please list (please read guidance note 6)

Sun

8

Page 37

C
Indoor sporting events
Standard days and
timings (please read
guidance note 7)
Day

Start

Please give further details (please read guidance note 4)

Finish

Mon
Tue

State any seasonal variations for indoor sporting events (please
read guidance note 5)

Wed
Thur
Fri

Non standard timings. Where you intend to use the premises for
indoor sporting events at different times to those listed in the
column on the left, please list (please read guidance note 6)

Sat
Sun

C:\HungryTummy\alcohollicence\kuldeni\NewPremisesFormEMAIL_MAY4.odt
Page 9 of 37 (Amended: 29_04_2021)

Page 38

D
Boxing or wrestling
entertainments
Standard days and
timings (please read
guidance note 7)
Day
Mon

Start

Will the boxing or wrestling entertainment take
place indoors or outdoors or both – please
tick (please read guidance note 3)

Indoors

Outdoors

Finish

Both
Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4)

Tue
Wed

State any seasonal variations for boxing or wrestling
entertainment (please read guidance note 5)

Thur
Fri
Sat

Non standard timings. Where you intend to use the premises for
boxing or wrestling entertainment at different times to those listed
in the column on the left, please list (please read guidance note 6)

Sun

10

Page 39

E
Live music
Standard days and
timings (please read
guidance note 7)
Day
Mon

Start

Will the performance of live music take place
indoors or outdoors or both – please tick
(please read guidance note 3)

Indoors
Outdoors

Finish

Both
Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4)

Tue
Wed

State any seasonal variations for the performance of live music
(please read guidance note 5)

Thur
Fri
Sat

Non standard timings. Where you intend to use the premises for
the performance of live music at different times to those listed in
the column on the left, please list (please read guidance note 6)

Sun

C:\HungryTummy\alcohollicence\kuldeni\NewPremisesFormEMAIL_MAY4.odt
Page 11 of 37 (Amended: 29_04_2021)

Page 40

F
Recorded music
Standard days and
timings (please read
guidance note 7)
Day

Start

Finish

Mon

10:00

22:00

Tue

10:00

22:00

Wed

10:00

22:00

Thur

10:00

22:00

Fri

10:00

22:00

Sat

10:00

22:00

Sun

10:00

18:00

Will the playing of recorded music take place
indoors or outdoors or both – please tick
(please read guidance note 3)

Indoors

x

Outdoors
Both
Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4)
LIGHT RECORDED TRADITIONAL HUNGARIAN FOLK MUSIC.
ONLY BACKGROUND MUSIC

State any seasonal variations for the playing of recorded music
(please read guidance note 5)
NO ANY DIFFERENCE

Non standard timings. Where you intend to use the premises for
the playing of recorded music at different times to those listed in
the column on the left, please list (please read guidance note 6)
NO ANY DIFFERENCE

12

Page 41

G
Performances of dance
Standard days and
timings (please read
guidance note 7)
Day
Mon

Start

Will the performance of dance take place
indoors or outdoors or both – please tick
(please read guidance note 3)

Indoors
Outdoors

Finish

Both
Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4)

Tue
Wed

State any seasonal variations for the performance of dance
(please read guidance note 5)

Thur
Fri
Sat

Non standard timings. Where you intend to use the premises for
the performance of dance at different times to those listed in the
column on the left, please list (please read guidance note 6)

Sun

C:\HungryTummy\alcohollicence\kuldeni\NewPremisesFormEMAIL_MAY4.odt
Page 13 of 37 (Amended: 29_04_2021)

Page 42

H
Anything of a similar
description to that
falling within (e), (f) or
(g)
Standard days and
timings (please read
guidance note 7)

Please give a description of the type of entertainment you will be
providing

Day

Will this entertainment take place indoors or
outdoors or both – please tick (please read
guidance note 3)

Mon

Start

Finish

Indoors
Outdoors
Both

Tue

Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4)

Wed
Thur

State any seasonal variations for entertainment of a similar
description to that falling within (e), (f) or (g) (please read guidance
note 5)

Fri

Sat

Non standard timings. Where you intend to use the premises for
the entertainment of a similar description to that falling within (e),
(f) or (g) at different times to those listed in the column on the left,
please list (please read guidance note 6)

Sun

14

Page 43

I
Late night refreshment
Standard days and
timings (please read
guidance note 7)
Day
Mon

Start

Will the provision of late night refreshment
take place indoors or outdoors or both –
please tick (please read guidance note 3)

Indoors
Outdoors

Finish

Both
Please give further details here (please read guidance note 4)

Tue
Wed

State any seasonal variations for the provision of late night
refreshment (please read guidance note 5)

Thur
Fri
Sat

Non standard timings. Where you intend to use the premises for
the provision of late night refreshment at different times, to those
listed in the column on the left, please list (please read guidance
note 6)

Sun

C:\HungryTummy\alcohollicence\kuldeni\NewPremisesFormEMAIL_MAY4.odt
Page 15 of 37 (Amended: 29_04_2021)

Page 44

J
Supply of alcohol
Standard days and
timings (please read
guidance note 7)
Day

Start

Finish

Mon

10:00

22:00

Tue

10:00

22:00

Wed

10:00

22:00

Thur

10:00

22:00

Fri

10:00

22:00

Sat

10:00

22:00

Sun

10:00

18:00

Will the supply of alcohol be for consumption
– please tick (please read guidance note 8)

On the
premises
Off the
premises
Both

x

State any seasonal variations for the supply of alcohol (please
read guidance note 5)
NO ANY DIFFERENCE

Non standard timings. Where you intend to use the premises for
the supply of alcohol at different times to those listed in the
column on the left, please list (please read guidance note 6)
NO ANY DIFFERENCE

State the name and details of the individual whom you wish to specify on the licence as designated
premises supervisor (Please see declaration about the entitlement to work in the checklist at the end
of the form):
Name ZOLTAN PASZTOR
Date of birth
Address

Postcode
Personal licence number (if known)
Issuing licensing authority (if known)

16

Page 45

K
Please highlight any adult entertainment or services, activities, other entertainment or
matters ancillary to the use of the premises that may give rise to concern in respect of
children (please read guidance note 9).
NO ANY OTHER ENTERTAINMENTS, MACHINES. ONLY WE WILL SELLING ALCOHOL AT
THE PREMISES, NOTHING ELSE WHAT CAN BE DANGEROUS FOR CHILDREN.

L
Hours premises are
open to the public
Standard days and
timings (please read
guidance note 7)
Day

Start

Finish

Mon

10:00

22:00

Tue

10:00

22:00

Wed

10:00

22:00

Thur

10:00

22:00

Fri

10:00

22:00

Sat

10:00

22:00

Sun

10:00

18:00

State any seasonal variations (please read guidance note 5)
NO ANY DIFFERENCE

Non standard timings. Where you intend the premises to be open
to the public at different times from those listed in the column on
the left, please list (please read guidance note 6)
NO ANY DIFFERENCE

C:\HungryTummy\alcohollicence\kuldeni\NewPremisesFormEMAIL_MAY4.odt
Page 17 of 37 (Amended: 29_04_2021)

Page 46

M
Describe the steps you intend to take to promote the four licensing objectives:
a) General – all four licensing objectives (b, c, d and e) (please read guidance note 10)
WE WILL SEND A NOTICE TO ALL REQUIRED AUTHORITIES ABOUT OUR APPLICATION TO
SUPPLY AND SELL ALCOHOL AT THIS PREMISES. CCTV IS ALREADY INSTALLED AT THE
PREMISES, BUT IT IS CURRENTLY OUT OF ORDER. AS SOON AS POSSIBLE WE WILL
ACTIVATE CCTV INSIDE THE PREMISES, TO REDUCE THE RISK OF CRIME OR AVOID THE
CRIME. WE WILL FOLLOW THE 25TH YEARS POLICY AND CONSTANTLY CHALLENGING
OUR CUSTOMERS. WE WILL NOT SELL ANY ALCOHOL FOR DRUNK PEOPLE OR UNDER
AGE PEOPLE. BEFORE SELLING ALCOHOL WE WILL REQUIRE TO SHOW RELIABLE PROOF
OF AGE DOCUMENTS. IF WE WITNESS CRIME, WE WILL REPORT IT TO THE POLICE
IMMADIATELY.
b) The prevention of crime and disorder
WE HAVE A SMALL RESTAURANT WE SEE OUR CUSTOMERS IF NEEDED WE CAN ASK
THEM TO BE A BIT QUIETER, OR IF SOMEBODY IS SHOWING ANTISOCIAL BEHAVIOR WE
WILL ASK THE PERSON TO LEAVE. AS SOON AS POSSIBLE WE WILL ACTIVATE CCTV
INSIDE THE PREMISES, TO REDUCE THE RISK OF CRIME OR AVOID THE CRIME. WE WILL
NOT SELL ANY ALCOHOL FOR DRUNK PEOPLE OR UNDER AGE PEOPLE.

c) Public safety
WE KEEP THE PREMISES CLEAN AND WELL MAINTAINED AT ALL TIMES. USING SIGNS IF
NEEDED (LIKE WET FLOOR, CCTV OTIFICATIONS OR FOOD ALLERGIES) WE DO NOT SELL
ALCOHOL FOR DRUNK PEOPLE OR WHO IS UNDER AGE OF 18. WE USE ONLY
DESIGNATED OUTSIDE SPACES, AND KEEP IT CLEAN FOR OUR CUSTOMERS. WE ALSO
HAVE INSURANCE COVERED 5m POUNDS.

d) The prevention of public nuisance
WE ARE OPEN ONLY DURING THE DAY. CURRENTLY 11:00-21:00. wE ARE NOT PLANNING
TO STAY OPEN LATE. DURING THE NIGHT HOURS. WE HAVE A SMALL RESTAURANT WE
SEE OUR CUSTOMERS IF NEEDED WE CAN ASK THEM TO BE A BIT QUIETER, OR IF
SOMEBODY IS SHOWING ANTISOCIAL BEHAVIOR WE WILL ASK THE PERSON TO LEAVE.
AS SOON AS POSSIBLE WE WILL ACTIVATE CCTV INSIDE THE PREMISES, TO REDUCE
THE RISK OF CRIME OR AVOID THE CRIME. WE WILL NOT SELL ANY ALCOHOL FOR
DRUNK PEOPLE OR UNDER AGE PEOPLE.

e) The protection of children from harm
AS SOON AS POSSIBLE WE WILL ACTIVATE CCTV INSIDE THE PREMISES, TO REDUCE
THE RISK OF CRIME OR AVOID THE CRIME. WE WILL FOLLOW THE 25TH YEARS POLICY
AND CONSTANTLY CHALLENGING OUR CUSTOMERS. WE WILL NOT SELL ANY ALCOHOL
FOR DRUNK PEOPLE OR UNDER AGE PEOPLE. BEFORE SELLING ALCOHOL WE WILL
REQUIRE TO SHOW RELIABLE PROOF OF AGE DOCUMENTS. IF WE WITNESS CRIME, WE
WILL REPORT IT TO THE POLICE IMMADIATELY.

18

Page 47

Checklist:
Please tick to indicate agreement
I have made or enclosed payment of the fee.

X

I have enclosed the plan of the premises.

X

I have sent copies of this application and the plan to responsible authorities and others
where applicable.

X

I have enclosed the consent form completed by the individual I wish to be designated
premises supervisor, if applicable.

X

I understand that I must now advertise my application.

X

I understand that if I do not comply with the above requirements my application will be
rejected.
[Applicable to all individual applicants, including those in a partnership which is not a
limited liability partnership, but not companies or limited liability partnerships] I have
included documents demonstrating my entitlement to work in the United Kingdom or my
share code issued by the Home Office online right to work checking service (please
read note 15).

X

X

IT IS AN OFFENCE, UNDER SECTION 158 OF THE LICENSING ACT 2003, TO MAKE A FALSE
STATEMENT IN OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS APPLICATION. THOSE WHO MAKE A FALSE
STATEMENT MAY BE LIABLE ON SUMMARY CONVICTION TO A FINE OF ANY AMOUNT.
IT IS AN OFFENCE UNDER SECTION 24B OF THE IMMIGRATION ACT 1971 FOR A PERSON TO
WORK WHEN THEY KNOW, OR HAVE REASONABLE CAUSE TO BELIEVE, THAT THEY ARE
DISQUALIFIED FROM DOING SO BY REASON OF THEIR IMMIGRATION STATUS. THOSE WHO
EMPLOY AN ADULT WITHOUT LEAVE OR WHO IS SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS AS TO EMPLOYMENT
WILL BE LIABLE TO A CIVIL PENALTY UNDER SECTION 15 OF THE IMMIGRATION, ASYLUM AND
NATIONALITY ACT 2006 AND PURSUANT TO SECTION 21 OF THE SAME ACT, WILL BE
COMMITTING AN OFFENCE WHERE THEY DO SO IN THE KNOWLEDGE, OR WITH REASONABLE
CAUSE TO BELIEVE, THAT THE EMPLOYEE IS DISQUALIFIED.

C:\HungryTummy\alcohollicence\kuldeni\NewPremisesFormEMAIL_MAY4.odt
Page 19 of 37 (Amended: 29_04_2021)

Page 48

Part 4 – Signatures (please read guidance note 11)
Signature of applicant or applicant’s solicitor or other duly authorised agent (see guidance note 12). If
signing on behalf of the applicant, please state in what capacity.



[Applicable to individual applicants only, including those in a partnership
which is not a limited liability partnership] I understand I am not entitled
to be issued with a licence if I do not have the entitlement to live and
work in the UK (or if I am subject to a condition preventing me from
doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity) and that my
licence will become invalid if I cease to be entitled to live and work in the
UK (please read guidance note 15).



The DPS named in this application form is entitled to work in the UK
(and is not subject to conditions preventing him or her from doing work
relating to a licensable activity) and I have seen a copy of his or her
proof of entitlement to work, or have conducted an online right to work
check using the Home Office online right to work checking service which
confirmed their right to work (please see note 15)

Declaration

Signature
Date

04.05.2022

Capacity

DIRECTOR

For joint applications, signature of 2nd applicant or 2nd applicant’s solicitor or other authorised agent
(please read guidance note 13). If signing on behalf of the applicant, please state in what capacity.
Signature
Date
Capacity
Contact name (where not previously given) and postal address for correspondence associated with
this application (please read guidance note 14)
ZOLTAN PASZTOR

Post town

Postcode

Telephone number (if any)
If you would prefer us to correspond with you by e-mail, your e-mail address (optional)

20

Page 49

Notes for Guidance

1. Describe the premises, for example the type of premises, its general situation and layout and any
other information which could be relevant to the licensing objectives. Where your application
includes off-supplies of alcohol and you intend to provide a place for consumption of these offsupplies, you must include a description of where the place will be and its proximity to the premises.
2. In terms of specific regulated entertainments please note that:
 Plays: no licence is required for performances between 08:00 and 23.00 on any day,
provided that the audience does not exceed 500.
 Films: no licence is required for ‘not-for-profit’ film exhibition held in community premises
between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day provided that the audience does not exceed 500 and
the organiser (a) gets consent to the screening from a person who is responsible for the
premises; and (b) ensures that each such screening abides by age classification ratings.
 Indoor sporting events: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on
any day, provided that the audience does not exceed 1000.
 Boxing or Wrestling Entertainment: no licence is required for a contest, exhibition or display
of Greco-Roman wrestling, or freestyle wrestling between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day,
provided that the audience does not exceed 1000. Combined fighting sports – defined as a
contest, exhibition or display which combines boxing or wrestling with one or more martial
arts – are licensable as a boxing or wrestling entertainment rather than an indoor sporting
event.
 Live music: no licence permission is required for:
o a performance of unamplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, on
any premises.
o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day on
premises authorised to sell alcohol for consumption on those premises, provided
that the audience does not exceed 500.
o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a
workplace that is not licensed to sell alcohol on those premises, provided that the
audience does not exceed 500.
o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a
church hall, village hall, community hall, or other similar community premises, that is
not licensed by a premises licence to sell alcohol, provided that (a) the audience
does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for the performance from a
person who is responsible for the premises.
o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, at the
non-residential premises of (i) a local authority, or (ii) a school, or (iii) a hospital,
provided that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets
consent for the performance on the relevant premises from: (i) the local authority
concerned, or (ii) the school or (iii) the health care provider for the hospital.
 Recorded Music: no licence permission is required for:
o any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day on premises
authorised to sell alcohol for consumption on those premises, provided that the
audience does not exceed 500.
o any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, in a church
hall, village hall, community hall, or other similar community premises, that is not
licensed by a premises licence to sell alcohol, provided that (a) the audience does
not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for the performance from a
person who is responsible for the premises.
o any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, at the nonresidential premises of (i) a local authority, or (ii) a school, or (iii) a hospital, provided
that (a) the audience does not exceed 500, and (b) the organiser gets consent for
the performance on the relevant premises from: (i) the local authority concerned, or
(ii) the school proprietor or (iii) the health care provider for the hospital.
 Dance: no licence is required for performances between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day,
provided that the audience does not exceed 500. However, a performance which amounts to
adult entertainment remains licensable.

C:\HungryTummy\alcohollicence\kuldeni\NewPremisesFormEMAIL_MAY4.odt
Page 21 of 37 (Amended: 29_04_2021)

Page 50



3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

10.
11.
12.
13.
14.

Cross activity exemptions: no licence is required between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day, with
no limit on audience size for:
o any entertainment taking place on the premises of the local authority where the
entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the local authority;
o any entertainment taking place on the hospital premises of the health care provider
where the entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the health care provider;
o any entertainment taking place on the premises of the school where the
entertainment is provided by or on behalf of the school proprietor; and
o any entertainment (excluding films and a boxing or wrestling entertainment) taking
place at a travelling circus, provided that (a) it takes place within a moveable
structure that accommodates the audience, and (b) that the travelling circus has not
been located on the same site for more than 28 consecutive days.
Where taking place in a building or other structure please tick as appropriate (indoors may include a
tent).
For example the type of activity to be authorised, if not already stated, and give relevant further
details, for example (but not exclusively) whether or not music will be amplified or unamplified.
For example (but not exclusively), where the activity will occur on additional days during the summer
months.
For example (but not exclusively), where you wish the activity to go on longer on a particular day e.g.
Christmas Eve.
Please give timings in 24 hour clock (e.g. 16.00) and only give details for the days of the week when
you intend the premises to be used for the activity.
If you wish people to be able to consume alcohol on the premises, please tick ‘on the premises’. If
you wish people to be able to purchase alcohol to consume away from the premises, please tick ‘off
the premises’. If you wish people to be able to do both, please tick ‘both’.
Please give information about anything intended to occur at the premises or ancillary to the use of
the premises which may give rise to concern in respect of children, regardless of whether you intend
children to have access to the premises, for example (but not exclusively) nudity or semi-nudity, films
for restricted age groups or the presence of gaming machines.
Please list here steps you will take to promote all four licensing objectives together.
The application form must be signed.
An applicant’s agent (for example solicitor) may sign the form on their behalf provided that they have
actual authority to do so.
Where there is more than one applicant, each of the applicants or their respective agent must sign
the application form.
This is the address which we shall use to correspond with you about this application.

15. Right to work/Immigration Status
A licence may not be held by an individual or an individual in a partnership who is resident in the UK
who:
 does not have the right to live and work in the UK; or
 is subject to a condition preventing him or her from doing work relating to the carrying on of
a licensable activity.
Any premises licence issued in respect of an application made on or after 6 April 2017 will become
invalid if the holder ceases to be entitled to work in the UK.
Applicants must demonstrate that they have the right to work in the UK and are not subject to a condition
preventing them from doing work relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity. They do this in one of
two ways:
1)
by providing with this application copies or scanned copies of the documents which an
applicant may provide to demonstrate their entitlement to work in the UK (which fo not need
to be certified) that are published on GOV.UK and in guidance issued under Section 182 o
the Licensing Act 2003;
2)
by providing their ‘share code’ to enable the licensing authority to carry out a check using the
Home Office online right to work checking service (see below).
Home Office online right to work checking service
As an alternative to providing a copy of the documents listed above, applicants may demonstrate their

22

Page 51

right to work by allowing the licensing authority to carry out a check with the Home Office online right to
work checking service.
To demonstrate their right to work via the Home Office online right to work checking service, applicants
should include in this application their 9-digit share code (provided to them upon accessing the service at
https://www.gov.uk/prove-right-to-work) which, along with the applicant’s date of birth (provided within
this application), will allow the licensing authority to carry out the check.
In order to establish the applicant’s right to work, the check will need to indicate that the applicant is
allowed to work in the United Kingdom and is not subject to a condition preventing them from doing work
relating to the carrying on of a licensable activity.
An online check will not be possible in all circumstances because not all applicants will have an
immigration status that can be shared digitally. The Home Office online right to work checking service
sets out what information and/or documentation applicants will need in order to access the service.
Applicants who are unable to obtain a share code from the service should submit copies of documents
as set out above.
Your right to work will be checked as part of your licensing application and this could involve us checking
your immigration status with the Home Office. We may otherwise share information with the Home
office. Your licence application will not be determined until you have complied with this guidance.

C:\HungryTummy\alcohollicence\kuldeni\NewPremisesFormEMAIL_MAY4.odt
Page 23 of 37 (Amended: 29_04_2021)

Page 52

Appendix 2

Page 53

Page 54

Appendix 3

Page 55

.

24a Wentworth St

Legend
Local Land and Property Gazetteer
Ward Boundaries
Ward Boundaries
LAP Boundaries
LAP Boundaries

Page 56

00.00375
0.0075

0.015

0.0225

0.03
km

.

24a Wentworth St

Legend
Local Land and Property Gazetteer
Ward Boundaries
Ward Boundaries
LAP Boundaries
LAP Boundaries

Page 57

0 0.0150.03

0.06

0.09

0.12
km

Hungry Tummy, 24a Wentworth Street – Premises Pictures

Page 58

Hungry Tummy, 24a Wentworth Street – Premises Pictures

Page 59

Appendix 4

Page 60

Nearest licences: (The Hungry Tummy) 24a Wentworth Street, London E1
7TF
Name and
address
(Dauns)
77 Wentworth
Street
London
E1 7TD

Licensable activities and hours

Opening hours

Sale of Alcohol (on sales)
Sunday – Thursday 12:00 hours – 21:00 hours
Friday – Saturday 12:00 hours – 22:00 hours

Sunday – Thursday 10:00
hours – 21:30 hours
Friday – Saturday 10:00 hours
– 22:30 hours

(Hungry
Donkey)
56 Wentworth
Street
London
E1 7AL

Sale by retail of alcohol (On sale)
 Monday to Thursday from 11:00hrs to
23:00hrs
 Friday and Saturday from 11:00hrs to
23:30hrs
 Sunday from 11.00hrs to 22:00hrs

Monday to Thursday from
07:30hrs to 23.30hrs

sale by retail of alcohol (Off sale)
 Monday to Saturday from 11:00hrs to
23:00hrs
 Sunday from 11:00hrs to 22:00hrs

Sunday, from 07:30hrs to
22:30hrs

Friday and Saturday from
07.30hrs to 00:00hrs
(midnight)

The provision of regulated entertainment
Recorded Music
 Monday to Thursday from 11:00hrs to
23:00hrs
 Friday and Saturday from 11:00hrs to
23:30hrs
 Sunday from 11:00hrs to 22:00hrs
Provision of late night refreshment
 Monday to Thursday from 23:00hrs to
23:30hrs
 Friday and Saturday from 23:00hrs to
00:00hrs (midnight)
(Xian Biang
Biang)
62 Wentworth
Street
London
E1 7AL

The sale by retail of alcohol (On sales only)
 Monday to Sunday from 11:00 hours to
22:30 hours

Page 61

Monday to Sunday from 11:00
hours to 23:00 hours

Nearest licences: (The Hungry Tummy) 24a Wentworth Street, London E1
7TF
(Travel
Goods)
79 Wentworth
Street
London
E1 7TD

Sale of Alcohol (on sales)
Monday – Thursday 10:00 hours – 23:30 hours
Friday & Saturday 10:00 hours – 00:00 hours
(midnight)
Sunday
10:00 hours – 22:30 hours
The provision of late-night refreshments
(indoors)
Monday – Thursday 23:00 hours – 23:30 hours
Friday & Saturday 23:00 hours – 00:00 hours
(midnight)

(Unity Diner)
60 Wentworth
Street
London
E1 7AL

The sale by retail of alcohol (On sales only)
 Monday to Friday from 12:00 hours to
23:00 hours
 Saturday, from 12:00 hours to 23:30 hours
(midnight)
 Sunday, from 12:00 hours to 21:30 hours

Page 62

Monday – Thursday 09:00
hours – 00:00 hours
(midnight)
Friday & Saturday 09:00
hours – 00:30 hours
Sunday
09:00
hours – 23:00 hours





Monday to Friday from
12:00 hours to 23:30
hours
Saturday, from 12:00
hours to 00:00 hours
Sunday, from 12:00
hours to 22:00 hours

Appendix 5

Page 63

Section 182 Advice by the Home Office
Updated on April 2018
Relevant, vexatious and frivolous representations
9.4 A representation is “relevant” if it relates to the likely effect of the grant of the
licence on the promotion of at least one of the licensing objectives. For
example, a representation from a local businessperson about the commercial
damage caused by competition from new licensed premises would not be
relevant. On the other hand, a representation by a businessperson that
nuisance caused by new premises would deter customers from entering the
local area, and the steps proposed by the applicant to prevent that nuisance
were inadequate, would be relevant. In other words, representations should
relate to the impact of licensable activities carried on from premises on the
objectives. For representations in relation to variations to be relevant, they
should be confined to the subject matter of the variation. There is no
requirement for a responsible authority or other person to produce a recorded
history of problems at premises to support their representations, and in fact
this would not be possible for new premises.
9.5 It is for the licensing authority to determine whether a representation (other
than a representation from responsible authority) is frivolous or vexatious on
the basis of what might ordinarily be considered to be vexatious or frivolous.
A representation may be considered to be vexatious if it appears to be
intended to cause aggravation or annoyance, whether to a competitor or other
person, without reasonable cause or justification. Vexatious circumstances
may arise because of disputes between rival businesses and local knowledge
will therefore be invaluable in considering such matters. Licensing authorities
can consider the main effect of the representation, and whether any
inconvenience or expense caused by it could reasonably be considered to be
proportionate.
9.6 Frivolous representations would be essentially categorised by a lack of
seriousness. Frivolous representations would concern issues which, at most,
are minor and in relation to which no remedial steps would be warranted or
proportionate.
9.7 Any person who is aggrieved by a rejection of their representations on either
of these grounds may lodge a complaint through the local authority’s
corporate complaints procedure. A person may also challenge the authority’s
decision by way of judicial review.
9.8 Licensing authorities should not take decisions about whether
representations are frivolous, vexatious or relevant to the licensing
objectives on the basis of any political judgement. This may be difficult for
councillors who receive complaints from residents within their own wards. If
consideration is not to be delegated, contrary to the recommendation in this

Page 64

Guidance, an assessment should be prepared by officials for consideration
by the sub- committee before any decision is taken that necessitates a
hearing. Any councillor who considers that their own interests are such that
they are unable to consider the matter independently should disqualify
themselves.
9.9 It is recommended that, in borderline cases, the benefit of the doubt about any
aspect of a representation should be given to the person making that
representation. The subsequent hearing would then provide an opportunity for
the person or body making the representation to amplify and clarify it.
9.10
Licensing authorities should consider providing advice on their websites
about how any person can make representations to them.

Page 65

Appendix 6

Page 66

Sent to:

PLACE Directorate
Public Realm

Licensing Authority:
Applicant:

Environmental Health & Trading Standards
Licensing & Safety Team
Mulberry Place
5 Clove Crescent
London E14 2BG

26th May 2022

Tel: 020 7364 3986
Email: licensing@towerhamlets.gov.uk

Your reference
My reference: P/EHTS/LIC/148706/LMI

www.towerhamlets.gov.uk

Dear Licensing Authority,
Licensing Act 2003
New premise licence The Hungry Tummy 24a Wentworth Street E1 7TF
The Licensing Authority (acting a Responsible Authority) is making a representation against the
above application.
Special Cumulative Impact Policy for the Brick Lane
This special policy creates a rebuttable presumption that applications for the grant or
variation of premises licences or club premises certificates which are likely to add to the
existing cumulative impact will normally be refused following the receipt of representations,
unless the applicant can demonstrate in the operation schedule that there will be no negative
cumulative impacts with one or more of the licensing objectives.
The Council reviewed the Special Cumulative Impact Policy in 2021 and, following consultation,
decided it was still of the opinion that the concentration of licensed premises within Brick Lane area
was having a cumulative impact on the licensing objectives of crime and disorder and prevention of
public nuisance.
The Licensing Authority is of the view that the number, type and density of premises selling/supplying
alcohol for consumption on and off the premises and/or the provision of late night refreshment in the
Brick Lane is having a cumulative impact on the licensing objectives. Therefore, it is likely that
granting further licences would be inconsistent with the authority’s duty to promote the licensing
objectives. Thus, it has declared a cumulative impact assessment within these areas.
This Policy will be strictly applied and where relevant representations are received and it is
the view of the Council that the application will be refused. Applicants will need to
demonstrate that there are exceptional circumstances and that granting their application will
not negatively add to the cumulative effect on the Licensing Objectives within the Brick Lane
CIA if they wish to rebut this presumption.

Page 67

The Special Cumulative Impact policy creates a rebuttable presumption that where relevant
representations are received by one or more of the responsible authorities and/or other persons
against applications (Councillors, Members of the Public) within the CIA zones the application will be
refused.
Where representations have been received in respect to applications within the CIA zones the onus
is on the applicant to adequately rebut the presumption.
This special policy is not absolute and the Licensing Authority recognises that it has to balance the
needs of businesses with local residents. The circumstances of each application will be considered
on its merits and the Licensing Authority shall grant applications, when representations are not
received. The applicant should demonstrated that the operation of the premises will not add to the
cumulative impact on one or more of the following licensing objectives:
• Prevention of Crime and Disorder;
• Prevention of Public Nuisance.
Therefore, applicants will be expected to comprehensively demonstrate why a new or varied licence
will not add to the cumulative impact. They are strongly advised to give consideration to mitigating
potential cumulative impact issues when setting out steps they will take to promote the licensing
objectives in their operating schedule.
Possible exceptions to the Brick Lane and Bethnal Green Cumulative Impact Assessments
• Applications for licences for small premises with a capacity of fifty persons or less who only
intend to operate within framework hours, and that;
o Only have consumption of food (late night refreshment) and drink (alcohol) on the
premises only,
o Only provide Off sales of food (late night refreshment) and drink (alcohol) for delivery
(i.e. not for take away),
and,
o Have arrangements to prevent vertical drinking, for example fully seated venues;
•
•

Applications for licences that are not alcohol led (e.g. Hairdressers wanting to provide alcohol
to clients during their hair cut/treatments),
Applications for licences where the applicant has recently surrendered a licence for another
premises of a similar size and providing similar licensable activities in the same CIA Area.

Licensing Authority will not consider the following as possible exceptions:
• that the premises will be well managed and run,
• that the premises will be constructed to a high standard,
• that the applicant operates similar premises elsewhere without complaint.

Page 68

Licensable activities and times
The Licensing Authority has had regard to the Guidance to the Act when determining this policy. The
end times set out in the policy are not (and should not be regarded as) the ‘usual’ or ‘normal’ terminal
hour for licensable activities in the Borough. Instead, the ‘framework hours’ serve to identify cases
where the Licensing Authority will pay particular regard to the likely effect on the local neighbourhood
of carrying out the proposed licensable activities during the hours applied for. Applications for hours
up to the end of the Framework Hours will not automatically be granted. This policy will be applied
only where relevant representations are made. Each case will be considered on its merits.
•
•
•

Sunday
Monday to Thursday
Friday and Saturday

– 06:00 hours to 22:30 hours
– 06:00 hours to 23:30 hours
– 06:00 hours to 00:00 hours (midnight)

Applications in respect of premises licences and club premises certificates to authorise licensable
activities outside the framework hours, and in respect of which relevant representations are made,
will be decided on their own merits and with particular regard to the following.
a)

The location of the premises and the general character of the area in which the
premises are situated. (i.e. does the area include residential or business premises likely
to be adversely affected).

b)

The proposed hours during which licensable activities will be take place and the
proposed hours during which customers will be permitted to remain on the premises.

c)

The adequacy of the applicant’s proposals to address the issues of the prevention of
crime and disorder and the prevention of public nuisance.

d)

Where the premises have been previously licensed, the past operation of the premises.

e)

Whether customers have access to public transport when arriving at or leaving the
premises at night time and in the early hours of the morning.

f)

The proximity of the premises to other licensed premises in the vicinity and the hours
of those other premises.

The Home Office guidance
under Section 182 of the Licensing Act2003 (8.42) says:
“Applicants are, in particular, expected to obtain sufficient information to enable them to demonstrate,
when setting out the steps they propose to take to promote the licensing objectives, that they
understand:

Page 69

•

the layout of the local area and physical environment including crime and disorder hotspots,
proximity to residential premises and proximity to areas where children may congregate;

•

any risk posed to the local area by the applicants’ proposed licensable activities; and

•

any local initiatives (for example, local crime reduction initiatives or voluntary schemes
including local taxi-marshalling schemes, street pastors and other schemes) which may help to
mitigate potential risks.”

Application:
The premises has been described as a small restaurant/eatery approximately 5m x 3m for the
customer area which has tables and chairs. There is also a small seating area of 1.8m 1.5 m outside
of the premises. They wish to have an offering of alcohol for on and off sales. The licensable
activities are within the council’s framework hours.
The premises is on the small size and the outside area is also notably of a small size. Although this
premises is within the framework work hours and that it may bare little impact on the CIA, it has been
noted that in the operating schedule, the applicant has not addressed the fact that the premises falls
with a CIA.
The applicant has insufficient information on how they intend to uphold the licensing objectives in
regard to the outside seated area and off sales, namely concerning public nuisance or crime and
disorder within the CIA and also has not demonstrated how the premises will not have a negative
effect on the already saturated area.
I note in the application that there are no restrictions on the timings the outside area can be used and
therefore people could be seated outside until closing at 22:00 hours. This could cause a noise
disturbance to the nearby residents. The committee may wish to address this.
On a balance of probability, this Authority is concerned by the addition of this premises selling alcohol
within the CIA, potentially adding to the existing anti-social issues in the area, particularly for the off
sales and no restrictions on the outside seated area. The addition of alcohol could cause customers
to be in high spirits and therefore potentially undermining the licensing objectives.
If appropriate conditions were imposed onto the licence, the application could be considered to fall
under the possible exemptions of the CIA as detailed in the Licensing Policy.
If the applicant is unable to prove to the Licensing Sub-Committee, through the implementation of
appropriate conditions within the Operating Schedule, that the granting of the application will not
undermine the licensing objectives; then the application should be rejected. However, if the SubCommittee is minded to grant a licence then I would ask that the following conditions be attached:

Page 70

1. The premises shall install and maintain a comprehensive CCTV system. All entry and exit
points will be covered enabling frontal identification of every person entering in any light
condition. The CCTV system shall continually record whilst the premises is open for licensable
activities and during all times when customers remain on the premises. All recordings shall be
stored for a minimum period of 31 days with date and time stamping. Viewing of recordings
shall be made available immediately upon the request of Police or authorised officer
throughout the entire 31 day period.
2. A staff member from the premises who is conversant with the operation of the CCTV system
shall be on the premises at all times when the premises are open. This staff member must be
able to provide a Police or authorised council officer copies of recent CCTV images or data
with the absolute minimum of delay when requested.
3. An incident log shall be kept at the premises, and be available on request to the Police or an
authorised officer. It must be completed within 24 hours of any incident and will record the
following:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)

all crimes reported to the venue;
all ejections of patrons;
any complaints received concerning crime and disorder
any incidents of disorder;
all seizures of drugs or offensive weapons;
any faults in the CCTV system, searching equipment or scanning equipment;
any refusal of the sale of alcohol;
any visit by a relevant authority or emergency service

4. When the designated premise supervisor is not on the premises any or all persons authorised
to sell alcohol will be authorised by the designated premises supervisor in writing. This shall be
available on request by the Police or any authorised officer.
5. A direct telephone number for the manager at the premises shall be publicly available at all
times the premises is open. This telephone number is to be made available to residents and
businesses in the vicinity.
6. The supply of alcohol at the premises shall only be to a person seated taking a table meal
there and for consumption by such a person as ancillary to their meal.
7. There shall be no vertical drinking at the premises.
8. Customers shall not be permitted to take alcohol beyond the boundary of the outside seated
area, save for those alcoholic beverages in a sealed container for the purpose of takeaway.

Page 71

9. Challenge 25 proof of age scheme shall be operated at the premises where the only
acceptable forms of identification are recognised photographic identification cards, such as a
driving licence, passport or proof of age card with the PASS Hologram.
Yours faithfully

Lavine Miller-Johnson
Licensing Officer

Page 72

Appendix 7

Page 73

Mohshin Ali
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Licensing
18 May 2022 16:42
Mohshin Ali
FW: 148706 MAU REPRESENTATION New Premise Licence application for The
Hungry Tummy 24a Wentworth Street, London

Follow Up Flag:
Flag Status:

Follow up
Flagged

From: Nicola Cadzow <
Sent: 18 May 2022 15:14
To: Licensing <Licensing@towerhamlets.gov.uk>
Cc:
Subject: 148706 MAU REPRESENTATION New Premise Licence application for The Hungry Tummy 24a Wentworth
Street, London

Dear Licensing,
Having considered the premises license application for The Hungry Tummy 24a Wentworth Street, London
i have to consider the impact of the licensing objectives, particular for Environmental Protection the
prevention of public nuisance and the prevention of noise generated from within the premises or outside
to be causing disturbance to people in the vicinity. Consideration also has to be given to the fact that the
premises is within Brick Lane Cumulative Impact Zone.
Whilst the premises operating hours are within framework hours there is insufficient information in the
operating schedule of the licence application to show how the applicant will promote the licensing objective
for the prevention of public nuisance, nor consideration of the impact on public nuisance from increase
footfall from persons accessing and egressing the premises, patrons outside the premise leaving to smoke
etc, particularly when considering the premises is in Brick Lane Cumulative Impact Zone.
Noise Sensitive premises: residential premises in close proximity.
In my view the application, as it stands fails, to comply with the objective of the Licensing Act 2003 relating
to “public nuisance” for the following reasons:


Noise breakout from the venue affecting neighbouring residents,
Access & egress to and from the venue including patrons outside the premises to smoke, whilst the
premises is in operation

CONCLUSION
Environmental Protection does not support the application for The Hungry Tummy 24a Wentworth Street,
London for the following reasons:
(1) There is great likelihood of disturbance to residential premises from the impact of additional
footfall

Page1 74

(2) The applicant have not provided sufficient information to show how they will promote the
licensing objective for the prevention of public nuisance
(3) The premises is in Brick Lane Cumulative Impact Zone.
If the committee are minded to grant this application I would ask that the following conditions be
considered:
1

Loudspeakers shall not be located in the entrance lobby or outside the premise building.

2.
Patrons permitted to temporarily leave and then re-enter the premises, e.g. to smoke, shall be
limited to 5 persons at any one time.
3.
No noise generated on the premises, or by its associated plant or equipment, shall emanate from
the premises nor vibration be transmitted through the structure of
the premises which gives rise to a public nuisance.
Kind regards
Nicola Cadzow
Environmental Protection Team
Place Directorate
London Borough of Tower Hamlets
Mulberry Place Town Hall
5 Clove Crescent
London E14 2BG
www.towerhamlets.gov.uk
Follow us on:
Facebook | Twitter | Linkedin | Instagram

Page
75
2

Appendix 8

Page 76

Mohshin Ali
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:
Attachments:

Lavine Miller-Johnson on behalf of Licensing
17 May 2022 18:48
Mohshin Ali
FW: Licence application: The Hungry Tummy, 24A Wentworth St, E1 7TF
CIA Hotmap 2020.jpg

Follow Up Flag:
Flag Status:

Follow up
Flagged

From: Alex Gordon Shute
Sent: 17 May 2022 17:04
To: Licensing <Licensing@towerhamlets.gov.uk>
Subject: Licence application: The Hungry Tummy, 24A Wentworth St, E1 7TF
Dear Licensing Team
I write to object to the licence extension which The Hungry Tummy has applied for. I have seen comparison ‘hotmaps’
of 2017 and 2020 anti social behaviour in the Cumulative Impact Area of Brick Lane, and I’m afraid the area around
Wentworth Street has only become more ‘red’ and therefore of concern, since 2017. The red indicates a rise in ASB not a decrease. The application is also littered with typos and language issues which causes me some concern on the
level of sophistication of the applicant when we are relying on them to take their responsibilities as a licencee
seriously. If the application isn’t right, then it feels unlikely that the enforcement of tight licensing procedures is likely
to be right, which is a serious concern in an area that is saturated from a licence point of view already.
The application is for on and off sales, seven days a week, Mon - Sat 10:00 to 21:59 and Sundays 10:-00 to 19:00. The
applicant acknowledges that due to the size of the premises most alcohol would be for off sales. Off sales are a major
concern in this area, when we already have an abundant supply, and plenty of ASB that accompanies it. The
application states that “they only open daily hours” but the application is for alcohol sales until 10pm 6 days a week.
My specific grounds for objection, in addition to the general ASB concerns in a licence-granted, saturated area are as
follows:
The Prevention of Crime and Disorder and Public Safety
The attention to detail in this application (or lack thereof) implies a lack of attention to the high standards required for
safe alcohol sales. Without those standards, and with an already ‘red’ ASB zone around the premises, more off-sales
alcohol will create more alcohol-induced petty crime, and plenty more disorder and ASB. This is a real threat to public
safety in addition to ASB, as attacks on women and vulnerable customers in this area are ‘red’ high.
The Prevention of Public Nuisance
The alcohol licence application acknowledges that it will mostly be for off sales, which means more bottles and cans
being taken away, drunk (mostly likely) on the street around Wentworth Street and Brick Lane, and an increase in
rubbish and public nuisance (including peeing in public places because of a lack of public toilets).
The Protection of Children from Harm
This is an area where there are many families with children living locally, close by. Alcohol sales in such close
proximity to families, when the area is already saturated poses a significant risk to children.
Many thanks and best wishes
Alex

Page
77
1

Alex Gordon Shute

Page2 78

Page 79

Appendix 9

Page 80

Mohshin Ali
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Licensing
19 May 2022 17:36
Mohshin Ali
FW: Objection to Proposed Licence Application for The Hungry Tummy

Follow Up Flag:
Flag Status:

Follow up
Flagged

-----Original Message----From: Susan Kay
Sent: 19 May 2022 15:42
To: Licensing <Licensing@towerhamlets.gov.uk>
Subject: Objection to Proposed Licence Application for The Hungry Tummy
Objection to Proposed Licence Application (Alcohol) for the Hungry Tummy, 24A Wentworth St, London E1 7TF
Dear Licensing Team,
My name is Susan Kay and I have been a resident of Spitalfields, for the past 20 years.
I live at
It has been brought to my attention that there is an Application for on/off sales of Alcohol from The Hungry Tummy,
24A Wentworth St E1 7TF for 7 days a week, Monday to Saturday 10.00 to 21.59 and Sundays 10.00-19.00.
We residents have had to put up with much late night disturbance due to late night openings of bars, restaurants
and mini markets being off-licence outlets.
It is for this reason that this area was designated a Cumulative Impact Area (CIA) zone - this to try and combat so
much of the Anti Social Behaviour that we were all suffering from. Late off-sales has proven to be a major factor in
this long-standing problem, and even more so during the summer months, where, with lighter evenings, unofficial
street parties continue into the early hours. We understand that Spitalfields is part of the night economy and many
young people come to the area to enjoy a night out, but the noise of drunken people walking along Lamb St into the
early mornings to reach the night buses is pretty much intolerable.
Wentworth Street is located in an existing and growing anti-social problem area within the CIA and a licence granted
to these premises would only exacerbate existing problems of crime and anti-social behaviour related almost
inevitably to alcohol consumption.
There is also the nuisance of tidying up broken glass bottles, urination against walls or into residents’ basements
most mornings and especially over weekends.
It is for these reasons that I OBJECT to this Application being granted in full or even partially. I would appreciate an
acknowledgement of this letter.
With Kind regards,
Susan Kay

Page
81
1

Appendix 10

Page 82

Mohshin Ali
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Licensing
18 May 2022 14:28
Mohshin Ali
FW: Licence application: The Hungry Tummy, 24A Wentworth St, E1 7TF

Follow Up Flag:
Flag Status:

Follow up
Flagged

From: Alan Williams
Sent: 18 May 2022 08:47
To: Licensing <Licensing@towerhamlets.gov.uk>
Cc: Randall Thiel <
Subject: Licence application: The Hungry Tummy, 24A Wentworth St, E1 7TF
Dear Licensing Team
My view is that in a CIZ (where by definition there is already too much alcohol) it is difficult to justify
any additional off-sales. The logic is that, if one takes the definition of a CIZ literally, new off-sales licences should
only be allowed where they replace other off-sales licences that are cancelled.
On those grounds, I write to object to the Application for an off-licence
Generally, anti social behaviour in the Cumulative Impact Area of Brick Lane, and around Wentworth Street,
has become worse since 2017. The application does not give me much comfort that the applicant will be
able to comply with the enforcement of licensing procedures. This is of serious concern, from a licence
point of view, in an area that is saturated already.
The applicant acknowledges that due to the size of the premises most alcohol would be for off sales. Off
sales are a already a major concern in this area, when there is already plenty of supply. I notice that he
application claims that “they only open daily hours”. Why, therefore,is the application for alcohol sales until
10pm 6 days a week?
In addition to the above, the specific grounds for objection are:
The Prevention of Crime and Disorder and Public Safety
There is a lack of attention to detail in this application. This might indicate a lack of attention to the high
standards required for safe alcohol sales. Without those standards, and with an already ‘red’ ASB zone
around the premises, more off-sales alcohol will create more alcohol-induced petty crime, and more
disorder and ASB. This is a real threat to public safety in addition to ASB, as attacks on women and
vulnerable customers in this area are ‘red’ high.
The Prevention of Public Nuisance
The alcohol licence application acknowledges that it will mostly be for off sales, which suggests that more
bottles and cans will be being taken away, much likely to be drunk in the area around Wentworth Street
and Brick Lane. Inevitably there will follow an increase in rubbish and public nuisance (including peeing in
public places because of a lack of public toilets).
The Protection of Children from Harm

Page
83
1

This is an area where there are many families with children. Alcohol sales in such close proximity to
families, when the area is already saturated, poses a significant risk to children.
For the reasons I have set out above, I wish to object to the Application as it is currently framed. Please
redact my details where this is possible. Many thanks.
Alan Williams

Page2 84

Appendix 11

Page 85

Mohshin Ali
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Licensing
18 May 2022 14:28
Mohshin Ali
FW: Formal Objection to Proposed Licence Application (Alcohol) for The Hungry
Tummy, 24A Wentworth Street, London E1 7TF

Follow Up Flag:
Flag Status:

Follow up
Flagged

From: John and Sandy Critchley
Sent: 17 May 2022 22:21
To: Licensing <Licensing@towerhamlets.gov.uk>
Cc: John and Sandy Critchley
Subject: Formal Objection to Proposed Licence Application (Alcohol) for The Hungry Tummy, 24A Wentworth Street,
London E1 7TF
Spitalfields Residents Against Anti-Social Behaviour (SPIRE)

18th May, 2022
London Borough of Tower Hamlets
Licensing Team
Environmental Health & Trading Standards
Mulberry Place
5 Clove Crescent
London
E14 2BG
licensing@towerhamlets.gov.uk
Sent via E-Mail

Re: Formal Objection to Proposed Licence Application (Alcohol) for The Hungry Tummy, 24A Wentworth Street,
London E1 7TF
Dear Licensing Team
I am writing on behalf of Spitalfields Residents Against Anti-Social Behaviour (“SPIRE”), a community group
established in 2012, which represents individuals and, at least, six of the largest resident associations including,
Exchange Building Residents Association, St George's Residents Association, Spitalfields Community Group (SCG),
Spitalfields Market Residents Association (SMRA), Norton Folgate Community Group (NFCG), and Spitalfields
Society, in Spitalfields and Banglatown (“the Ward”).
SPIRE reviews all new and/or amended applications for alcohol licenses in the Ward to ensure the interests of
individuals and groups it represents are not negatively impacted by any such application(s).

Page1 86

Specifically, SPIRE reviews all new and/or amended applications for alcohol licenses to ensure they do not
contravene applicable law, guidelines, and/or other acceptable practices for alcohol licenses in the Ward. This
includes, but not limited to, the appropriate enforcement of the Brick Lane Cumulative Impact Assessment (CIA),
which applies to a majority of the Ward.
Where reasonable and possible, SPIRE attempts to first address any concerns and/or objections directly with the
individual or party making an application for a new and/or amended alcohol license. Formal objections are only
typically made to the London Borough of Tower Hamlets (LBTH) in situations where concerns and/or objections
remain unresolved after direct contact with an applicant or if an applicant chooses not to engage with SPIRE.
SPIRE is a ‘pro-commerce’ community group and supports the careful balance of a vibrant, diverse, and commercial
ward with the needs of residents and visitors to appreciate a safe, clean, and liveable neighbourhood free from antisocial behaviour and related issues.
Consequently, when a formal objection is raised by SPIRE, such as the case detailed below, it has been carefully
considered and represents a substantial number of constituents in the Ward.
Formal Objection
SPIRE raises formal objection to the application for an alcohol licence from The Hungry Tummy, 24A Wentworth
Street, E1 7TF for on- and off-sales, seven days a week, Monday to Saturday 10.00 to 21.59 and Sundays 10:00 to
1900.
The premises are within LBTH’s Cumulative Impact Area (CIA) zone and ‘hotspot maps’ show that the problem of
anti-social behaviour has already increased noticeably around Wentworth Street since 2017.
In particular, SPIRE is concerned about the off-sales element in this application. An additional outlet in this part of
Spitalfields would add to the existing very high levels of anti-social behaviour with which the area is blighted, offsales being a major factor in this long-standing problem.. The neighbourhood is already well-supplied with off-sales
outlets where customers can buy alcohol to go with their food.
SPIRE’s understanding is that licences in the CIA are granted on a ‘one in, one out’ basis, given the existing
saturation with licensed premises, and we have received no information that any alcohol licences have been
withdrawn in the Spitalfields area. There is no justification for the granting of a further alcohol licence, especially
one in which off-sales are involved.
SPIRE considers that this application is unlikely to satisfy the requirements of the Licensing Act 2003 in that:
The Prevention of Crime and Disorder and Public Safety
The premises are located in an existing and growing anti-social behaviour hotspot within the CIA (see Met. Police Brick
Lane Hotspot Map 2020) and are likely to exacerbate existing problems of crime and anti-social behaviour related to
alcohol consumption. Specifically, increased off-sales of alcohol will create more drink-induced petty crime and add to
local disorder and ASB.
The Prevention of Public Nuisance
Drunken people in the Brick Lane area already cause huge amounts of nuisance – such as street urination and
vomiting, as well as high levels of noise, often well into the early hours of the morning. Alcohol consumed in the
restaurant, or particularly bought to take away would make this worse.
The Protection of Children from Harm
There is a high concentration of families with children living in the Wentworth Street neighbourhood. The existence of
an additional outlet for off-sales of alcohol increases the risk that young adults may be able to obtain alcohol
although under-age, despite attempts by licensees to prevent this.

We ask that you reject the stated application in alignment with our concerns. Please acknowledge that our objection
has been received and that the contents of this letter will be considered as part of the overall review process.
Yours sincerely,

Page
87
2

Sandy Critchley
On behalf of SPIRE

Page3 88

Appendix 12

Page 89

Mohshin Ali
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Licensing
13 May 2022 10:49
Mohshin Ali
FW: Premises License App - The Hungry Tummy

From: MARK.J.Perry
Sent: 13 May 2022 10:10
To:
@thehungrytummy.
Cc: Licensing <Licensing@towerhamlets.gov.uk>
Subject: RE: Premises License App - The Hungry Tummy
Hi,
Thanks for agreeing conditions Tower Hamlets Council please see below.
Kind Regards
Mark

PC Mark Perry
Central East Licensing Unit
Metropolitan Police Service (MPS)
Email
A: Licensing Office, 1st Floor Stoke Newington Police Station

From: Zoltan Pasztor - The Hungry Tummy Ltd.
Sent: 10 May 2022 14:07
To: Perry Mark
Subject: RE: Premises License App - The Hungry Tummy
Thank you for your Email.
Yes, i have read the informations in e-mail and what we discussed on phone Today and i accept all of the terms.
We are Activate the CCTV in few days.
Thank you so much,
Have a Great Day.

Page1 90

Zoltan Pasztor
Küldte a Windows Posta
Feladó: MARK.J.Perry
Elküldve: 2022. május 10., kedd 9:56
Címzett: I
THEHUNGRYTUMMY
Tárgy: Premises License App - The Hungry Tummy
Hi,
Good to speak to you today, following our conversation earlier today, please can you confirm that you agree to the
below conditions, once you have then I will tell Tower Hamlets Council that we have agreed terms and we have no
objection to your license application.
1. Challenge 25 proof of age scheme shall be operated at the premises where the only acceptable forms of
identification are recognised photographic identification cards, such as a driving licence, passport or proof of
age card with the PASS Hologram.
2. An incident log shall be kept at the premises, and be available on request to the Police or an authorised
officer. It must be completed within 24 hours of any incident and will record the following:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)

all crimes reported to the venue;
all ejections of patrons;
any complaints received concerning crime and disorder
any incidents of disorder;
any faults in the CCTV system, searching equipment or scanning equipment;
any refusal of the sale of alcohol;
any visit by a relevant authority or emergency service.

3. The premises shall install and maintain a comprehensive CCTV system as per the minimum requirements of
the Tower Hamlets Police Licensing Team. All entry and exit points will be covered enabling frontal
identification of every person entering in any light condition. The CCTV system shall continually record whilst
the premises is open for licensable activities and during all times when customers remain on the premises.
All recordings shall be stored for a minimum period of 31 days with date and time stamping. Viewing of
recordings shall be made available immediately upon the request of Police or authorised officer throughout
the entire 31 day period.
4. A staff member from the premises who is conversant with the operation of the CCTV system shall be on the
premises at all times when the premises are open. This staff member must be able to provide a Police or
authorised council officer copies of recent CCTV images or data with the absolute minimum of delay when
requested.
If you have any questions or would like to discuss them please feel free to e-mail me and I will contact you.
Kind Regards

Page
91
2

PC Mark Perry
Central East Licensing Unit
Metropolitan Police Service (MPS)
Email
A: Licensing Office, 1st Floor Stoke Newington Police Station

NOTICE - This email and any attachments are solely for the intended recipient and may be confidential. If you have
received this email in error, please notify the sender and delete it from your system. Do not use, copy or disclose the
information contained in this email or in any attachment without the permission of the sender. Metropolitan Police
Service (MPS) communication systems are monitored to the extent permitted by law and any email and/or
attachments may be read by monitoring staff. Only specified personnel are authorised to conclude binding
agreements on behalf of the MPS by email and no responsibility is accepted for unauthorised agreements reached
with other personnel. While reasonable precautions have been taken to ensure no viruses are present in this email,
its security and that of any attachments cannot be guaranteed.

Mentes a vírusoktól. www.avg.com

NOTICE - This email and any attachments are solely for the intended recipient and may be confidential. If you have
received this email in error, please notify the sender and delete it from your system. Do not use, copy or disclose the
information contained in this email or in any attachment without the permission of the sender. Metropolitan Police
Service (MPS) communication systems are monitored to the extent permitted by law and any email and/or
attachments may be read by monitoring staff. Only specified personnel are authorised to conclude binding
agreements on behalf of the MPS by email and no responsibility is accepted for unauthorised agreements reached
with other personnel. While reasonable precautions have been taken to ensure no viruses are present in this email,
its security and that of any attachments cannot be guaranteed.

Page3 92

Appendix 13

Page 93

Noise while the premise is in use
General Advice
If they conclude this is a problem Members should consider whether it is
possible to carry out suitable and proportionate noise control measures so that
noise leakage is prevented. In addition Members may consider that only certain
activities are suitable.
The hours of operation also need to be considered (see below).
If Members believe that there is a substantial problem of noise while the
premises are in use and it cannot be proportionately address by licensing
conditions they should refuse the application.
Licensing Policy
The policy recognises that noise nuisance can be an issue, especially if a
premises is open late at night. (See Sections 9.1 of the Licensing Policy).
While all applications will be considered on their merits, consideration will be
given to imposing stricter conditions in respect of noise control where premises
are situated close to local residents. (See Section 14.10).
The Licensing Authority expects the applicant to have addressed all nuisance
issues relating to the premises in their operating schedule and to have sought
appropriate advice from the Council’s Environmental Health Officers. (See
Section 9.2 of the Licensing Policy).
The Licensing Authority will consider attaching conditions to prevent
nuisance. In particular Members may wish to consider (this list is not
exhaustive):
• hours of opening (this needs to be balanced against potential disorder
caused by artificially early closing times
• Whether certain parts should close earlier than the rest (for example a
“beer garden”, or restricted in their use
• Whether or not certain activities should have to close at an early hour,
for example live music
• Conditions controlling noise or vibration (for example, noise limiters,
keeping doors and windows closed).
• Prominent clear and legible notices at all exits requesting the public to
respect the needs of local residents and leave the premises and area
quietly
• Conditions controlling the use of explosives, pyrotechnics and fireworks
• Conditions controlling the placing of refuse
• Conditions controlling noxious smells
• Conditions controlling lighting (this needs to be balanced against
potential crime prevention benefits)

Page 94

Police Powers
Part 8 of the Licensing Act 2003 enables a senior police officer to close down
a premises for up to 24 hrs where public nuisance is being caused by noise
coming from the premises and the closure of the premises is necessary to
prevent that nuisance.
Guidance Issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003
The prevention of public nuisance could include low-level nuisance, perhaps
affecting a few people living locally as well as major disturbance affecting the
whole community (2.15).
Licence conditions should not duplicate other legislation (1.16).
Necessary and appropriate conditions should normally focus on the most
sensitive periods (2.19) and may address disturbance as customers enter or
leave the premises but it is essential that conditions are focused on measures
within the direct control of the licence holder.
Other Legislation
The Environmental Protection Act 1990, Part 111 gives Environmental Health
Officers the power to deal with statutory nuisances.
The Anti-social Behaviour Act 2003, Sections 40 and 41 give Environmental
Health Officers the power of closure up to 24 hours in certain circumstances.

Page 95

Appendix 14

Page 96

Access and Egress Problems
Such as:
Disturbance from patrons arriving/leaving the premises on foot
Disturbance from patrons arriving/leaving the premises by car
Lack of adequate car parking facilities
Close proximity to residential properties
Comment
The above have been grouped together as egress problems. Of course the
particular facts will be different for each alleged problem.
Egress only is referred to-if necessary access can be added or substituted in.
General Advice
In considering concerns relating to disturbance from egress, Members need to
be satisfied that the premises under consideration has been identified as the
source of the actual or potential disturbance. If they are satisfied that this is a
problem, then proportionate conditions should be considered.
The hours of operation also need to be considered.
If Members believe that there is a substantial problem concerning egress and it
cannot be proportionately addressed by licensing conditions, they should
refuse the application.
Licensing Policy
The policy recognises that noise nuisance can be an issue, especially if a
premises is open late at night. (See Section 10 of the Licensing Policy).
The Licensing Authority expects the applicant to have addressed all nuisance
issues relating to the premises in their operating schedule and to have sought
appropriate advice from the Council’s Environmental Health Officers. (See
Section 10.2 of the Licensing Policy).
The policy also recognises that staggered closing can help prevent problems at
closure time (See Section 15.1).
However, while all applications will be considered on their merits, consideration
will be given to imposing stricter conditions in respect of noise control where
premises are situated close to local residents. (See Section 15.5)
The Council has adopted a set of framework hours (See 15.8 of the
licensing policy). This relates to potential disturbance caused by late night
trading.

Page 97

The Licensing Authority will consider attaching conditions to prevent nuisance
and these may include Conditions drawn from the Model Pool of Conditions
relating to the prevention of Public Nuisance. (See Annex G of the
Licensing Policy). In particular Members may wish to consider (this list is
not exhaustive):
• hours of opening (this needs to be balanced against potential
disorder caused by artificially early closing times
• Whether certain parts should close earlier than the rest (for example
a “beer garden”, or restricted in their use
• Whether or not certain activities should have to close at an early
hour, for example live music
• Conditions controlling noise or vibration (for example, noise
limiters, keeping doors and windows closed).
• Prominent clear and legible notices at all exits requesting the public
to respect the needs of local residents and leave the premises and
area quietly
Guidance Issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003
The prevention of public nuisance could include low-level nuisance, perhaps
affecting a few people living locally as well as major disturbance affecting
the whole community. (2.15).
Licence conditions should not duplicate other legislation (1.16).
Any conditions should be tailored to the type, nature and characteristics of
the specific premises. Licensing authorities should be aware of the need to
avoid inappropriate or disproportionate measures that could deter events
that are valuable to the community, such as live music. Noise limiters, for
example, are very expensive to purchase and install and are likely to be a
considerable burden for smaller venues. (2.19)
Measures can include ensuring the safe departure of customers, these
can include:
• Providing information on the premises of local taxi companies who
can provide safe transportation home; and
• Ensuring adequate lighting outside the premises, particularly on
paths leading to and from the premises and in car parks
Necessary and appropriate conditions should normally focus on the most
sensitive periods (2.19) and may address disturbance as customers enter or
leave the premises but it is essential that conditions are focused on
measures within the direct control of the licence holder.

Page 98

Appendix 15

Page 99

Anti-Social Behaviour on the Premises
Licensing Policy
The Licensing Authority expects the applicant to have addressed all crime and
disorder issues relating to the premises in their operating schedule and to
have sought appropriate advice. (See Section 6 of the Licensing Policy)
The Licensing Authority will consider attaching conditions to deter crime and
disorder and these may include conditions drawn from the Model Poll of
Conditions relating to Crime and Disorder. (See Appendix 3 of the Licensing
Policy). In particular Members may wish to consider (this list is not exhaustive):
• Methods of management communication
• Use of registered Door Supervisors
• Bottle Bans
• Plastic containers
• CCTV
• Restrictions on open containers for “off sales”
• Restrictions on drinking areas
• Capacity
• Proof of Age scheme
• Crime prevention notices
• Drinks promotions-aimed at stopping irresponsible promotions
• Signage
• Seating plans
• Capacity
If Members believe that there is a substantial problem of anti-social behaviour
and it cannot be proportionately addressed by licensing conditions they should
refuse the application.
Police Powers
The Licensing Act 2003, Part 8 gives a senior police officer the power to close
a premises for up to 24 hours where the officer believes there is, or is likely to
be disorder on or in the vicinity and closure is necessary in the interests of
public safety.
Guidance Issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003
The pool of conditions, adopted by the Council is recommended (Annexe D).
The key role of the Police and SIA is acknowledged (2.1-2.2).
Conditions attached to licences cannot seek to manage the behaviour of
customers once they are beyond the direct management of the licence holder

Page 100

and their staff or agents, but can directly impact on the behaviour of customers
in the immediate vicinity of the premises as they seek entry or leave (1.16).
Conditions are best targeted on deterrence and preventing crime and disorder
(2.3) communication, CCTV, police liaison, no glasses, capacity limits are all
relevant (2.3 - 2.6).
The Guidance recognises working with Home Office Immigration Enforcement in
the prevention of immigration crime. Licence conditions that are considered
appropriate for the prevention of illegal working in licensed premises might
include requiring a premises licence holder to undertake right to work checks on
all staff employed at the licensed premises or requiring that a copy of any
document checked as part of a right to work check are retained at the licensed
premises.
Guidance Issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003
Conditions can be imposed for large capacity “vertical consumption” premises
(10.23 – 10.24).
Guidance Issued by the Office of Fair Trading
This relates to attempts to control minimum prices.
Other Legislation
•

The Council has a duty under Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act
1998 to do all it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder

Page 101

Appendix 16

Page 102

Anti-Social Behaviour from Patrons Leaving the Premises
General Advice
Members need to bear in mind that once patrons have left a premises they are
no longer under direct control. Members will need to be satisfied that there is a
link between the way the premises is operating and the behaviour that is
complained of. An example of this would be that irresponsible drinking is being
encouraged. Before deciding that any particular licensing conditions are
proportionate, Members will also need to be satisfied that other legislation is not
a more effective route. For example, if the problem is drinking in the street it
may be that the Council should designate the area as a place where alcohol
cannot be consumed in public.
Members may also wish to consider whether the hours of opening relate to any
problems of anti-social behaviour.
If Members believe that there is a substantial problem of anti-social behaviour
and it cannot be proportionately addressed by licensing conditions they should
refuse the application.
Licensing Policy
The policy recognises that other legislation or measures may be more
appropriate but also states that licensing laws are “a key aspect of such
control and will always be part of an overall approach to the management of
the evening and night time economy” (see Section 4.15 and 4.16 of the
Licensing Policy).
The Licensing Authority expects the applicant to have addressed all crime and
disorder issues relating to the premises in their operating schedule and to
have sought appropriate advice. (See Sections 6.2 of the Licensing Policy)
The Licensing Authority will consider attaching conditions to deter crime and
disorder and these may include Conditions drawn from the Model Poll of
Conditions relating to Crime and Disorder. (See Appendix 3 of the Licensing
Policy). In particular Members may wish to consider (this list is not exhaustive):
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Bottle Bans
Plastic containers
CCTV (outside the premises)
Restrictions on open containers for “off sales”
Proof of Age scheme
Crime prevention notices
Drinks promotions-aimed at stopping irresponsible promotions
Signage

Page 103

Cumulative Impact
There is a process by which the Licensing Authority can determine that an
area is saturated following representations. However, the process for this
involves wide consultation and cannot come from representations about a
particular application. (See Section 8 of the Licensing Policy).

Police Powers
The Licensing Act 2003, Part 8 gives a senior police officer the power to close
a premises for up to 24 hours where the officer believes there is, or is likely to
be disorder on or in the vicinity and closure is necessary in the interests of
public.
Guidance Issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003
The key role of the Police is acknowledged (2.1).
Conditions attached to licences cannot seek to manage the behaviour of
customers once they are beyond the direct management of the licence holder,
but can relate to the immediate vicinity of the premises as they seek entry or
leave (1.16).
Conditions are best targeted on deterrence and preventing crime and disorder
(2.3) CCTV inside & out, communication, police liaison, no glasses are all
relevant
There is also guidance issued around public nuisance (2.15 – 2.21).
The pool of conditions, adopted by the Council is recommended (see
Appendix 3 of the Licensing Policy). Licence conditions should not duplicate
other legislation (1.16).
Necessary and appropriate conditions should normally focus on the most
sensitive periods and may address disturbance as customers enter or leave
the premises but it is essential that conditions are focused on measures
within the direct control of the licence holder (2.18/2.21).
Licensing law is not the primary mechanism for the general control of nuisance
and anti-social behaviour by individuals once they are away from the licensed
premises and, therefore, beyond the direct control of the individual, club or
business holding the licence, certificate or authorisation concerned (14.13).
Other Legislation
Crime and Disorder Act 1998
The Council has a duty under Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998
to do all it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder.

Page 104

The Act also introduced a wide range of measures designed to address antisocial behaviour committed by adults and young people. These include:

•
•
•
•
•
•

Anti-Social Behaviour Orders
Child Curfew Schemes
Truancy
Parenting Orders
Reparation Orders
Tackling Racism

Page 105

Appendix 17

Page 106

Safety Problems
General Advice
Members need to bear in mind the substantial amount of primary legislation in
this area, and to only impose conditions where they are both proportionate to
identified problems and not adequately covered by primary legislation.
The larger and more complex a premises before Members, the more likely it is
that specific conditions will be proportionate and necessary.
Licensing Policy
Premises should be constructed so as to minimise public safety risks. (See
7.1).
The Licensing Authority expects applicants to seek advice from both the
relevant Health and Safety body and also the Fire and Emergency Planning
Authority. (See 7.2). The applicant should identify where existing legislation is
not adequate. (See 7.3).
The Licensing Authority will consider attaching conditions to ensure public
safety and these may include Conditions drawn from the Model Pool of
Conditions relating to public safety. (See Appendix 2 Annex E, F and J of the
Licensing Policy). In particular Members may wish to consider the following
headings: (this list is not exhaustive):
Annex E
• Adequate arrangements for people with disabilities, inc. their
awareness of them.
• Escape routes
• Safety checks
• Curtains, hangings, decorations, upholstery etc.
• Accommodation limits
• Fire action notices
• Emergency procedures
• Water
• Emergency vehicle access
• First aid
• Lighting
• Temporary electrical installations
• Alterations to the premises
• Special effects

Annex F

Page 107

This concerns Theatres and Cinemas
Annex J
The safe clubbing checklist
Guidance Issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003
The public safety objective “Licence holders have a responsibility to ensure
the safety of those using their premises, as a part of their duties under the
2003 Act. This concerns the safety of people using a relevant premises rather
than public health, which is addressed in other legislation” (2.6). For example,
conditions should not be imposed on a premises licence or club premises
certificate which relate to cleanliness or hygiene.
2.7, A number of matters should be considered in relation to public safety.
These may include:
• Fire safety;
• Ensuring appropriate access for emergency services such as
ambulances;
• Good communication with local authorities and emergency services,
forexample communications networks with the police and signing up for
local incident alerts (see paragraph 2.4 above);
• Ensuring the presence of trained first aiders on the premises and
appropriate first aid kits;
• Ensuring the safety of people when leaving the premises (for example,
through the provision of information on late-night transportation);
• Ensuring appropriate and frequent waste disposal, particularly of glass
bottles;
• Ensuring appropriate limits on the maximum capacity of the premises
(see paragraphs
• 2.11-2.12, and Chapter 10; and
• Considering the use of CCTV in and around the premises (as noted in
paragraph 2.3 above, this may also assist with promoting the crime and
disorder objective).
Safe capacities “should only be imposed where necessary for the promotion
of public safety or the prevention of disorder.” (2.11). Therefore, conditions of
a fire certificate must not be reproduced.
Other Legislation
•
•

The Health and Safety at Work Act 1974, and various Regs.
The Regulatory Reform Order (Fire Safety) 2005.

Other Guidance

Page 108

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Model National and Standard Conditions for Places of Public
Entertainment and Assoc. Guidance
The Event Safety Guide
Managing Crowds Safely
5 Steps to Risk Assessment
Safer Clubbing
Safety Guidance for Street Art etc.
Various BS and ISO standards

Page 109

Appendix 18

Page 110

Licensing Policy Updated November 2018

Protection of children from harm
10.1 The wide range of premises that require licensing means that children
can be expected to visit many of these, often on their own, for food
and/or entertainment. The protection of children from harm includes
the protection of children from moral, psychological and physical
harm. This includes not only protecting children from the harms
associated directly with alcohol consumption but also wider harms
such as exposure to strong language and sexual expletives (for
example, in the context of exposure to certain films or adult
entertainment). Home Office Guidance also expects Licensing
authorities to consider the need to protect children from sexual
exploitation when undertaking licensing functions.
10.2 Tackling Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) is a key target both locally
and nationally as such the Licensing Authority expects Licence
Holders to:
•
•
•

Understand that there are criminal offences in relation to
sexual exploitation of a child,
Ensure that they and their employees have a basic
awareness of the signs of CSE and how to report it;
Report any concerns to the appropriate authorities or to the
Licensing Authority can advise them of the appropriate
authority to report concerns to.

10.3 Applicants are to consult with the Responsible Authority designated
for Child Protection listed in appendix 1 - List of Responsible
Authorities of this who this Licensing Authority recognises to be
competent body to advise on the protection of children from harm.
10.4 The Act does not prohibit children from having access to any licensed
premises; the Council recognises that limitations may have to be
considered where it appears necessary to protect children from
harm.
10.5 The Licensing Authority will judge the merits of each separate
application before deciding whether to impose conditions limiting the
access of children to individual premises. The following are examples
of premises that will raise concern:•

Where there have been convictions, Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs)
or formal cautions for serving alcohol to minors or with a reputation
for underage drinking

Page 111

•

With a known association with drug taking or dealing

•

Where there is a strong element of gambling on the premises

•

Where entertainment of an adult or sexual nature is provided

•

Where irresponsible drinking is encouraged or permitted.

10.6 Where its discretion is engaged, the Licensing Authority will consider
any of the following options when dealing with a licence application
where limiting the access of children is considered necessary to
prevent harm to children:
•

Limitations on the hours when children may be present,

•

Limitations on ages below 18,

•

Limitations or exclusion when certain activities are taking place,

•

Requirements for an accompanying adult,

•

Full exclusion of people under 18 from the premises when any
licensable activities are taking place.

10.7 No conditions will be imposed requiring that children must be
admitted to any premises and, where no limitation is imposed, this
will be left to the discretion of the individual licensee.
10.8 The Act details a number of offences designed to protect children in
licensed premises and the Licensing Authority will work closely with
the police to ensure the appropriate enforcement of the law,
especially relating to the sale and supply of alcohol to children.
10.9 All licence holders will be expected to comply the Portman Group
Code of Practice, and in particular the Retailer Alert Bulletin by which
the Portman Group informs licensed retailers, which products have
been found to be in breach of the code, and should be removed from
sale.
10.10 The Licensing Authority expects all licensed suppliers of alcohol to
have robust measures, effectively managed and monitored, in place
to ensure that minors are fully protected from harm. This will require
operating plans to specify these measures and management controls
taking into account paragraph 10.1 and 10.2 above. Where
appropriate a written childcare policy should be available and be
incorporated in the induction of staff.

Page 112

10.11 The Licensing Authority will take appropriate and proportionate action
where there are serious concerns in relation to the safe guarding of
children in connection with a licensed premises, which may include
consideration of applying for a review of the licence where there
significant evidence of undermining the licensing objective of the
protection of children from harm.
10.12 The sale of alcohol to a minor is a criminal offence and Trading
Standards will conduct appropriate covert test purchasing exercises
and will take account of any complaints and intelligence received.
The Act permits the use of children under the age of 18 to undertake
test purchases.
10.13 Where there are age restrictions imposed by the Act on the licensable
activities in respect of children below a certain age, then the licensee
will be required to demonstrate that they have age verification
systems in place. This Licensing Authority believes that that
Licensed Premises should have age verification policies to require
individuals who appear to the person serving alcohol to be under the
age of 25 years of age to produce on request appropriate
identification. This is commonly referred to as the “Challenge 25
Scheme”. The rationale for this is because it can often be difficult to
judge how old teenagers are and “Challenge 25 age verification
system” would provide licensed premises with margin of error to
prevent underage sales. Thus Challenge 25 can help to empower
staff to challenge customers where there is doubt about their age. In
turn this is likely to reduce the risk of the owner, or the seller of the
alcohol, committing an offence.
10.14 Training in age verification systems should be given to all persons
who might be in a position to serve or refuse the sale of alcohol to
children. The training should include a basic understanding of the
law, seeking proof of age, verifying the authenticity of proof of age
cards and handling and recording refusals.
10.15 Where proportionate and appropriate, and its discretion is engaged,
the Licensing Authority will impose the following standard conditions
in relation to age verification systems:
1) All tills shall automatically prompt staff to ask for age verification
identification when presented with an alcohol sale.
2) A Challenge 25 proof of age scheme shall be operated at the
premises where the only acceptable forms of identification are
recognised photographic identification cards, such as a driving
licence, passport or proof of age card with the PASS Hologram.
3) A record shall be kept detailing all refused sales of alcohol. The
record should include the date and time of the refused sale and
the name of the member of staff who refused the sale. The record

Page 113

shall be available for inspection at the premises by the police or
an authorised officer at all times whilst the premises is open.
4) All staff whose duties include the serving of alcohol must be
trained in the requirements of this scheme including the
importance of recording any refusals.

11

Access to Cinemas

11.1 Films cover a vast range of subjects, some of which deal with adult
themes and / or contain, for example, scenes of horror or violence
that may be considered unsuitable for children within certain age
groups.
11.2 In order to prevent children from seeing such films, the Licensing
Authority will impose conditions requiring licensees to restrict children
from viewing age restricted films classified according to the
recommendations of the BBFC, or the Council itself. The Licensing
Authority will not consider reclassifying any films already classified by
the BBFC. The Council will charge for classifying films, on a full cost
recovery basis.
11.3 The Licensing Authority will classify films itself where it is satisfied
that no BBFC classification exists. It will inform relevant licensee and
require such classifications to be clearly contained in any advertising
or informative material relating to such films.

12

Children and Public Entertainment

12.1 Many children go to see and / or take part in an entertainment
arranged
substantially for them. Consequently additional
arrangements are required to safeguard them at such times.
12.2 Where 10.1 applies, and its discretion is engaged, the Licensing
Authority will require the following arrangements in order to control
their access and egress and to assure their safety:•

An adult member of staff to be stationed in the vicinity of
each of the exits from any level, subject to there being a
minimum of one member of staff per 50 children or part
thereof,

•

No child unless accompanied by an adult to be permitted in
the front row of any balcony,

•

No standing to be permitted in any part of the auditorium
during the Performance.

12.3 Where children are taking part in any regulated entertainment, and its

Page 114

discretion is engaged, the Licensing Authority will require the
operating schedule to clearly state the steps taken to assure their
safety.
12.4 Where its authority is engaged, the Licensing Authority will consider
attaching conditions to licences and permissions to prevent harm to
children, and these may include conditions drawn from the Model
Pool of. Conditions that can be found in the Secretary of State’s
Guidance.

Page 115

Guidance Issued by the Home Office under Section 182 of the
Licensing Act 2003
Updated April 2018

Protection of children from harm
2.22

The protection of children from harm includes the protection of children
from moral, psychological and physical harm. This includes not only
protecting children from the harms associated directly with alcohol
consumption but also wider harms such as exposure to strong language
and sexual expletives (for example, in the context of exposure to certain
films or adult entertainment). Licensing authorities must also consider the
need to protect children from sexual exploitation when undertaking
licensing functions.

2.23

The Government believes that it is completely unacceptable to sell
alcohol to children. Conditions relating to the access of children where
alcohol is sold and which are appropriate to protect them from harm
should be carefully considered. Moreover, conditions restricting the
access of children to premises should be strongly considered in
circumstances where:
• adult entertainment is provided;
• a member or members of the current management have been
convicted for serving alcohol to minors or with a reputation for
allowing underage drinking (other than in the context of the
exemption in the 2003 Act relating to 16 and 17 year olds
consuming beer, wine and cider when accompanied by an adult
during a table meal);
• it is known that unaccompanied children have been allowed
access;
• there is a known association with drug taking or dealing; or
• in some cases, the premises are used exclusively or primarily for
the sale of alcohol for consumption on the premises.

2.24

It is also possible that activities, such as adult entertainment, may take
place at certain times on premises but not at other times. For example,
premises may operate as a café bar during the day providing meals for
families but also provide entertainment with a sexual content after 8.00pm.
It is not possible to give an exhaustive list of what amounts to
entertainment or services of an adult or sexual nature. Applicants,
responsible authorities and licensing authorities will need to consider this
point carefully. This would broadly include topless bar staff, striptease, lap, table- or pole-dancing, performances involving feigned violence or
horrific incidents, feigned or actual sexual acts or fetishism, or
entertainment involving strong and offensive language.

Page 116

2.25

Applicants must be clear in their operating schedules about the activities
and times at which the events would take place to help determine when it
is not appropriate for children to enter the premises. Consideration
should also be given to the proximity of premises to schools and youth
clubs so that applicants take appropriate steps to ensure that advertising
relating to their premises, or relating to events at their premises, is not
displayed at a time when children are likely to be near the premises.

2.26

Licensing authorities and responsible authorities should expect
applicants, when preparing an operating schedule or club operating
schedule, to set out the steps to be taken to protect children from harm
when on the premises.

2.27

Conditions, where they are appropriate, should reflect the licensable
activities taking place on the premises. In addition to the mandatory
condition regarding age verification, other conditions relating to the
protection of children from harm can include:
• restrictions on the hours when children may be present;
• restrictions or exclusions on the presence of children under certain
ages when particular specified activities are taking place;
• restrictions on the parts of the premises to which children may have
access;
• age restrictions (below 18);
• restrictions or exclusions when certain activities are taking place;
• requirements for an accompanying adult (including for example, a
combination of requirements which provide that children under a
particular age must be accompanied by an adult); and full
exclusion of people under 18 from the premises when any
licensable activities are taking place.

2.28

Please see also Chapter 10 for details about the Licensing Act 2003
(Mandatory Licensing Conditions) Order 2010.

Page 117

2.29

Licensing authorities should give considerable weight to representations
about child protection matters. In addition to the responsible authority
whose functions relate directly to child protection, the Director of Public
Health may also have access to relevant evidence to inform such
representations. These representations may include, amongst other
things, the use of health data about the harms that alcohol can cause to
underage drinkers. Where a responsible authority, or other person,
presents evidence to the licensing authority linking specific premises with
harms to children (such as ambulance data or emergency department
attendances by persons under 18 years old with alcohol-related illnesses
or injuries) this evidence should be considered, and the licensing
authority should also consider what action is appropriate to ensure this
licensing objective is effectively enforced. In relation to applications for
the grant of a licence in areas where evidence is presented on high
levels of alcohol-related harms in persons aged under 18, it is
recommended that the licensing authority considers what conditions may
be appropriate to ensure that this objective is promoted effectively.

2.30

The 2003 Act provides that, where a premises licence or club premises
certificate authorises the exhibition of a film, it must include a condition
requiring the admission of children to films to be restricted in accordance
with recommendations given either by a body designated under section 4
of the Video Recordings Act 1984 specified in the licence (the British
Board of Film Classification is currently the only body which has been so
designated) or by the licensing authority itself. Further details are given in
Chapter 10.

2.31

Theatres may present a range of diverse activities and entertainment
including, for example, variety shows incorporating adult entertainment. It
is appropriate in these cases for a licensing authority to consider
restricting the admission of children in such circumstances.
Entertainments may also be presented at theatres specifically for children.
It will be appropriate to consider whether a condition should be attached to
a premises licence or club premises certificate which requires the
presence of a sufficient number of adult staff on the premises to ensure
the wellbeing of the children during any emergency.

Page 118

Offences relating to the sale and supply of alcohol to children
2.32

Licensing authorities are expected to maintain close contact with the
police, young offenders’ teams and trading standards officers (who can
carry out test purchases under section 154 of the 2003 Act) about the
extent of unlawful sales and consumption of alcohol by minors and to be
involved in the development of any strategies to control or prevent these
unlawful activities and to pursue prosecutions. Licensing authorities,
alongside the police, are prosecuting authorities for the purposes of
these offences, except for the offences under section 147A (persistently
selling alcohol to children). Where, as a matter of policy, warnings are
given to retailers prior to any decision to prosecute in respect of an
offence, it is important that each of the enforcement arms should be
aware of the warnings each of them has given.

Table of relevant
offences under the
2003 Act Section

Offence

Prosecuting Authority

Section 145

Unaccompanied children
prohibited from certain
premises

Police and/or Licensing
Authority

Section 146

Sale of alcohol to children

Police, Licensing Authority
and/or Local Weights and
Measures Authority

Section 147

Allowing the sale of alcohol to
children

Police, Licensing Authority
and/or Local Weights and
Measures Authority

Section 147A

Persistently selling alcohol to
children

Police and/or Local Weights
and Measures Authority

Section 148

Sale of liqueur confectionery to
children under 16. (This offence
will be repealed by the
Deregulation Act 2015 on 26
May 2015).

Police and/or Licensing
Authority

Section 149

Purchase of alcohol by or on
behalf of children

Police and/or Licensing
Authority

Section 150

Consumption of alcohol by
children

Police and/or Licensing
Authority

Section 151

Delivering alcohol to children

Police and/or Licensing
Authority

Section 152

Sending a child to obtain
alcohol

Police and/or Licensing
Authority

Section 153

Prohibition of unsupervised
sales by children

Police and/or Licensing
Authority

Page 119

Appendix 19

Page 120

Planning
An application for a Premises Licence can be made in respect of a premises
even where the premises does not have relevant Planning Permission.
That application has to be considered and Members can only refuse the
application where the application itself does not promote one of more of the
Licensing Objectives. Members cannot refuse just because there is no
planning permission. Where a Premises Licence is granted and which
exceeds what is allowed by the Planning Permission and that Premises then
operates in breach of planning then the operator would be liable to
enforcement by Planning.

Page 121

Appendix 20

Page 122

Licensing Policy Relating to Hours of Trading
All applications have to be considered on their own merits.
The Council has however adopted a set of framework hours as follows:
•
•
•

Monday to Thursday, from 06:00 hrs to 23:30 hrs
Friday and Saturday, from 06:00 hrs to 00:00 hrs (midnight)
Sunday, from 06:00 hrs to 22:30 hrs

(see 14.8 of the Licensing Policy)
In considering the applicability of frame work hours to any particular
application regard should be had to the following
• Location
• Proposed hours of regulated activities, and the proposed hours the
premises are open to the public
• The adequacy of the applicant’s proposals to deal with issues of crime
and disorder and public nuisance
• Previous history
• Access to public transport
• Proximity to other licensed premises, and their hours
(See 14.9 of the licensing policy)
Subject to any representations to the contrary in individual cases the following
premises are not generally considered to contribute to late night anti-social
behaviour and will therefore generally have greater freedom
• Theatres
• Cinemas
• Premises with club premises certificates

Page 123

Appendix 21

Page 124

Licensing Policy - Appendix 5

Special Cumulative Impact Policy for the Brick Lane and Bethnal
Green Area
1.

The Licensing Authority has adopted a special policy relating to cumulative
impact in areas of:



Brick Lane
Bethnal Green

This special policy creates a rebuttable presumption that applications
for the grant or variation of premises licences or club premises
certificates which are likely to add to the existing cumulative impact
will normally be refused following the receipt of representations,
unless the applicant can demonstrate in the operation schedule that
there will be no negative cumulative impacts with one or more of the
licensing objectives.
2.

The Council reviewed the Special Cumulative Impact Policy in 2021 and,
following consultation, decided it was still of the opinion that the
concentration of licensed premises within Brick Lane area was having a
cumulative impact on the licensing objectives of crime and disorder and
prevention of public nuisance. As part of the review in 2021, the Council
also decided that the concentration of licensed premises within the Bethnal
Green area was also having a cumulative impact on the licensing objectives
of crime and disorder and prevention of public nuisance.

Review of Cumulative Impact Assessment - Supporting Evidence
3.

In determining the Councils CIAs for the area of Brick Lane and Bethnal
Green (Figures One and Two Below) the Council considered the following
evidence:





Hot spot maps of incidents of crime and disorder and ASB linked to
Licence premises in the defined areas for 2017 to 2020.
Complaint data from Environmental Health and Trading Standards
relating to Noise and Licensing.
Licence Application data for the defined areas for 2017 to 2020
Results of the Consultation, that included Survey data and comments
and written responses.

This evidence is published on our website:
http://democracy.towerhamlets.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=30
9&MId=12361.

Page 125

Cumulative Impact Assessments (Brick Lane and Bethnal Green)
4.

The Licensing Authority is of the view that the number, type and density of
premises selling/supplying alcohol for consumption on and off the premises
and/or the provision of late night refreshment in the Brick Lane and Bethnal
Green Areas (highlighted in Figures One and Two below) is having a
cumulative impact on the licensing objectives. Therefore, it is likely that
granting further licences would be inconsistent with the authority’s duty to
promote the licensing objectives. Thus, it has declared a cumulative impact
assessment within these areas.

5.

The Brick Lane and Bethnal Green CIAs aim to manage the negative
cumulative impact of the concentration of licensed premises in these areas
and the stresses that the saturation of licensed premises has had on the
local amenity, environmental degradation and emergency and regulatory
services
in
managing
this
impact.

6.

The effect of this Special Cumulative Assessment Policy will apply to the
following types of applications:





New Premises Licences applications,
New Club Premises Certificates applications
Provisional Statements,
Variation of Premises Licenses and Club Premises Certificate applications
(where the modifications are relevant to the issue of cumulative impact
for example increases in hours or capacity).

However, it will only apply where the application seeks to permit the
Licensable activities of:
 the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on or off the premises,
and/or,
 the provision of late night refreshment.
7.

This Policy will be strictly applied and where relevant representations
are received and it is the view of the Council that the application will
be refused. Applicants will need to demonstrate that there are
exceptional circumstances and that granting their application will not
negatively add to the cumulative effect on the Licensing Objectives
within the Brick Lane and Bethnal Green CIAs if they wish to rebut this
presumption.

8.

The Special Cumulative Impact policy creates a rebuttable presumption that
where relevant representations are received by one or more of the
responsible authorities and/or other persons against applications
(Councillors, Members of the Public) within the CIA zones the application will
be refused.

9.

Where representations have been received in respect to applications within
the CIA zones the onus is on the applicant to adequately rebut the
presumption.

Page 126

10.

It must be stressed that the presumption created by this special policy does
not relieve responsible authorities or other persons of the need to make a
representation. If there are no representations, the licensing authority must
grant the application in terms that are consistent with the operating
schedule submitted in line with their delegated authority.

11.

This special policy is not absolute and the Licensing Authority recognises
that it has to balance the needs of businesses with local residents. The
circumstances of each application will be considered on its merits and the
Licensing Authority shall grant applications, when representations are not
received. The applicant should demonstrated that the operation of the
premises will not add to the cumulative impact on one or more of the
following licensing objectives:



Prevention of Crime and Disorder;
Prevention of Public Nuisance.

Therefore, applicants will be expected to comprehensively demonstrate why
a new or varied licence will not add to the cumulative impact. They are
strongly advised to give consideration to mitigating potential cumulative
impact issues when setting out steps they will take to promote the licensing
objectives in their operating schedule.
12.

The Special Cumulative Impact policy will not be used to revoke an existing
licence or certificate and will not be applicable during the review of existing
licences.

Possible exceptions to the Brick Lane and Bethnal Green Cumulative Impact
Assessments


Applications for licences for small premises with a capacity of fifty persons
or less who only intend to operate within framework hours, and that;
o Only have consumption of food (late night refreshment) and drink
(alcohol) on the premises only,
o Only provide Off sales of food (late night refreshment) and drink
(alcohol) for delivery (i.e. not for take away),
and,
o Have arrangements to prevent vertical drinking, for example fully
seated venues;




Applications for licences that are not alcohol led (e.g. Hairdressers wanting
to provide alcohol to clients during their hair cut/treatments), .
Applications for licences where the applicant has recently surrendered a
licence for another premises of a similar size and providing similar
licensable activities in the same CIA Area.

Page 127

Licensing Authority will not consider the following as possible exceptions:




that the premises will be well managed and run,
that the premises will be constructed to a high standard,
that the applicant operates similar premises elsewhere without
complaint.

The Cumulative Impact Assessment Areas for the Brick Lane and Bethnal
Green
13.

The Cumulative Impact Assessment Areas are detailed in the maps below.

Figure One
Brick Lane area:

Figure Two:

Page 128

Bethnal Green Area

Page 129

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3.2
/Committee:

Date

Classification

Licensing Sub-Committee

26/07/2022

Report No.

Agenda Item
No.

Unclassified

Report of: David

Tolley
Head of Environmental Health and Trading
Standards

Title:

Licensing Act 2003
Application for a Premises Licence for (Studio Spaces
Ltd / E1), 110 Pennington Street, London E1W 2BB

Originating Officer:

Ward affected:

St. Katherine’s and Wapping

Mohshin Ali
Senior Licensing Officer

1.0 Summary
Licence holder:

Studio Spaces Limited

Name and
Address of Premises:

(Studio Spaces Limited / E1)
110 Pennington Street
London
E1W 2BB

Licence sought:

Licensing Act 2003 - variation
 To remove a condition of the licence

Representation (1 objector): Licensing Authority (RA)
Representation (203 supporters): Other persons

2.0 Recommendations
2.1 That the Licensing Committee considers the application and
representations then adjudicate accordingly.

LOCAL GOVERNMENT 2000 (Section 97)
LIST OF "BACKGROUND PAPERS" USED IN THE DRAFTING OF THIS REPORT
Brief description of "background paper"





Tick if copy supplied for
register

Guidance Issued under Section 182
of the Licensing Act 2003
Tower Hamlets Licensing Policy
File

Page 131

If not supplied, name and telephone
number of holder

Mohshin Ali
020 7364 5498

3.0 Background
3.1 This is an application for a variation of a variation of a premises licence
for (Studio Spaces Ltd / E1), 110 Pennington Street, London E1W 2BB.
3.2 A copy of the existing licence (Lic no. 142897) is enclosed as Appendix
1. The licensable activities and timings are stated below for information
only:
Sale of Alcohol (on sales only)
 Sunday to Thursday, from 08.00 hours to 00.00 hours (midnight)
 Friday and Saturday, from 08.00 hours to 07.00 hours the following day
Late night refreshments Indoors
 Sunday to Thursday, from 23.00 hours to 00.00 hours (midnight)
 Friday and Saturday, from 23.00 hours to 07.00 hours the following day
Provision for Regulated Entertainment - Indoors
(Plays, Films. Live Music, Recorded Music, Performance of Dance
and Anything of a Similar Description.
 Sunday to Thursday, from 06:00 hours to 00:00 hours (midnight)
 Friday and Saturday, from 06.00 hours to 07.00 hours the following day
Non-standard timings
 Licensable activities, from the beginning of permitted hours on New
Year’s Eve to the end of permitted hours on New Year’s Day and on all
days preceding a Bank Holiday until 07:00hrs the next day.
Conditions for Garden area (outdoor space)
Sale of Alcohol
 Monday to Sunday 08:00 hours to 20:30 hours with half an hour drink
up time until 21:00 hours.
Provision for Regulated Entertainment – Recorded Music Outdoors
for garden area only
 Monday to Sunday 08:00 hours to 21:00 hours
Photographic Studio
A small indoor photographic studio area 120 meter squared to operate as per
the existing hours permitted on the premises licence. (NOT FOR USE BY
THE PUBLIC DURING THE CORONAVIRUS REGULATIONS)

Page 132

The opening hours of the premises
 Sunday to Thursday, from 06:00hrs to 00:30hrs (the following day)
 Friday and Saturday, from 06.00 hours to 07.00 hours the following day
The opening hours of the outdoor space
 Monday to Sunday from 08:00 hours to 21:30 hours.
Non-standard timings
Licensable activities, from the beginning of permitted hours on New Year’s
Eve to the end of permitted hours on New Year’s Day and on all days
preceding a Bank Holiday until 07:30hrs the next day.
3.3 A copy of the variation application is enclosed as Appendix 2. The
applicant has described the variation as follows:
“Remove Annex 2 Condition 1 from the premises licence.”
3.4 There are no proposed changes to the licensable activities and timings.
The applicant has applied to remove the following condition which was
added to the licence when the licence was granted on the 19th
December 2011:
Annex 2 - Conditions consistent with the operating Schedule
1) No nudity or semi nudity permitted;
4.0 Location and Nature of the premises
4.1 Maps of the venue are included as Appendix 3.
4.2 Photographs showing the vicinity are included as Appendix 4.
4.3 Details of the nearest licensed venues are included as Appendix 5.
5.0 Licensing Policy and Government Advice
5.1 The Council has adopted a licensing policy and this is available from the
Licensing Section, and at the hearing. The revised policy came into
effect on 1st November 2018 with an update on the CIZ policy in
November 2021.
5.2 Relevant Sections of the policy are brought to the attention of Members
within the Licensing Officers report.
5.3 The Home Secretary has issued Guidance under Section 182 of the
Licensing Act 2003. This is available on the Government’s website,
www.homeoffice.gov.uk. It was last revised in April 2018.
5.4 Relevant Sections of this advice are brought to Members attention within
the Licensing Officers report. Members should note however, than in

Page 133

some areas Tower Hamlets, after a proper consideration of local
circumstances, has not followed the Government’s advice, or has
developed it further.
6.0 Representations
6.1 All representations have to meet basic legal and administrative
requirements. If they fail to do so they cannot be accepted. When
rejected the person sending in the representation must be written to, and
an explanation for rejection given in writing
6.2 A responsible authority or other person can make a representation.
There are two tests for other persons and only one for a responsible
authority. The two tests are contained in Section 18 of the Act.
6.3 All representations must be “about the likely effect of the grant of the
premises licence on the promotion of the licensing objectives.” Likely
means something that will probably happen, i.e. on balance more likely
than not.
6.4 Representations by responsible authorities do not have to meet the
second test of not being vexatious and frivolous. Other persons have to
meet this test.
6.5 The Home Office recommends that in borderline cases, the benefit of the
doubt should be given to the interested party making the representation.
6.6 Section 182 Advice by the Home Office concerning relevant, vexatious
and frivolous representations is attached as Appendix 6.
6.7 All the representations in this report have been considered by the
relevant officer (Team Leader Licensing & Safety) and determined to
have met the requirements of the Licensing Act 2003.
6.8 This hearing is required by the Licensing Act 2003, because relevant
representations have been made by the following:



Licensing Authority (RA Objector) - (Appendix 15)
Other persons (203 supporters) - (Appendix 16)

6.9 Majority of the representations from the supporters have similar wording
as they appear to have used the same template with the same subject
line. The Licensing Authority also received 60 other emails which were
deemed invalid as they did not meet the requirements of the Licensing
Act 2003 and therefore not included.
6.10 All of the responsible authorities have been consulted about this
application. They are as follows:
 The Licensing Authority
 The Metropolitan Police
 London Fire Brigade
 Planning Department

Page 134








Health and Safety
Environmental Health Noise Team
Trading Standards
Child Protection
Public Health
Home Secretary (Home Office Immigration Enforcement)

6.11 In addition the application was required to be advertised in a local
newspaper and by a blue poster. Only objections that relate to the
following licensing objectives are relevant:
 the prevention of crime and disorder
 public safety
 the prevention of public nuisance
 the protection of children from harm
6.12 Essentially, the relevant parties oppose the application because the
applicant has not explained how within the context of the application,
they will meet all of the above the licensing objective(s).
6.13 There are strict time limits to any representations. The time limits are
contained in The Licensing Act 2003 (Premises licences and club
premises certificates) Regulations 2005.
6.14 The applicant has offered measures in the operating schedule of the
application that address the promotion of the Licensing Objectives. If
there were no representations, the Licensing Authority would grant the
licence, with conditions consistent with the operating schedule, which
are relevant, proportionate and enforceable. Members are asked to
consider the schedule and incorporate any conditions as necessary to
address the licensing objectives.
7.0 Conditions consistent with Operating Schedule
7.1 As per the 41 conditions on the existing premises licence (See
Appendix 1):
8.0 Conditions in consultation with the responsible authorities/other
person
8.1 None
9.0 Licensing Officer Comments
9.1 The Business & Planning Act 2020 came into force on Wednesday 22nd
July 2020 and provides a temporary permission for businesses that have
a premises licence that permits them to sell alcohol in regards to the
ability to sell alcohol as an off sale, i.e. for consumption off the premises.
The permission will end on 30th September 2022 unless the legislation
is changed by the Secretary of State.

Page 135

It will only apply to businesses that hold a Premises Licence up to 22nd
July 2020 and that in the last 3 years preceding 22 July 2020 those
licences have NOT:

had a premises licence application where permission for off sales
was refused;

had a variation of a premises licence seeking permission for off
sales refused

had a variation seeking to exclude off sales permission granted

had a premises licence varied or modified by a review hearing to
exclude off sales.
The new off-sales permission will permit off-sales to be made at a time
when the licensed premises are open for the purposes of selling alcohol
for consumption on the premises, subject to a cut off time of 11pm or the
cut off time of the current licensed hours stated on the licence,
whichever is earlier. Measures also temporarily suspend existing licence
conditions in so far as they are inconsistent with the new off-sales
permission. Further Guidance on this can be found at
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-for-temporaryalcohol-licensing-provisions-in-the-business-and-planning-bill
9.2 The Live Music Act removed licensing requirements for the following:

amplified live music and recorded music between 8am and 11pm
before audiences of no more than 500 people on premises
authorised to sell alcohol for consumption on the premises;


unamplified live music between 8am and 11pm in all venues.



Further exemptions apply see Section 16.5-16.6 of Section 182
Guidance.

9.3 The following is intended simply to advise Members of the relevant
aspects of the Boroughs Licensing Policy, guidance from the Secretary
of State, legislation and good practice (See 6.2). Members may depart
from the Council’s Licensing Policy and/or Government advice, provide
they consider it appropriate to do so, and have clear reasons for their
decision.
9.4 Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003
 As stated in the guidance it is “provided to licensing authorities in
relation to the carrying out of their functions under the 2003 Act.” It is
a key medium for promoting best practice, ensuring consistent
application and promoting fairness equal treatment and proportionality
(1.7).
 Also “as long as licensing authorities have properly understood this
Guidance, they may depart from it if they have good reason to do so
and can provide full reasons. Departure from this Guidance could give
rise to an appeal or judicial review, and the reasons given will then be

Page 136

a key consideration for the courts when considering the lawfulness
and merits of any decision taken.” Therefore licensing authorities will
need to give full reasons for their actions (1.9).
 Also Members should note “A Licensing Authority may depart from its
own policy if the individual circumstances of any case merit such a
decision in the interests of the promotion of the licensing objectives.”
(1.12)
 Also, “The licensing authority may not impose any conditions unless
its discretion has been exercised following receipt of relevant
representations and it is satisfied as a result of a hearing (unless all
parties agree a hearing is not necessary) that it is appropriate to
impose conditions to promote one or more of the four licensing
objectives.” Therefore, conditions may not be imposed for the
purpose other than promoting the licensing objectives and in some
cases no additional conditions will be appropriate. (10.8)
 Necessary conditions should emerge from a risk assessment by the
applicant, which should then be reflected in the operating schedule
(10.4).
 The Guidance states: “Where there are objections to an application to
extend the hours during which licensable activities are to be carried
on and the licensing authority determines that this would undermine
the licensing objectives, it may reject the application or grant it with
appropriate conditions and/or different hours from those requested.”
(10.14)
 Mandatory conditions must be imposed (10.25) and censorship
avoided (10.17).
 The Guidance states: “It is still permitted to sell alcohol using
promotions (as long as they are compatible with any other licensing
condition that may be in force), and the relevant person should ensure
that the price of the alcohol is not less than the permitted price.
Detailed guidance on the use of promotions is given in the guidance
document available on the Gov.uk website.” (10.58) Also, “Licensing
authorities should not attach standardised blanket conditions
promoting fixed prices for alcoholic drinks to premises licences or club
licences or club premises certificates in an area.” (10.21)
9.5 The Licensing Act 2003 permits children of any age to be on the
premises which primarily sells alcohol providing they are accompanied
by an adult. It is not necessary to make this a condition.
9.6 In all cases the Members should make their decision on the civil burden
of proof, that is “the balance of probability.”
9.7 In all cases Members should consider whether or not primary legislation
is the appropriate method of regulation and should only consider licence

Page 137

conditions when the circumstances in their view are not already
adequately covered elsewhere.
9.8 The Government has advised that conditions must be tailored to the
individual type, location and characteristics of the premises and events
concerned. Conditions cannot seek to manage the behaviour of
customers once they are beyond the direct management of the licence
holder and their staff and standardised conditions should be avoided
where they cannot be shown to be appropriate. (1.16/1.17)
9.9 The Council’s Licensing Policy generally expects applicants to address
the licensing objectives and discuss how to do this with the relevant
responsible authorities.
9.10 In Appendices 7 - 14 Members are given general advice, and also have
explanations of the Council’s Licensing Policy, Government advice and
other legislation relating to the matters previously identified.
10.0 Legal Comments
10.1 The Council’s legal officer will give advice at the hearing.
11.0 Finance Comments
11.1 There are no financial implications in this report.

Page 138

12.0 Appendices

Appendix 1

A copy of the existing licence

Appendix 2

A copy of the variation application

Appendix 3

Maps of the venue

Appendix 4

Photographs showing vicinity of the venue

Appendix 5

Details of nearest licensed venues

Appendix 6

Home Office concerning relevant, vexatious and
frivolous representations

Appendix 7
Appendix 8
Appendix 9
Appendix 10

Licensing Officer comments on noise while the
premise is in use
Licensing Officer comments on access/egress
problems
Licensing Officer comments on crime and
disorder on the premises
Licensing Officer comments on crime and disorder
from patrons leaving the premises

Appendix 11

Licensing Officer comments on public safety

Appendix 12

Licensing Officer comments on the protection of
children from harm

Appendix 13

Planning

Appendix 14

Licensing Policy relating to hours of trading

Appendix 15

Representation of Licensing Authority (RA)

Appendix 16

Representation of 203 supporters

Page 139

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1

Page 141

Lic No:
142897

(Studio Spaces Ltd)
110 Pennington Street
London
E1W 2BB

Licensable Activities authorised by the licence
The sale by retail of alcohol
The provision of regulated entertainment (Plays, Films. Live Music,
Recorded Music, Performance of Dance and Anything of a Similar
Description)
The provision of late night refreshment
See the attached licence for the licence conditions

Signed by

David Tolley
Head of Environmental Health & Trading Standards

Date: 19th December 2011

Variation 01st August 2017
Variation 30th November 2018
Variation following committee hearing – 5th December 2020
Minor Variation 22/11/21

M:\Licensing\Word97\2003 LicAct certs & lics\Prem Lics\PenningtonSt110.doc

Page 142

Page 1 of 16

Part A - Format of premises licence

Premises licence number

142897

Part 1 - Premises details
Postal address of premises, or if none, ordnance survey map reference or
description
(Studio Spaces Ltd)
110 Pennington Street
Post town

Post code

London

E1W 2BB

Telephone number
None
Where the licence is time limited the dates

Not applicable
Licensable activities authorised by the licence




The sale by retail of alcohol
The provision of regulated entertainment
The provision of late night refreshment

M:\Licensing\Word97\2003 LicAct certs & lics\Prem Lics\PenningtonSt110.doc

Page 143

Page 2 of 16

The times the licence authorises the carrying out of licensable activities
Sale of Alcohol
 Sunday to Thursday, from 08.00 hours to 00.00 hours (midnight)
 Friday and Saturday, from 08.00 hours to 07.00 hours the following day
Late night refreshments Indoors
 Sunday to Thursday, from 23.00 hours to 00.00 hours (midnight)
 Friday and Saturday, from 23.00 hours to 07.00 hours the following day
Provision for Regulated Entertainment - Indoors
(Plays, Films. Live Music, Recorded Music, Performance of Dance and Anything
of a Similar Description.
 Sunday to Thursday, from 06:00 hours to 00:00 hours (midnight)
 Friday and Saturday, from 06.00 hours to 07.00 hours the following day
Non-standard timings
 Licensable activities, from the beginning of permitted hours on New Year’s Eve
to the end of permitted hours on New Year’s Day and on all days preceding a
Bank Holiday until 07:00hrs the next day.
Conditions for Garden area (outdoor space)
Sale of Alcohol
 Monday to Sunday 08:00 hours to 20:30 hours with half an hour drink up time
until 21:00 hours.
Provision for Regulated Entertainment – Recorded Music Outdoors for garden
area only
 Monday to Sunday 08:00 hours to 21:00 hours
Photographic Studio
A small indoor photographic studio area 120 meter squared to operate as per the
existing hours permitted on the premises licence. (NOT FOR USE BY THE PUBLIC
DURING THE CORONAVIRUS REGULATIONS)
The opening hours of the premises



Sunday to Thursday, from 06:00hrs to 00:30hrs (the following day)
Friday and Saturday, from 06.00 hours to 07.00 hours the following day

The opening hours of the outdoor space
 Monday to Sunday from 08:00 hours to 21:30 hours.
Non-standard timings
M:\Licensing\Word97\2003 LicAct certs & lics\Prem Lics\PenningtonSt110.doc

Page 144

Page 3 of 16



Licensable activities, from the beginning of permitted hours on New Year’s Eve
to the end of permitted hours on New Year’s Day and on all days preceding a
Bank Holiday until 07:30hrs the next day.

Where the licence authorises supplies of alcohol whether these are on and/ or
off supplies
On sales

Part 2
Name, (registered) address, telephone number and email (where relevant) of
holder of premises licence
Studio Spaces Limited
19-20 Bourne Court
Southend Road
Woodford Green
Essex
IG8 8HD
Tel:
Email:
Registered number of holder, for example company number, charity number
(where applicable)
Limited Company: 06742938
Name, address and telephone number of designated premises supervisor
where the premises licence authorises the supply of alcohol
Yuval Hen

Personal licence number and issuing authority of personal licence held by
designated premises supervisor where the premises licence authorises for the
supply of alcohol
Personal licence number:
issuing authority:
M:\Licensing\Word97\2003 LicAct certs & lics\Prem Lics\PenningtonSt110.doc

Page 145

Page 4 of 16

Annex 1 - Mandatory conditions
No supply of alcohol may be made under the premises licencea) at a time where there is no designated premises supervisor in respect of the
premises licence, or
b) at a time when the designated premises supervisor does not hold a personal
licence or his personal licence is suspended
1.

2.

(1)

The responsible person must ensure that staff on relevant premises do
not carry out, arrange or participate in any irresponsible promotions in
relation to the premises

(2)

In this paragraph, an irresponsible promotion means any one or more of
the following activities, or substantially similar activities, carried on for the
purpose of encouraging the sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on
the premises;
(a) games or other activities which require or encourage, or are designed
to require or encourage, individuals to—
(i) drink a quantity of alcohol within a time limit (other than to
drink alcohol sold or supplied on the premises before the
cessation of the period in which the responsible person is
authorised to sell or supply alcohol), or
(ii) drink as much alcohol as possible (whether within a time
limit or otherwise);
(b)provision of unlimited or unspecified quantities of alcohol free or for a
fixed or discounted fee to the public or to a group defined by a
particular characteristic in a manner which carries a significant risk
of undermining a licensing objective
(c) provision of free or discounted alcohol or any other thing as a prize
to encourage or reward the purchase and consumption of alcohol
over a period of 24 hours or less in a manner which carries a
significant risk of undermining a licensing objective;
(d)selling or supplying alcohol in association with promotional posters or
flyers on, or in the vicinity of, the premises which can reasonably be
considered to condone, encourage or glamorise anti-social
behaviour or to refer to the effects of drunkenness in any favourable
manner;
(e) dispensing alcohol directly by one person into the mouth of another
(other than where that other person is unable to drink without
assistance by reason of disability
The responsible person must ensure that free potable water is provided on
request to customers where it is reasonably available.

M:\Licensing\Word97\2003 LicAct certs & lics\Prem Lics\PenningtonSt110.doc

Page 146

Page 5 of 16

3.
(1)
(2)
(3)

The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must
ensure that an age verification policy is adopted in respect of the
premises in relation to the sale or supply of alcohol.
The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises licence
must ensure that the supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in
accordance with the age verification policy
The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person
to be under 18 years of age (or such older age as may be specified in the
policy) to produce on request, before being served alcohol, identification
bearing their photograph, date of birth and either—
(a) a holographic mark, or
(b)an ultraviolet feature.

4.

The responsible person must ensure that—
(a) where any of the following alcoholic drinks is sold or supplied for
consumption on the premises (other than alcoholic drinks sold or
supplied having been made up in advance ready for sale or supply
in a securely closed container) it is available to customers in the
following measures—
(i) beer or cider: ½ pint
(ii) gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25 ml or 35 ml; and
(iii) still wine in a glass: 125 ml;
(b)these measures are displayed in a menu, price list or other printed
material which is available to customers on the premises; and
(c) where a customer does not in relation to a sale of alcohol specify
the quantity of alcohol to be sold, the customer is made aware that
these measures are available.

5.

1. A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for
consumption on or off the premises for a price which is less than the
permitted price.
2. For the purposes of the condition set out in paragraph 1—
(a)

“duty” is to be construed in accordance with the Alcoholic Liquor
Duties Act 1979;

(b)

“permitted price” is the price found by applying the formula —
P = D + (D x V)
where —
(i) P is the permitted price
(ii) D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol
as if the duty were charged on the date of the sale or supply
of the alcohol, and

M:\Licensing\Word97\2003 LicAct certs & lics\Prem Lics\PenningtonSt110.doc

Page 147

Page 6 of 16

(c)

(d)

(e)

(iii) V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the
alcohol as if the value added tax were charged on the date
of the sale or supply of the alcohol;
“relevant person” means, in relation to premises in respect of which
there is in force a premises licence
(i) the holder of the premises licence
(ii) the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of
such a licence, or
(iii) the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a
supply of alcohol under such a licence
“relevant person” means, in relation to premises in respect of which
there is in force a club premises certificate, any member or officer of
the club present on the premises in a capacity which enables the
member or officer to prevent the supply in question; and
“value added tax” means value added tax charged in accordance
with the Value Added Tax Act 1994

3. Where the permitted price given by Paragraph (b) of paragraph 2 would
(apart from this paragraph) not be a whole number of pennies, the price
given by that sub-paragraph shall be taken to be the price actually given
by that sub-paragraph rounded up to the nearest penny.
4. (1) Sub-paragraph (2) applies where the permitted price given by
Paragraph (b) of paragraph 2 on a day (“the first day”) would be
different from the permitted price on the next day (“the second day”)
as a result of a change to the rate of duty or value added tax
(2) The permitted price which would apply on the first day applies to
sales or supplies of alcohol which take place before the expiry of the
period of 14 days beginning on the second day
Films
Where the exhibition of films is authorised, the admission of children to the
exhibition of any film must be to be restricted as follows: If the London Borough
of Tower Hamlets Licensing Section has issued a particular notification of
restriction to the licence holder, that restriction must be adhered. Otherwise the
recommendation of the film classification body must be followed. Children
means persons aged under 18 and “film classification body” means the person or
persons designated as the authority under section 4 of the Video Recordings Act
1984 (currently the British Board of Film Classification)

M:\Licensing\Word97\2003 LicAct certs & lics\Prem Lics\PenningtonSt110.doc

Page 148

Page 7 of 16

Annex 2 - Conditions consistent with the operating Schedule
1) No nudity or semi nudity permitted;
2) During the hours of operation there shall be no noise nuisance audible from
the premises within 1metre from the façade of the nearest noise
sensitive residential premises;
3) Signs shall be displayed to inform all customers that the premises operate a
zero tolerance drugs policy;
4) The premises shall comply with the dispersal policy;
5) Any outside promoters seeking to use the venue for a mainstream
disco/nightclub event shall require prior approval from the Licensing Officer at
Tower Hamlets Police Service;
6) The premises shall provide a free phone linked to a licensed taxi firm for use
by customers at the premises;
7) The premises shall cease the use of such taxi firms where they breach any of
the below rules more than once:
a) Use the horn after 23:00 hours (except in an emergency) when
collecting/delivering persons to the premises.
b) Leave their vehicles to collect patrons from the premises.
c) Double park their vehicles outside the premises.
Where rules are breached by APP based taxi firms (or ones not appointed by
the premises) the licence holder will report breaches of a) and c) to TFL
providing the registration and where available the taxi licence number.
Premises must designate a pick spot for taxi’s to minimise the impact of any
noise on residents.
8) The premises shall use all reasonable endeavours to prevent the use of
unlicensed taxis by patrons leaving the premises;
9) The premises shall maintain and provide the details of a contact number for
any local residents living within 100metres of the premises;
10) The premises shall discourage any attempt by organisers, artist or users of
the premises to advertise by fly posting or using illegal placards;
11) Children aged 14 and under shall be permitted to the premises if
accompanied by an adult;

M:\Licensing\Word97\2003 LicAct certs & lics\Prem Lics\PenningtonSt110.doc

Page 149

Page 8 of 16

12) Signs shall be displayed stating that any person who appears to be under the
age of 21 shall be required to provide appropriate proof of age;
13) The premises shall ensure consideration of given whether there should be an
age restriction to music, dance, exhibitions, publication, multimedia, education
and research projects being shown at the premises;
14) Signage shall be displayed asking patrons to leave the premises quietly;
15) CCTV. The CCTV system shall incorporate a recording facility and any
recordings shall be retained and stored in a suitable and secure manner for a
minimum of 31days. A system shall be in place to maintain the quality of the
recorded image and a complete audit trail maintained. The system will comply
with other essential legislation, and all signs as required will be clearly
displayed. The system will be maintained and fully operational throughout the
hours that the premises are open for any licensable activity. There must also
be someone on the premises, who can download the images and present
them immediately on request by a police officer or other responsible authority;
16) Use of incident book and refusal book to be followed as per the new security
plan and ejection policy, entry policy, drug policy and dispersal policy
mentioned in conditions 19-22.
17) A record shall be kept detailing all refused sales of alcohol. The record must
include the date and time of the refused sale, the name of the member of staff
who refused the sale, and the reason for the refusal, and what the outcome
was, i.e. if left with friends, taxi called etc. The record shall be available for
inspection at the premises by a police or Authorised Council Officer all times
whilst the premises is open.
18) All persons entering or re-entering the premises shall be searched by a SIA
licensed member of staff while monitored by the premises CCTV system. The
search shall include a metal detecting search using an arch or wand, followed
by a physical search, and a full bag search.
19) The premises must have a detailed documented security plan that must
include an ejections policy, which must be made available to police upon
request.
20) A written dispersal policy shall be in place and implemented at the premises
to move customers from the premises and the immediate vicinity in such a
way as to cause minimum disturbance or nuisance to neighbours.
21) A written entry policy shall be in place and implemented at the premises to
move customers into the premises in such a way as to cause minimum
disturbance or nuisance to neighbours. The policy shall include details on
queue management to ensure any queue to enter the premises the premises
M:\Licensing\Word97\2003 LicAct certs & lics\Prem Lics\PenningtonSt110.doc

Page 150

Page 9 of 16

is managed effectively and supervised by door staff to ensure that there is no
public nuisance or obstruction to the public highway.
22) A written egress policy shall be in place and implemented at the premises to
move customers into the premises in such a way as to cause minimum
disturbance or nuisance to neighbours. The policy shall include details on
queue management to ensure any queue to enter the premises is managed
effectively and supervised by door staff to ensure that there is no public
nuisance or obstruction to the public highway.
23) The premises shall adopt the Central East Police Licensing Drugs Policy.
24) The premises will carry out a risk assessment into all artists and promoters
appearing at the venue. The purpose of this is to identify any risks and
measures that can be put in place to mitigate against them. Research will
include but is not limited to contacting venues they have appeared recently
and looking at their social media sites. Mitigating measures will include but is
not limited to SIA numbers, male and female SIA ratio, SIA placement. This
risk assessment, including all identified risks and mitigating measures taken,
must be a documented and made available to Police upon request.
25) The premises shall use an ID scanner that uses photographic identification
documents such as ID cards, passports etc, all persons entering the premises
where regulated entertainment is provided, and or after 8pm shall have their
ID scanned by this device. Weddings, film productions, photo shoots, product
launches and corporate events shall be excluded from the requirements of
this condition provided that the venue has a list of those attending the
premises for such events.
26) The premises security, egress, dispersal plans and searching policy as well
as searching effectiveness shall be reviewed every 6 months and the results
made available to Police upon request.
27) A Cloakroom shall be in operation when events including regulated
entertainment are taking place.
28) A Toilet attendant shall be in operation in all toilets when events which include
regulated entertainment are taking place, or when internal risk assessments
require it. This attendant must report any sightings or suspicion of drug use
or dealing to a member of security immediately via radio link.
29) The customers leaving the venue will be guided via security staff from the
venue to direct customer down Pennington Street and up Chigwell Hill and on
to The Highway. The egress of these customers from the venue along this
route this route must be managed effectively by venue Security Staff to
minimise noise from the customers and deter NOx Sellers

M:\Licensing\Word97\2003 LicAct certs & lics\Prem Lics\PenningtonSt110.doc

Page 151

Page 10 of 16

Annex 3 - Conditions attached after a hearing by the licensing authorityAttached since 5th December 2020

Conditions as per Operating Schedule for garden area
1. Staff training will be given in responsible sales of alcohol and health &
safety regulations.
2. Regular monitoring of all area of the premises shall take place by
management.
3. Notices asking customers to leave quietly shall be displayed
4. The premises shall install and maintain a comprehensive CCTV system as
per the minimum requirements of the Tower Hamlets Police Licensing
Team. All entry and exit points will be covered enabling frontal
identification of every person entering in any light condition. The CCTV
system shall continually record whilst the premises is open for licensable
activities and during all times when customers remain on the premises. All
recordings shall be stored for a minimum period of 31 days with date and
time stamping. Viewing of recordings shall be made available immediately
upon the request of Police or authorised officer throughout the entire 31day period.
5. A staff member from the premises who is conversant with the operation of
the CCTV system shall be on the premises at all times when the premises
are open. This staff member must be able to provide a Police or
authorised council officer copies of recent CCTV images or data with the
absolute minimum of delay when requested.
6. There shall be a personal licence holder on duty on the premises at all
times when the premises are authorised to sell alcohol.
7. A minimum of 1 SIA licensed door supervisors per 100 customers shall be
on duty at the premises at all times whilst it is open for business.
8. An incident log shall be kept at the premises and be available on request
to the Police or an authorised officer. It must be completed within 24 hours
of any incident and will record the following:
a) all crimes reported to the venue;
b) all ejections of patrons;
c) any complaints received concerning crime and disorder
d) any incidents of disorder;
e) all seizures of drugs or offensive weapons;
M:\Licensing\Word97\2003 LicAct certs & lics\Prem Lics\PenningtonSt110.doc

Page 152

Page 11 of 16

f) any faults in the CCTV system, searching equipment or scanning
equipment;
g) any refusal of the sale of alcohol;
h) any visit by a relevant authority or emergency service.
9. In the event that a serious assault is committed on the premises (or
appears to have been committed) the management will immediately
ensure that:
a) the police (and, where appropriate, the London Ambulance Service)
are called without delay;
b) all measures that are reasonably practicable are taken to
apprehend any suspects pending the arrival of the police;
c) the crime scene is preserved so as to enable a full forensic
investigation to be carried out by the police; and
d) such other measures are taken (as appropriate) to fully protect the
safety of all persons present on the premises.
10. All drinking vessels used in the venue shall be polycarbonate. All drinks in
glass bottles are to be decanted into polycarbonate containers or
polycarbonate carafes prior to being served. Customers shall not be
permitted to leave their table carrying any such glass bottles or drink
directly from the bottle.
11. Challenge 25 proof of age scheme shall be operated at the premises
where the only acceptable forms of identification are recognised
photographic identification cards, such as a driving licence, passport or
proof of age card with the PASS Hologram.
12. Sound system for outside use to be controlled by sound limiter and all
music noise to be inaudible at residential premises.

M:\Licensing\Word97\2003 LicAct certs & lics\Prem Lics\PenningtonSt110.doc

Page 153

Page 12 of 16

Annex 4 - Plans
The plans are those submitted to the licensing authority on the following date:
5th December 2014 - Ground Floor (Units 1 and 2)

M:\Licensing\Word97\2003 LicAct certs & lics\Prem Lics\PenningtonSt110.doc

Page 154

Page 13 of 16

The plans are those submitted to the licensing authority on the following date
9th July 2020 – Plan of the outdoor licensed garden area, including new layout for
indoor photographic studio

M:\Licensing\Word97\2003 LicAct certs & lics\Prem Lics\PenningtonSt110.doc

Page 155

Page 14 of 16

Licensing Act 2003

Part B - Premises licence summary

Premises licence number

142897

Premises details
Postal address of premises, or if none, ordnance survey map reference or
description
(Studio Spaces Ltd)
110 Pennington Street
Post town

Post code

London
Telephone number

E1W 2BB

None
Where the licence is time limited the
dates

Not applicable

Licensable activities authorised by the
licence

The sale by retail of alcohol
The provision of regulated entertainment
(Plays, Films. Live Music, Recorded Music,
Performance of Dance and Anything of a
Similar Description)
The provision of late night refreshment

The times the
licence
authorises the
carrying out of
licensable
activities

Sale of Alcohol
Sunday to Thursday, from 08.00 hours to 00.00 hours (midnight)
Friday and Saturday, from 08.00 hours to 07.00 hours
Late night refreshments Indoors
Sunday to Thursday, from 23.00 hours to 00.00 hours (midnight)
Friday and Saturday, from 23.00 hours to 07.00 hours
Provision for Regulated Entertainment – Indoors
(Plays, Films. Live Music, Recorded Music, Performance of Dance
and Anything of a Similar Description.
Sunday to Thursday, from 06:00 hours to 00:00 hours (midnight)
Friday and Saturday, from 06.00 hours to 07.00 hours the following day

M:\Licensing\Word97\2003 LicAct certs & lics\Prem Lics\PenningtonSt110.doc

Page 156

Page 15 of 16

Non-standard timings
 Licensable activities, from the beginning of permitted hours on
New Year’s Eve to the end of permitted hours on New Year’s
Day and on all days preceding a Bank Holiday until 07:00hrs the
next day.
Garden area only: (outdoor space)
Sale of Alcohol
Monday to Sunday 08:00 hours to 20:30 hours with half an hour drink
up time until 21:00 hours.
Provision for Regulated Entertainment – Recorded Music
Outdoors for garden area only
Monday to Sunday 08:00 hours to 21:00 hours
Photographic Studio
A small indoor photographic studio area 120 meter squared to operate
as per the existing hours permitted on the premises licence. (NOT FOR
USE BY THE PUBLIC DURING THE CORONAVIRUS
REGULATIONS)

The opening
hours of the
premises

Sunday to Thursday, from 06:00hrs to 00:30hrs
Friday and Saturday, from 06:00hrs to 07:30hrs the following day
Non-standard timings
Licensable activities, from the beginning of permitted hours on New
Year’s Eve to the end of permitted hours on New Year’s Day and on all
days preceding a Bank Holiday until 07:30hrs the next day.
The opening hours of the outdoor space only:
Monday to Sunday from 08:00 hours to 21:30 hours.

Name, (registered) address of holder
of premises licence

Studio Spaces Limited
19-20 Bourne Court
Southend Road
Woodford Green IG8 8HD

Where the licence authorises supplies
of alcohol

On sales

Registered company number

Limited Company: 06742938

Name of designated premises
supervisor

Yuval Hen

State whether access to the premises
by children is restricted or prohibited

Children aged 14 and under shall be permitted
to the premises if accompanied by an adult.

M:\Licensing\Word97\2003 LicAct certs & lics\Prem Lics\PenningtonSt110.doc

Page 157

Page 16 of 16

Appendix 2

Page 158

Page 159

Appendix 3

Page 160

.

110 Penn

Legend
Local Land and Property Gazetteer
Ward Boundaries
Ward Boundaries
LAP Boundaries
LAP Boundaries

Page 161

0 0.0075
0.015

0.03

0.045

0.06
km

.

110 Penn

Legend
Local Land and Property Gazetteer
Ward Boundaries
Ward Boundaries
LAP Boundaries
LAP Boundaries

Page 162

0 0.0150.03

0.06

0.09

0.12
km

Appendix 4

Page 163

Premises Pictures - (Studio Spaces Ltd / E1), 110 Pennington Street, London E1W
2BB

Page 164

Appendix 5

Page 165

Nearest licences: (Studio Spaces Ltd / E1), 110 Pennington Street, London
E1W 2BB
Name and
address
(Great Chef
London
Limited)
Unit 301
110 Pennington
Street
London
E1W 2BB
(Gingerline Ltd)
London Dock
Basement
Warehouse (45)
9 Pennington
Street
London
EW1 2AD
(Tobacco
Dock)
50 Porters
Walk
London
E1W 2SF

Licensable activities and hours

Opening hours

The Supply of Alcohol (off sales only)
 Monday to Sunday from 11:30hrs to 23:30hrs

Monday to Sunday
from 11:30hrs to
23:30hrs

The provision of Late Night Refreshment
 Monday to Sunday from 23:00hrs to 23:30hrs

Sale by retail of alcohol (On sales only)
 Monday to Sunday, from 18:00 hours to 23:30
hours
The provision of regulated entertainment – Indoors
Plays, Films. Recorded Music and anything of a similar
description
 Monday to Sunday, from 18:00 hours to 23:30
hours
The sale by retail of alcohol (on and off sales)
 Monday to Sunday from 10:00hours to
00:30hours (the following day)
 Dock Street Bar only Wednesday to Friday 12
noon to 23:00 hours (see condition 3)
 The sale of alcohol for a pre-booked event so
notified in accordance with condition 2 on Level
10 and 11between 12 noon and 2300
 The sale of alcohol to the public on Level 9,10
and 11 of the car park labelled on the plan
between the hours of 12noon and 2300 Thursday
to Sunday.
The Provision of Late Night Refreshments - Indoors
 Monday to Sunday from 23:00hours to
01:00hours (the following day)
The Provision of Regulated Entertainment - Indoors
(Live music, recorded music, performance of dance and
anything of a similar description)
 Monday to Sunday from 10:00hours to
01:00hours (the following day)
Non-Standard Timing
 All Licensable activities until 02:00 hours (the
following day) for a maximum 15 occasions in a
calendar year

Page 166

Premises not open to
public, online
deliveries only
Monday to Sunday,
from 18:00 hours to
23:30 hours

Monday to Sunday
from 08:00hours to
01:30hours (the
following day)
Non-Standard Timing
Until 02:30 hours (the
following day) for a
maximum 15
occasions in a
calendar year

Appendix 6

Page 167

Section 182 Advice by the Home Office
Updated on April 2018
Relevant, vexatious and frivolous representations
9.4 A representation is “relevant” if it relates to the likely effect of the grant of the
licence on the promotion of at least one of the licensing objectives. For
example, a representation from a local businessperson about the commercial
damage caused by competition from new licensed premises would not be
relevant. On the other hand, a representation by a businessperson that
nuisance caused by new premises would deter customers from entering the
local area, and the steps proposed by the applicant to prevent that nuisance
were inadequate, would be relevant. In other words, representations should
relate to the impact of licensable activities carried on from premises on the
objectives. For representations in relation to variations to be relevant, they
should be confined to the subject matter of the variation. There is no
requirement for a responsible authority or other person to produce a recorded
history of problems at premises to support their representations, and in fact
this would not be possible for new premises.
9.5 It is for the licensing authority to determine whether a representation (other
than a representation from responsible authority) is frivolous or vexatious on
the basis of what might ordinarily be considered to be vexatious or frivolous.
A representation may be considered to be vexatious if it appears to be
intended to cause aggravation or annoyance, whether to a competitor or other
person, without reasonable cause or justification. Vexatious circumstances
may arise because of disputes between rival businesses and local knowledge
will therefore be invaluable in considering such matters. Licensing authorities
can consider the main effect of the representation, and whether any
inconvenience or expense caused by it could reasonably be considered to be
proportionate.
9.6 Frivolous representations would be essentially categorised by a lack of
seriousness. Frivolous representations would concern issues which, at most,
are minor and in relation to which no remedial steps would be warranted or
proportionate.
9.7 Any person who is aggrieved by a rejection of their representations on either
of these grounds may lodge a complaint through the local authority’s
corporate complaints procedure. A person may also challenge the authority’s
decision by way of judicial review.
9.8 Licensing authorities should not take decisions about whether
representations are frivolous, vexatious or relevant to the licensing
objectives on the basis of any political judgement. This may be difficult for
councillors who receive complaints from residents within their own wards. If
consideration is not to be delegated, contrary to the recommendation in this

Page 168

Guidance, an assessment should be prepared by officials for consideration
by the sub- committee before any decision is taken that necessitates a
hearing. Any councillor who considers that their own interests are such that
they are unable to consider the matter independently should disqualify
themselves.
9.9 It is recommended that, in borderline cases, the benefit of the doubt about any
aspect of a representation should be given to the person making that
representation. The subsequent hearing would then provide an opportunity for
the person or body making the representation to amplify and clarify it.
9.10
Licensing authorities should consider providing advice on their websites
about how any person can make representations to them.

Page 169

Appendix 7

Page 170

Noise while the premise is in use
General Advice
If they conclude this is a problem Members should consider whether it is
possible to carry out suitable and proportionate noise control measures so that
noise leakage is prevented. In addition Members may consider that only certain
activities are suitable.
The hours of operation also need to be considered (see below).
If Members believe that there is a substantial problem of noise while the
premises are in use and it cannot be proportionately address by licensing
conditions they should refuse the application.
Licensing Policy
The policy recognises that noise nuisance can be an issue, especially if a
premises is open late at night. (See Sections 9.1 of the Licensing Policy).
While all applications will be considered on their merits, consideration will be
given to imposing stricter conditions in respect of noise control where premises
are situated close to local residents. (See Section 14.10).
The Licensing Authority expects the applicant to have addressed all nuisance
issues relating to the premises in their operating schedule and to have sought
appropriate advice from the Council’s Environmental Health Officers. (See
Section 9.2 of the Licensing Policy).
The Licensing Authority will consider attaching conditions to prevent
nuisance. In particular Members may wish to consider (this list is not
exhaustive):
• hours of opening (this needs to be balanced against potential disorder
caused by artificially early closing times
• Whether certain parts should close earlier than the rest (for example a
“beer garden”, or restricted in their use
• Whether or not certain activities should have to close at an early hour,
for example live music
• Conditions controlling noise or vibration (for example, noise limiters,
keeping doors and windows closed).
• Prominent clear and legible notices at all exits requesting the public to
respect the needs of local residents and leave the premises and area
quietly
• Conditions controlling the use of explosives, pyrotechnics and fireworks
• Conditions controlling the placing of refuse
• Conditions controlling noxious smells
• Conditions controlling lighting (this needs to be balanced against
potential crime prevention benefits)

Page 171

Police Powers
Part 8 of the Licensing Act 2003 enables a senior police officer to close down
a premises for up to 24 hrs where public nuisance is being caused by noise
coming from the premises and the closure of the premises is necessary to
prevent that nuisance.
Guidance Issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003
The prevention of public nuisance could include low-level nuisance, perhaps
affecting a few people living locally as well as major disturbance affecting the
whole community (2.15).
Licence conditions should not duplicate other legislation (1.16).
Necessary and appropriate conditions should normally focus on the most
sensitive periods (2.19) and may address disturbance as customers enter or
leave the premises but it is essential that conditions are focused on measures
within the direct control of the licence holder.
Other Legislation
The Environmental Protection Act 1990, Part 111 gives Environmental Health
Officers the power to deal with statutory nuisances.
The Anti-social Behaviour Act 2003, Sections 40 and 41 give Environmental
Health Officers the power of closure up to 24 hours in certain circumstances.

Page 172

Appendix 8

Page 173

Access and Egress Problems
Such as:
Disturbance from patrons arriving/leaving the premises on foot
Disturbance from patrons arriving/leaving the premises by car
Lack of adequate car parking facilities
Close proximity to residential properties
Comment
The above have been grouped together as egress problems. Of course the
particular facts will be different for each alleged problem.
Egress only is referred to-if necessary access can be added or substituted in.
General Advice
In considering concerns relating to disturbance from egress, Members need to
be satisfied that the premises under consideration has been identified as the
source of the actual or potential disturbance. If they are satisfied that this is a
problem, then proportionate conditions should be considered.
The hours of operation also need to be considered.
If Members believe that there is a substantial problem concerning egress and it
cannot be proportionately addressed by licensing conditions, they should
refuse the application.
Licensing Policy
The policy recognises that noise nuisance can be an issue, especially if a
premises is open late at night. (See Section 10 of the Licensing Policy).
The Licensing Authority expects the applicant to have addressed all nuisance
issues relating to the premises in their operating schedule and to have sought
appropriate advice from the Council’s Environmental Health Officers. (See
Section 10.2 of the Licensing Policy).
The policy also recognises that staggered closing can help prevent problems at
closure time (See Section 15.1).
However, while all applications will be considered on their merits, consideration
will be given to imposing stricter conditions in respect of noise control where
premises are situated close to local residents. (See Section 15.5)
The Council has adopted a set of framework hours (See 15.8 of the
licensing policy). This relates to potential disturbance caused by late night
trading.

Page 174

The Licensing Authority will consider attaching conditions to prevent nuisance
and these may include Conditions drawn from the Model Pool of Conditions
relating to the prevention of Public Nuisance. (See Annex G of the
Licensing Policy). In particular Members may wish to consider (this list is
not exhaustive):
• hours of opening (this needs to be balanced against potential
disorder caused by artificially early closing times
• Whether certain parts should close earlier than the rest (for example
a “beer garden”, or restricted in their use
• Whether or not certain activities should have to close at an early
hour, for example live music
• Conditions controlling noise or vibration (for example, noise
limiters, keeping doors and windows closed).
• Prominent clear and legible notices at all exits requesting the public
to respect the needs of local residents and leave the premises and
area quietly
Guidance Issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003
The prevention of public nuisance could include low-level nuisance, perhaps
affecting a few people living locally as well as major disturbance affecting
the whole community. (2.15).
Licence conditions should not duplicate other legislation (1.16).
Any conditions should be tailored to the type, nature and characteristics of
the specific premises. Licensing authorities should be aware of the need to
avoid inappropriate or disproportionate measures that could deter events
that are valuable to the community, such as live music. Noise limiters, for
example, are very expensive to purchase and install and are likely to be a
considerable burden for smaller venues. (2.19)
Measures can include ensuring the safe departure of customers, these
can include:
• Providing information on the premises of local taxi companies who
can provide safe transportation home; and
• Ensuring adequate lighting outside the premises, particularly on
paths leading to and from the premises and in car parks
Necessary and appropriate conditions should normally focus on the most
sensitive periods (2.19) and may address disturbance as customers enter or
leave the premises but it is essential that conditions are focused on
measures within the direct control of the licence holder.

Page 175

Appendix 9

Page 176

Anti-Social Behaviour on the Premises
Licensing Policy
The Licensing Authority expects the applicant to have addressed all crime and
disorder issues relating to the premises in their operating schedule and to
have sought appropriate advice. (See Section 6 of the Licensing Policy)
The Licensing Authority will consider attaching conditions to deter crime and
disorder and these may include conditions drawn from the Model Poll of
Conditions relating to Crime and Disorder. (See Appendix 3 of the Licensing
Policy). In particular Members may wish to consider (this list is not exhaustive):
• Methods of management communication
• Use of registered Door Supervisors
• Bottle Bans
• Plastic containers
• CCTV
• Restrictions on open containers for “off sales”
• Restrictions on drinking areas
• Capacity
• Proof of Age scheme
• Crime prevention notices
• Drinks promotions-aimed at stopping irresponsible promotions
• Signage
• Seating plans
• Capacity
If Members believe that there is a substantial problem of anti-social behaviour
and it cannot be proportionately addressed by licensing conditions they should
refuse the application.
Police Powers
The Licensing Act 2003, Part 8 gives a senior police officer the power to close
a premises for up to 24 hours where the officer believes there is, or is likely to
be disorder on or in the vicinity and closure is necessary in the interests of
public safety.
Guidance Issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003
The pool of conditions, adopted by the Council is recommended (Annexe D).
The key role of the Police and SIA is acknowledged (2.1-2.2).
Conditions attached to licences cannot seek to manage the behaviour of
customers once they are beyond the direct management of the licence holder

Page 177

and their staff or agents, but can directly impact on the behaviour of customers
in the immediate vicinity of the premises as they seek entry or leave (1.16).
Conditions are best targeted on deterrence and preventing crime and disorder
(2.3) communication, CCTV, police liaison, no glasses, capacity limits are all
relevant (2.3 - 2.6).
The Guidance recognises working with Home Office Immigration Enforcement in
the prevention of immigration crime. Licence conditions that are considered
appropriate for the prevention of illegal working in licensed premises might
include requiring a premises licence holder to undertake right to work checks on
all staff employed at the licensed premises or requiring that a copy of any
document checked as part of a right to work check are retained at the licensed
premises.
Guidance Issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003
Conditions can be imposed for large capacity “vertical consumption” premises
(10.23 – 10.24).
Guidance Issued by the Office of Fair Trading
This relates to attempts to control minimum prices.
Other Legislation
•

The Council has a duty under Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act
1998 to do all it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder

Page 178

Appendix 10

Page 179

Anti-Social Behaviour on the Premises
Licensing Policy
The Licensing Authority expects the applicant to have addressed all crime and
disorder issues relating to the premises in their operating schedule and to
have sought appropriate advice. (See Section 6 of the Licensing Policy)
The Licensing Authority will consider attaching conditions to deter crime and
disorder and these may include conditions drawn from the Model Poll of
Conditions relating to Crime and Disorder. (See Appendix 3 of the Licensing
Policy). In particular Members may wish to consider (this list is not exhaustive):
• Methods of management communication
• Use of registered Door Supervisors
• Bottle Bans
• Plastic containers
• CCTV
• Restrictions on open containers for “off sales”
• Restrictions on drinking areas
• Capacity
• Proof of Age scheme
• Crime prevention notices
• Drinks promotions-aimed at stopping irresponsible promotions
• Signage
• Seating plans
• Capacity
If Members believe that there is a substantial problem of anti-social behaviour
and it cannot be proportionately addressed by licensing conditions they should
refuse the application.
Police Powers
The Licensing Act 2003, Part 8 gives a senior police officer the power to close
a premises for up to 24 hours where the officer believes there is, or is likely to
be disorder on or in the vicinity and closure is necessary in the interests of
public safety.
Guidance Issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003
The pool of conditions, adopted by the Council is recommended (Annexe D).
The key role of the Police and SIA is acknowledged (2.1-2.2).
Conditions attached to licences cannot seek to manage the behaviour of
customers once they are beyond the direct management of the licence holder

Page 180

and their staff or agents, but can directly impact on the behaviour of customers
in the immediate vicinity of the premises as they seek entry or leave (1.16).
Conditions are best targeted on deterrence and preventing crime and disorder
(2.3) communication, CCTV, police liaison, no glasses, capacity limits are all
relevant (2.3 - 2.6).
The Guidance recognises working with Home Office Immigration Enforcement in
the prevention of immigration crime. Licence conditions that are considered
appropriate for the prevention of illegal working in licensed premises might
include requiring a premises licence holder to undertake right to work checks on
all staff employed at the licensed premises or requiring that a copy of any
document checked as part of a right to work check are retained at the licensed
premises.
Guidance Issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003
Conditions can be imposed for large capacity “vertical consumption” premises
(10.23 – 10.24).
Guidance Issued by the Office of Fair Trading
This relates to attempts to control minimum prices.
Other Legislation
•

The Council has a duty under Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act
1998 to do all it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder

Page 181

Appendix 11

Page 182

Safety Problems
General Advice
Members need to bear in mind the substantial amount of primary legislation in
this area, and to only impose conditions where they are both proportionate to
identified problems and not adequately covered by primary legislation.
The larger and more complex a premises before Members, the more likely it is
that specific conditions will be proportionate and necessary.
Licensing Policy
Premises should be constructed so as to minimise public safety risks. (See
7.1).
The Licensing Authority expects applicants to seek advice from both the
relevant Health and Safety body and also the Fire and Emergency Planning
Authority. (See 7.2). The applicant should identify where existing legislation is
not adequate. (See 7.3).
The Licensing Authority will consider attaching conditions to ensure public
safety and these may include Conditions drawn from the Model Pool of
Conditions relating to public safety. (See Appendix 2 Annex E, F and J of the
Licensing Policy). In particular Members may wish to consider the following
headings: (this list is not exhaustive):
Annex E
• Adequate arrangements for people with disabilities, inc. their
awareness of them.
• Escape routes
• Safety checks
• Curtains, hangings, decorations, upholstery etc.
• Accommodation limits
• Fire action notices
• Emergency procedures
• Water
• Emergency vehicle access
• First aid
• Lighting
• Temporary electrical installations
• Alterations to the premises
• Special effects

Annex F

Page 183

This concerns Theatres and Cinemas
Annex J
The safe clubbing checklist
Guidance Issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003
The public safety objective “Licence holders have a responsibility to ensure
the safety of those using their premises, as a part of their duties under the
2003 Act. This concerns the safety of people using a relevant premises rather
than public health, which is addressed in other legislation” (2.6). For example,
conditions should not be imposed on a premises licence or club premises
certificate which relate to cleanliness or hygiene.
2.7, A number of matters should be considered in relation to public safety.
These may include:
• Fire safety;
• Ensuring appropriate access for emergency services such as
ambulances;
• Good communication with local authorities and emergency services,
forexample communications networks with the police and signing up for
local incident alerts (see paragraph 2.4 above);
• Ensuring the presence of trained first aiders on the premises and
appropriate first aid kits;
• Ensuring the safety of people when leaving the premises (for example,
through the provision of information on late-night transportation);
• Ensuring appropriate and frequent waste disposal, particularly of glass
bottles;
• Ensuring appropriate limits on the maximum capacity of the premises
(see paragraphs
• 2.11-2.12, and Chapter 10; and
• Considering the use of CCTV in and around the premises (as noted in
paragraph 2.3 above, this may also assist with promoting the crime and
disorder objective).
Safe capacities “should only be imposed where necessary for the promotion
of public safety or the prevention of disorder.” (2.11). Therefore, conditions of
a fire certificate must not be reproduced.
Other Legislation
•
•

The Health and Safety at Work Act 1974, and various Regs.
The Regulatory Reform Order (Fire Safety) 2005.

Other Guidance

Page 184

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Model National and Standard Conditions for Places of Public
Entertainment and Assoc. Guidance
The Event Safety Guide
Managing Crowds Safely
5 Steps to Risk Assessment
Safer Clubbing
Safety Guidance for Street Art etc.
Various BS and ISO standards

Page 185

Appendix 12

Page 186

Licensing Policy Updated November 2018

Protection of children from harm
10.1 The wide range of premises that require licensing means that children
can be expected to visit many of these, often on their own, for food
and/or entertainment. The protection of children from harm includes
the protection of children from moral, psychological and physical
harm. This includes not only protecting children from the harms
associated directly with alcohol consumption but also wider harms
such as exposure to strong language and sexual expletives (for
example, in the context of exposure to certain films or adult
entertainment). Home Office Guidance also expects Licensing
authorities to consider the need to protect children from sexual
exploitation when undertaking licensing functions.
10.2 Tackling Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) is a key target both locally
and nationally as such the Licensing Authority expects Licence
Holders to:
•
•
•

Understand that there are criminal offences in relation to
sexual exploitation of a child,
Ensure that they and their employees have a basic
awareness of the signs of CSE and how to report it;
Report any concerns to the appropriate authorities or to the
Licensing Authority can advise them of the appropriate
authority to report concerns to.

10.3 Applicants are to consult with the Responsible Authority designated
for Child Protection listed in appendix 1 - List of Responsible
Authorities of this who this Licensing Authority recognises to be
competent body to advise on the protection of children from harm.
10.4 The Act does not prohibit children from having access to any licensed
premises; the Council recognises that limitations may have to be
considered where it appears necessary to protect children from
harm.
10.5 The Licensing Authority will judge the merits of each separate
application before deciding whether to impose conditions limiting the
access of children to individual premises. The following are examples
of premises that will raise concern:•

Where there have been convictions, Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs)
or formal cautions for serving alcohol to minors or with a reputation
for underage drinking

Page 187

•

With a known association with drug taking or dealing

•

Where there is a strong element of gambling on the premises

•

Where entertainment of an adult or sexual nature is provided

•

Where irresponsible drinking is encouraged or permitted.

10.6 Where its discretion is engaged, the Licensing Authority will consider
any of the following options when dealing with a licence application
where limiting the access of children is considered necessary to
prevent harm to children:
•

Limitations on the hours when children may be present,

•

Limitations on ages below 18,

•

Limitations or exclusion when certain activities are taking place,

•

Requirements for an accompanying adult,

•

Full exclusion of people under 18 from the premises when any
licensable activities are taking place.

10.7 No conditions will be imposed requiring that children must be
admitted to any premises and, where no limitation is imposed, this
will be left to the discretion of the individual licensee.
10.8 The Act details a number of offences designed to protect children in
licensed premises and the Licensing Authority will work closely with
the police to ensure the appropriate enforcement of the law,
especially relating to the sale and supply of alcohol to children.
10.9 All licence holders will be expected to comply the Portman Group
Code of Practice, and in particular the Retailer Alert Bulletin by which
the Portman Group informs licensed retailers, which products have
been found to be in breach of the code, and should be removed from
sale.
10.10 The Licensing Authority expects all licensed suppliers of alcohol to
have robust measures, effectively managed and monitored, in place
to ensure that minors are fully protected from harm. This will require
operating plans to specify these measures and management controls
taking into account paragraph 10.1 and 10.2 above. Where
appropriate a written childcare policy should be available and be
incorporated in the induction of staff.

Page 188

10.11 The Licensing Authority will take appropriate and proportionate action
where there are serious concerns in relation to the safe guarding of
children in connection with a licensed premises, which may include
consideration of applying for a review of the licence where there
significant evidence of undermining the licensing objective of the
protection of children from harm.
10.12 The sale of alcohol to a minor is a criminal offence and Trading
Standards will conduct appropriate covert test purchasing exercises
and will take account of any complaints and intelligence received.
The Act permits the use of children under the age of 18 to undertake
test purchases.
10.13 Where there are age restrictions imposed by the Act on the licensable
activities in respect of children below a certain age, then the licensee
will be required to demonstrate that they have age verification
systems in place. This Licensing Authority believes that that
Licensed Premises should have age verification policies to require
individuals who appear to the person serving alcohol to be under the
age of 25 years of age to produce on request appropriate
identification. This is commonly referred to as the “Challenge 25
Scheme”. The rationale for this is because it can often be difficult to
judge how old teenagers are and “Challenge 25 age verification
system” would provide licensed premises with margin of error to
prevent underage sales. Thus Challenge 25 can help to empower
staff to challenge customers where there is doubt about their age. In
turn this is likely to reduce the risk of the owner, or the seller of the
alcohol, committing an offence.
10.14 Training in age verification systems should be given to all persons
who might be in a position to serve or refuse the sale of alcohol to
children. The training should include a basic understanding of the
law, seeking proof of age, verifying the authenticity of proof of age
cards and handling and recording refusals.
10.15 Where proportionate and appropriate, and its discretion is engaged,
the Licensing Authority will impose the following standard conditions
in relation to age verification systems:
1) All tills shall automatically prompt staff to ask for age verification
identification when presented with an alcohol sale.
2) A Challenge 25 proof of age scheme shall be operated at the
premises where the only acceptable forms of identification are
recognised photographic identification cards, such as a driving
licence, passport or proof of age card with the PASS Hologram.
3) A record shall be kept detailing all refused sales of alcohol. The
record should include the date and time of the refused sale and
the name of the member of staff who refused the sale. The record

Page 189

shall be available for inspection at the premises by the police or
an authorised officer at all times whilst the premises is open.
4) All staff whose duties include the serving of alcohol must be
trained in the requirements of this scheme including the
importance of recording any refusals.

11

Access to Cinemas

11.1 Films cover a vast range of subjects, some of which deal with adult
themes and / or contain, for example, scenes of horror or violence
that may be considered unsuitable for children within certain age
groups.
11.2 In order to prevent children from seeing such films, the Licensing
Authority will impose conditions requiring licensees to restrict children
from viewing age restricted films classified according to the
recommendations of the BBFC, or the Council itself. The Licensing
Authority will not consider reclassifying any films already classified by
the BBFC. The Council will charge for classifying films, on a full cost
recovery basis.
11.3 The Licensing Authority will classify films itself where it is satisfied
that no BBFC classification exists. It will inform relevant licensee and
require such classifications to be clearly contained in any advertising
or informative material relating to such films.

12

Children and Public Entertainment

12.1 Many children go to see and / or take part in an entertainment
arranged
substantially for them. Consequently additional
arrangements are required to safeguard them at such times.
12.2 Where 10.1 applies, and its discretion is engaged, the Licensing
Authority will require the following arrangements in order to control
their access and egress and to assure their safety:•

An adult member of staff to be stationed in the vicinity of
each of the exits from any level, subject to there being a
minimum of one member of staff per 50 children or part
thereof,

•

No child unless accompanied by an adult to be permitted in
the front row of any balcony,

•

No standing to be permitted in any part of the auditorium
during the Performance.

12.3 Where children are taking part in any regulated entertainment, and its

Page 190

discretion is engaged, the Licensing Authority will require the
operating schedule to clearly state the steps taken to assure their
safety.
12.4 Where its authority is engaged, the Licensing Authority will consider
attaching conditions to licences and permissions to prevent harm to
children, and these may include conditions drawn from the Model
Pool of. Conditions that can be found in the Secretary of State’s
Guidance.

Page 191

Guidance Issued by the Home Office under Section 182 of the
Licensing Act 2003
Updated April 2018

Protection of children from harm
2.22

The protection of children from harm includes the protection of children
from moral, psychological and physical harm. This includes not only
protecting children from the harms associated directly with alcohol
consumption but also wider harms such as exposure to strong language
and sexual expletives (for example, in the context of exposure to certain
films or adult entertainment). Licensing authorities must also consider the
need to protect children from sexual exploitation when undertaking
licensing functions.

2.23

The Government believes that it is completely unacceptable to sell
alcohol to children. Conditions relating to the access of children where
alcohol is sold and which are appropriate to protect them from harm
should be carefully considered. Moreover, conditions restricting the
access of children to premises should be strongly considered in
circumstances where:
• adult entertainment is provided;
• a member or members of the current management have been
convicted for serving alcohol to minors or with a reputation for
allowing underage drinking (other than in the context of the
exemption in the 2003 Act relating to 16 and 17 year olds
consuming beer, wine and cider when accompanied by an adult
during a table meal);
• it is known that unaccompanied children have been allowed
access;
• there is a known association with drug taking or dealing; or
• in some cases, the premises are used exclusively or primarily for
the sale of alcohol for consumption on the premises.

2.24

It is also possible that activities, such as adult entertainment, may take
place at certain times on premises but not at other times. For example,
premises may operate as a café bar during the day providing meals for
families but also provide entertainment with a sexual content after 8.00pm.
It is not possible to give an exhaustive list of what amounts to
entertainment or services of an adult or sexual nature. Applicants,
responsible authorities and licensing authorities will need to consider this
point carefully. This would broadly include topless bar staff, striptease, lap, table- or pole-dancing, performances involving feigned violence or
horrific incidents, feigned or actual sexual acts or fetishism, or
entertainment involving strong and offensive language.

Page 192

2.25

Applicants must be clear in their operating schedules about the activities
and times at which the events would take place to help determine when it
is not appropriate for children to enter the premises. Consideration
should also be given to the proximity of premises to schools and youth
clubs so that applicants take appropriate steps to ensure that advertising
relating to their premises, or relating to events at their premises, is not
displayed at a time when children are likely to be near the premises.

2.26

Licensing authorities and responsible authorities should expect
applicants, when preparing an operating schedule or club operating
schedule, to set out the steps to be taken to protect children from harm
when on the premises.

2.27

Conditions, where they are appropriate, should reflect the licensable
activities taking place on the premises. In addition to the mandatory
condition regarding age verification, other conditions relating to the
protection of children from harm can include:
• restrictions on the hours when children may be present;
• restrictions or exclusions on the presence of children under certain
ages when particular specified activities are taking place;
• restrictions on the parts of the premises to which children may have
access;
• age restrictions (below 18);
• restrictions or exclusions when certain activities are taking place;
• requirements for an accompanying adult (including for example, a
combination of requirements which provide that children under a
particular age must be accompanied by an adult); and full
exclusion of people under 18 from the premises when any
licensable activities are taking place.

2.28

Please see also Chapter 10 for details about the Licensing Act 2003
(Mandatory Licensing Conditions) Order 2010.

Page 193

2.29

Licensing authorities should give considerable weight to representations
about child protection matters. In addition to the responsible authority
whose functions relate directly to child protection, the Director of Public
Health may also have access to relevant evidence to inform such
representations. These representations may include, amongst other
things, the use of health data about the harms that alcohol can cause to
underage drinkers. Where a responsible authority, or other person,
presents evidence to the licensing authority linking specific premises with
harms to children (such as ambulance data or emergency department
attendances by persons under 18 years old with alcohol-related illnesses
or injuries) this evidence should be considered, and the licensing
authority should also consider what action is appropriate to ensure this
licensing objective is effectively enforced. In relation to applications for
the grant of a licence in areas where evidence is presented on high
levels of alcohol-related harms in persons aged under 18, it is
recommended that the licensing authority considers what conditions may
be appropriate to ensure that this objective is promoted effectively.

2.30

The 2003 Act provides that, where a premises licence or club premises
certificate authorises the exhibition of a film, it must include a condition
requiring the admission of children to films to be restricted in accordance
with recommendations given either by a body designated under section 4
of the Video Recordings Act 1984 specified in the licence (the British
Board of Film Classification is currently the only body which has been so
designated) or by the licensing authority itself. Further details are given in
Chapter 10.

2.31

Theatres may present a range of diverse activities and entertainment
including, for example, variety shows incorporating adult entertainment. It
is appropriate in these cases for a licensing authority to consider
restricting the admission of children in such circumstances.
Entertainments may also be presented at theatres specifically for children.
It will be appropriate to consider whether a condition should be attached to
a premises licence or club premises certificate which requires the
presence of a sufficient number of adult staff on the premises to ensure
the wellbeing of the children during any emergency.

Page 194

Offences relating to the sale and supply of alcohol to children
2.32

Licensing authorities are expected to maintain close contact with the
police, young offenders’ teams and trading standards officers (who can
carry out test purchases under section 154 of the 2003 Act) about the
extent of unlawful sales and consumption of alcohol by minors and to be
involved in the development of any strategies to control or prevent these
unlawful activities and to pursue prosecutions. Licensing authorities,
alongside the police, are prosecuting authorities for the purposes of
these offences, except for the offences under section 147A (persistently
selling alcohol to children). Where, as a matter of policy, warnings are
given to retailers prior to any decision to prosecute in respect of an
offence, it is important that each of the enforcement arms should be
aware of the warnings each of them has given.

Table of relevant
offences under the
2003 Act Section

Offence

Prosecuting Authority

Section 145

Unaccompanied children
prohibited from certain
premises

Police and/or Licensing
Authority

Section 146

Sale of alcohol to children

Police, Licensing Authority
and/or Local Weights and
Measures Authority

Section 147

Allowing the sale of alcohol to
children

Police, Licensing Authority
and/or Local Weights and
Measures Authority

Section 147A

Persistently selling alcohol to
children

Police and/or Local Weights
and Measures Authority

Section 148

Sale of liqueur confectionery to
children under 16. (This offence
will be repealed by the
Deregulation Act 2015 on 26
May 2015).

Police and/or Licensing
Authority

Section 149

Purchase of alcohol by or on
behalf of children

Police and/or Licensing
Authority

Section 150

Consumption of alcohol by
children

Police and/or Licensing
Authority

Section 151

Delivering alcohol to children

Police and/or Licensing
Authority

Section 152

Sending a child to obtain
alcohol

Police and/or Licensing
Authority

Section 153

Prohibition of unsupervised
sales by children

Police and/or Licensing
Authority

Page 195

Appendix 13

Page 196

Planning
An application for a Premises Licence can be made in respect of a premises
even where the premises does not have relevant Planning Permission.
That application has to be considered and Members can only refuse the
application where the application itself does not promote one of more of the
Licensing Objectives. Members cannot refuse just because there is no
planning permission. Where a Premises Licence is granted and which
exceeds what is allowed by the Planning Permission and that Premises then
operates in breach of planning then the operator would be liable to
enforcement by Planning.

Page 197

Appendix 14

Page 198

Licensing Policy Relating to Hours of Trading
All applications have to be considered on their own merits.
The Council has however adopted a set of framework hours as follows:
•
•
•

Monday to Thursday, from 06:00 hrs to 23:30 hrs
Friday and Saturday, from 06:00 hrs to 00:00 hrs (midnight)
Sunday, from 06:00 hrs to 22:30 hrs

(see 14.8 of the Licensing Policy)
In considering the applicability of frame work hours to any particular
application regard should be had to the following
• Location
• Proposed hours of regulated activities, and the proposed hours the
premises are open to the public
• The adequacy of the applicant’s proposals to deal with issues of crime
and disorder and public nuisance
• Previous history
• Access to public transport
• Proximity to other licensed premises, and their hours
(See 14.9 of the licensing policy)
Subject to any representations to the contrary in individual cases the following
premises are not generally considered to contribute to late night anti-social
behaviour and will therefore generally have greater freedom
• Theatres
• Cinemas
• Premises with club premises certificates

Page 199

Appendix 15

Page 200

Mohshin Ali
From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:
Attachments:

Follow Up Flag:
Flag Status:

Tom Lewis
13 May 2022 17:00
Licensing
Studio Spaces, 110 Pennington Street - Representation against Variation
Application
Penningtonst110.StudioSpaces.Rep.NudityCond.May.22.docx;
PenningtonSt110.PLH.pdf; PenningtonSt110.DPS.Redacted.pdf
Follow up
Completed

Dear Licensing,
Please find attached letter of representation, and attached letters referred to in the representation.
Kind regards

Tom Lewis MCIEH CEnvH
Team Leader
Licensing and Safety Team
Environmental Health and Trading Standards
Place Directorate
2nd Floor, Mulberry Place
5 Clove Crescent
London
E14 2BG
www.towerhamlets.gov.uk
Follow us on:
Facebook | Twitter | LinkedIn | Instagram

Page
201
1

Studio Spaces Limited
19-20 Bourne Court
Southend Road
Essex
IG8 8HD

PLACE Directorate
Environmental Health and Trading
Standards
Head of Service David Tolley
Tel:
Fax:
020 7364 6901
Enquiries to: Tom Lewis
Email:
www.towerhamlets.gov.uk

Date: 9th May 2022
Reference: M/148556

Dear Sir/Madam,
Re: Variation Application: Studio Spaces Ltd, Unit 2, 110 Pennington Street, London
Licensing Act 2003
The Licensing Authority (acting a Responsible Authority) is making a representation against the
above application.
The variation seeks to remove Condition 1 of Annex 2, which is “No nudity or semi nudity
permitted”.
On 11th March 2022 the Licensing Authority wrote to the Licence holder in lieu of an alleged sexual
assault reported at the venue. This allegedly occurred during an event promoted by Torture
Garden. The reason for the letter is because event promoters such as Torture Garden run what
are often referred to as “KINK” nights where patrons are permitted to engaged in consensual
sexual activities. The letter expressed concerns that the Licensing Authority had that this event
may have breached the above condition they wish now to remove. I refer her to paragraph 2 of
the attached letters dated 11th March 2022.
It is this alleged sexual assault that concerns the Licensing Authority (Acting as a Responsible
Authority) and permitting nudity within this premises may on a balance of probabilities and previous
allegations undermine the licensing objectives of Public Safety, and Prevention of Crime and
Disorder.
I therefore object to the granting of the application. It may, however, be prudent for members to
grant this application if the applicant was willing to amend the conditions to the below:


No nudity by either performance or customer shall be permitted on the premises. Nudity
shall be defined by paragraph 2A(14) of Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act
Page 202
1982.

Yours sincerely,

Tom Lewis
Team Leader – Licensing and Safety Team
Environmental Health and Trading Standards

Page 203

Page 204

Page 205

Page 206

Page 207

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 16

Page 209

List of supporters
No
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13

Name

No Name

Ana Almeida
Alex Atkinson
Anis Azman

52 Deepanshu Sharma
53 Danny Wilcox-Tobin
54 Eloi Guix

Avalon behan
Adam Booth
Alastair James Bromwich
Alberto Brunello
Asim Butt
Alysha Christal
Aimee Ellenor
Alexandra Eno
Anastasiia Fedorova
Michael Filani

55
56
57
58
59
60
61
62
63
64

Erik Hanson
Emma House
Emmalene Murphy
Erin Rimmer
Lino Velev
Felix Howard
Francesca Kentish
Federico Mangione
Faith McAllister
Francisco Siegrist

14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

Anna Gloria Flores
Anna Gnap
Andrew Gwynne
Anna Maria Jerasi
Alicia Kesi Juniper
Andrew Lawson
Amanda Maisonnave
Angelo Mastropirro
Amber Mitchell Page
Angel Samuel Perez
Adam Pickering
Aleksandra Preradovic
Amanda Rincon
Alex Ryan

65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73
74
75
76
77
78

Farima Toosi
George Fallon
Giles Fouhy
Gerardo Hernandez
Gianina Mesina
Gemma Middleditch
Gavin Nicholls
Gurjit Samra
Hannah Bartick
Hugh Knowlman
Hayley Mclachlan
Helena Piasecka
Howard Rees
Ian Marshall

28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51

Anahita Shamsaei
Adam Wadey
Alison Wren
Alexander Zawadzki
Andrés Jesús Q Terrero
Bethan Baldry
Ben Colkett
Benjamim Costa
Berto E. Clapmutt
Bob McKay
Bryan Roberts
Ben Williams
Charles Bailey,
Cody Cochrane
Corvin Roman
Charlotte Spitzner
Craig Stevenson
Charlotte Walsh
David Gaerty
Danielle Kalinovskis
Daboo Masters
David McWhirter

79
80
81
82
83
84
85
86
87
88
89
90
91
92
93
94
95
96
97
98
99
100

Inès Sourdeau
Jordan Baikie
James Bannister
Jo-Ann Barrie
Jesse Coleman
Jeniffer Crouch
Jimmy Higgs
john kissane
James Lancley
Joseph Lockley
James O'Brien
John O’Mara
Jon Skoyles
John F Stewart
Justine Trickett
Kizzan Amer
Kristine Bumeistere
Kelly de Gersigny
Kaly Petrova
Kate Roberts
Katrina Schmidt
Katja Stein

Daniel Metz

101 Khristina Stolyarova

David Shamie

102 Karl Verboten

Page 210

List of supporters
No Name

154 Pollyanna Coupland

103 Kyle Woolley
104 Leon Abrahamson
105 Lisa Bostock

155 Phil Hollis
156 Pietro Lazzarotto
157 Poppy Lepora

106
107
108
109
110
111
112
113
114
115

Lawrence Bowles
Louise Cottin
Lilach Davis
Lara Egendal
Toya Erskine
Lucy Freeman
Louis Glanville
Lily Greenwood
Lorraine Kinsella
Lizzie Lerwill

158
159
160
161
162
163
164
165
166
167

Peace Williams-Ojomu
Romane Donat
Richard Godden
Robin Green
Rhys James
Ryan McClure
Riccardo Oi
Roi Otero
Robin Ramage
Rita Ribas

116
117
118
119
120
121
122
123
124
125
126
127
128
129

Loic Lesouef
Luke Matthews
Louise Ogilvie
Laura Russell
Lynsey Smyth
Elizabeth Tulitt
Lithemba Velleman
Layla Kosima Weiss
Molly-May Blatchly-Lewis
Michael Christov
Maria Franaszczuk
Mattia FM Gerli
Michael Harris
Magdalena Konewka

168
169
170
171
172
173
174
175
176
177
178
179
180
181

Romy Welch
Sylwia Bajek
Sonia Banaszczyk
Shaun Chamberlin
Sau Cho
Sadie Danger
Sam Gledhill
Sam Hardy
Saul Jones
Samuel Joshuas
Sofi Lee- Henson
Suria Leet
Silviu Paraoan
Salem Rizk

130
131
132
133
134
135
136
137
138
139
140
141
142
143
144
145
146
147
148
149
150
151

Melanie Lancley
Max Lawrence
Mike MacCana
Mark Maughan
Michael O'Sullivan
Marta Pasikowska
Marlena Segar
Marian Smith
Mariusz Szymanski
Megan Thomas
Michael Williams
Nitesh Srivastava
Nadia Ali
Natasha Bloor
Noemi Kovacs
Nitish Kumar
Nick Oliver
Nathan Wood
Olivia Foster
Oliver Knight
Oleksandr Pankiv
Oliver Stevens

182
183
184
185
186
187
188
189
190
191
192
193
194
195
196
197
198
199
200
201
202
203

Samuel Robins
Sophie Spitters
Suzanne Templeton-Wright
Sam Turley
Sylvana Vanderkaa
Steph Walker
Samantha Wolf
Timo Behnke
Travis Crowther
Tim Earle
Mohamd Fawaz
Thomas Leaper
Thulasi Naveenan
Vincent Harting
Vikki Hirst
Vian Rastin
Valeria Staneva
Victoria Stedman
Vit Trojanovsky
Zoe Ophelia Ellis
Zbigniew Kotkiewicz
Zacharias Sifakis

152 Ollie Wilson
153 Poppy Cholerton

Page 211

This page is intentionally left blank

Supporter no. 1

Page 213

Supporter no. 2

Page 214

Supporter no. 3

Page 215

Supporter no. 4

Page 216

Supporter no. 5

Page 217

Supporter no. 6

Page 218

Supporter no. 7

Page 219

Supporter no. 8

Page 220

Supporter no. 9

Page 221

Supporter no. 10

Page 222

Supporter no. 11

Page 223

Supporter no. 12

Page 224

Supporter no. 13

Page 225

Supporter no. 14

Page 226

Supporter no. 15

Page 227

Supporter no. 16

Page 228

Supporter no. 17

Page 229

Supporter no. 18

Page 230

Supporter no. 19

Page 231

Supporter no. 20

Page 232

Supporter no. 21

Page 233

Supporter no. 22

Page 234

Supporter no. 23

Page 235

Supporter no. 24

Page 236

Supporter no. 25

Page 237

Supporter no. 26

Page 238

Supporter no. 27

Page 239

Supporter no. 28

Page 240

Supporter no. 29

Page 241

Supporter no. 30

Page 242

Supporter no. 31

Page 243

Supporter no. 32

Page 244

Supporter no. 33

Page 245

Supporter no. 34

Page 246

Supporter no. 35

Page 247

Supporter no. 36

Page 248

Supporter no. 37

Page 249

Supporter no. 38

Page 250

Supporter no. 39

Page 251

Supporter no. 40

Page 252

Supporter no. 41

Page 253

Supporter no. 42

Page 254

Supporter no. 43

Page 255

Supporter no. 44

Page 256

Supporter no. 45

Page 257

Supporter no. 46

Page 258

Supporter no. 47

Page 259

Supporter no. 48

Page 260

Supporter no. 49

Page 261

Supporter no. 50

Page 262

Supporter no. 51

Page 263

Supporter no. 52

Page 264

Supporter no. 53

Page 265

Supporter no. 54

Page 266

Supporter no. 55

Page 267

Supporter no. 56

Page 268

Supporter no. 57

Page 269

Supporter no. 58

Page 270

Supporter no. 59

Page 271

Supporter no. 60

Page 272

Supporter no. 61

Page 273

Supporter no. 62

Page 274

Supporter no. 63

Page 275

Supporter no. 64

Page 276

Supporter no. 65

Page 277

Supporter no. 66

Page 278

Supporter no. 67

Page 279

Supporter no. 68

Page 280

Supporter no. 69

Page 281

Supporter no. 70

Page 282

Supporter no. 71

Page 283

Supporter no. 72

Page 284

Supporter no. 73

Page 285

Supporter no. 74

Page 286

Supporter no. 75

Page 287

Supporter no. 76

Page 288

Supporter no. 77

Page 289

Supporter no. 78

Page 290

Supporter no. 79

Page 291

Supporter no. 80

Page 292

Supporter no. 81

Page 293

Supporter no. 82

Page 294

Supporter no. 83

Page 295

Supporter no. 84

Page 296

Supporter no. 85

Page 297

Supporter no. 86

Page 298

Supporter no. 87

Page 299

Supporter no. 88

Page 300

Supporter no. 89

Page 301

Supporter no. 90

Page 302

Supporter no. 91

Page 303

Supporter no. 92

Page 304

Supporter no. 93

Page 305

Supporter no. 94

Page 306

Supporter no. 95

Page 307

Supporter no. 96

Page 308

Supporter no. 97

Page 309

Supporter no. 98

Page 310

Supporter no. 99

Page 311

Supporter no. 100

Page 312

Supporter no. 101

Page 313

Supporter no. 102

Page 314

Supporter no. 103

Page 315

Supporter no. 104

Page 316

Supporter no. 105

Page 317

Supporter no. 106

Page 318

Supporter no. 107

Page 319

Supporter no. 108

Page 320

Supporter no. 109

Page 321

Supporter no. 110

Page 322

Supporter no. 111

Page 323

Supporter no. 112

Page 324

Supporter no. 113

Page 325

Supporter no. 114

Page 326

Supporter no. 115

Page 327

Supporter no. 116

Page 328

Supporter no. 117

Page 329

Supporter no. 118

Page 330

Supporter no. 119

Page 331

Supporter no. 120

Page 332

Supporter no. 121

Page 333

Supporter no. 122

Page 334

Supporter no. 123

Page 335

Supporter no. 124

Page 336

Supporter no. 125

Page 337

Supporter no. 126

Page 338

Supporter no. 127

Page 339

Supporter no. 128

Page 340

Supporter no. 129

Page 341

Supporter no. 130

Page 342

Supporter no. 131

Page 343

Supporter no. 132

Page 344

Supporter no. 133

Page 345

Supporter no. 134

Page 346

Supporter no. 135

Page 347

Supporter no. 136

Page 348

Supporter no. 137

Page 349

Supporter no. 138

Page 350

Supporter no. 139

Page 351

Supporter no. 140

Page 352

Supporter no. 141

Page 353

Supporter no. 142

Page 354

Supporter no. 143

Page 355

Supporter no. 144

Page 356

Supporter no. 145

Page 357

Supporter no. 146

Page 358

Supporter no. 147

Page 359

Supporter no. 148

Page 360

Supporter no. 149

Page 361

Supporter no. 150

Page 362

Supporter no. 151

Page 363

Supporter no. 152

Page 364

Supporter no. 153

Page 365

Supporter no. 154

Page 366

Supporter no. 155

Page 367

Supporter no. 156

Page 368

Supporter no. 157

Page 369

Supporter no. 158

Page 370

Supporter no. 159

Page 371

Supporter no. 160

Page 372

Supporter no. 161

Page 373

Supporter no. 162

Page 374

Supporter no. 163

Page 375

Supporter no. 164

Page 376

Supporter no. 165

Page 377

Supporter no. 166

Page 378

Supporter no. 167

Page 379

Supporter no. 168

Page 380

Supporter no. 169

Page 381

Supporter no. 170

Page 382

Supporter no. 171

Page 383

Supporter no. 172

Page 384

Supporter no. 173

Page 385

Supporter no. 174

Page 386

Supporter no. 175

Page 387

Supporter no. 176

Page 388

Supporter no. 177

Page 389

Supporter no. 178

Page 390

Supporter no. 179

Page 391

Supporter no. 180

Page 392

Supporter no. 181

Page 393

Supporter no. 182

Page 394

Supporter no. 183

Page 395

Supporter no. 184

Page 396

Supporter no. 185

Page 397

Supporter no. 186

Page 398

Supporter no. 187

Page 399

Supporter no. 188

Page 400

Supporter no. 189

Page 401

Supporter no. 190

Page 402

Supporter no. 191

Page 403

Supporter no. 192

Page 404

Supporter no. 193

Page 405

Supporter no. 194

Page 406

Supporter no. 195

Page 407

Supporter no. 196

Page 408

Supporter no. 197

Page 409

Supporter no. 198

Page 410

Supporter no. 199

Page 411

Supporter no. 200

Page 412

Supporter no. 201

Page 413

Supporter no. 202

Page 414

Supporter no. 203

Page 415

This page is intentionally left blank

